# UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

## Title

Understanding Ecosystem Services Along Urban Streams Using Citizen Science, Social Media Data, and Expert Input

**Permalink** https://escholarship.org/uc/item/3v9462px

Author Sanchez, Yareli

**Publication Date** 2022

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

## UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

Understanding Ecosystem Services along Urban Streams

Using Citizen Science, Social Media Data, and Expert Input

A dissertation submitted in partial satisfaction of the

requirements for the degree Doctor of Environmental Science

and Engineering

by

Yareli Sanchez

2022

© Copyright by

Yareli Sanchez

2022

### ABSTRACT OF THE DISSERTATION

# Understanding Ecosystem Services Along Urban Streams Using Citizen Science, Social Media Data, and Expert Input

by

Yareli Sanchez

Doctor of Environmental Science and Engineering University of California, Los Angeles, 2022 Professor Richard F. Ambrose, Chair

About 75% of the streams and rivers in Southern California are biologically degraded. Widespread development and flood control have created an urban river condition known for geomorphic simplification, reduced societal value of stream systems, and ecological simplification. The global degradation of streams has resulted in a freshwater biodiversity crisis that, by many measures, eclipses terrestrial biodiversity loss. However, while responsible for many pressures to ecosystems, cities can enhance aspects of ecosystem health and aid in reducing biodiversity loss. Cities can also host the ecosystem services, however degraded, that enhance community cohesion, resilience, and well-being. A growing urban river revitalization movement in the region, in various states of implementation, offers an opportunity to critically examine the opportunities and challenges that are presented by our local urban rivers. In this dissertation, I identify cultural ecosystem services (CES) along the Los Angeles River using FlickR data and examine the relationship between CES and site attributes using Maxent, a presence-only species distribution model. I find that I am able to identify 5 typologies of CES using FlickR text and photos, that two reaches of the Los Angeles River, a completely channelized and a semi-natural, soft-bottom reach of the River, host the highest CES intensity, and that relative suitability of CES occurrence is related to the presence of historical bridges, access, and median flow. Then, using a more traditional application of Maxent, I examine avian species habitat relationships at the catchment scale for species found along urban and seminatural streams in Southern California. I find that I am not able to identify predictors of habitat suitability for generalist species at the catchment scale, in part due to contradicting model evaluation metrics, and describe limitations with the use of citizen science data, catchment scale analysis, model valuation, and the application of Maxent to highly urban settings. Finally, following statewide investments in green infrastructure projects that enhance water quality and water capture and recognizing the opportunity to support urban biodiversity in distributed multibenefit projects, I make use of the Delphi method and the expertise of biodiversity experts to identify habitat goals for green infrastructure projects and associated metrics. I describe the Delphi process and the difficulty in reaching consensus due to disagreement in the feasibility and likelihood of success for several goals and objectives. I describe a preliminary framework to capture the habitat value of green infrastructure projects and compare it to established biodiversity frameworks.

The dissertation of Yareli Sanchez is approved.

Thomas Welch Gillespie

Elizabeth C. Koslov

Victoria Kelly Turner

Richard F. Ambrose, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

2022

## Dedication

I dedicate this work to my loving family that made many sacrifices to support me in this endeavor. I specially dedicate this to my supportive husband that helped in countless ways, particularly when I needed that last push across the finish line.

# Table of Contents

1	INTI	RODUCTION	_1
	1.1	URBAN ECOLOGY AND THE CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES WITHIN CITIES	6
	1.2	FOCUSING ON SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA	_12
	1.3	ORGANIZATION OF THIS DISSERTATION	_14
	1.4	References	_19
2	UND	ERSTANDING CULTURAL ECOSYSTEM SERVICES ALONG A HEAVILY URBANIZED	
R	IVER US	SING SOCIAL MEDIA DATA AND EXPERT INTERVIEWS	_34
	2.1	INTRODUCTION	_34
	2.2	Methods	_39
	2.2.1	Background and Site Context	_39
	2.2.2	Surveying Recreational Uses through Focus Group and Expert Interview	_42
	2.2.3	Assessing CES Through Social Media	_46
	2.2.4	Maxent Modeling	_49
	2.3	Results	_56
	2.3.1	Using FlickR and Group Interview to Understand and Identify Activities Along the River	_56
	2.3.2	Agreement between Data Sources	_58
	2.3.3	Social Media Text and Photo Analysis	_59
	2.3.4	Maxent Model	_66
	2.4	DISCUSSION	_69
	2.4.1	Urban Rivers Supply Many CES	_69
	2.5	APPENDIX A	_80
	2.5.1	Focus Group Discussion Questions	_80
	2.5.2	Individual Response Worksheet	_81
	2.5.3	Detailed Focus Group Results	_85
	2.6	References	103

### **3** UNDERSTANDING THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SPECIES PRESENCE AND SITE

3.1	INTRODUCTION	119
3.2	Methods	124
3.2.1	Biodiversity Data	124
3.2.2	Maxent Species Distribution Modeling	127
3.3	RESULTS	132
3.4	DISCUSSION	137
3.4.1	Can Maxent be Applied to Urban Areas?	144
3.4.2	Maxent Use: Lessons Learned	146
3.4.3	Recommendations	151
3.5 4 BET A DELPH	REFERENCES	153 : USING N
3.5 4 BET A DELPH INFRAST	REFERENCES TER CAPTURING THE BIODIVERSITY BENEFITS OF GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE I PROCESS AND EXPERT INSIGHT TO IDENTIFY HABITAT METRICS FOR GREE RUCTURE IN URBAN AREAS	153 : USING N 171
3.5 4 BET A DELPH INFRAST 4.1	REFERENCES	153 : USING N171171
3.5 4 BET A DELPH INFRAST 4.1 1.1	REFERENCES	153 : USING N171171176
3.5 4 BET A DELPH INFRAST 4.1 1.1 1.2	REFERENCES         TER CAPTURING THE BIODIVERSITY BENEFITS OF GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE         I PROCESS AND EXPERT INSIGHT TO IDENTIFY HABITAT METRICS FOR GREE         RUCTURE IN URBAN AREAS         INTRODUCTION         METHODS         RESULTS	153 : USING N171171176182
3.5 <b>4 BET</b> <b>A DELPH</b> <b>INFRAST</b> 4.1 1.1 1.2 1.3	REFERENCES	153 : USING N171171176182195
3.5 <b>4 BET</b> <b>A DELPH</b> <b>INFRAST</b> 4.1 1.1 1.2 1.3 <i>1.3.1</i>	REFERENCES	153 : USING N171171176182195195
3.5 <b>4 BET</b> <b>A DELPH</b> <b>INFRAST</b> 4.1 1.1 1.2 1.3 <i>1.3.1</i> <i>1.3.2</i>	REFERENCES         TER CAPTURING THE BIODIVERSITY BENEFITS OF GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE         I PROCESS AND EXPERT INSIGHT TO IDENTIFY HABITAT METRICS FOR GREE         RUCTURE IN URBAN AREAS         INTRODUCTION         METHODS         RESULTS         DISCUSSION         The Delphi Process for Identifying Goals and Objectives for Green Infrastructure         A Review of the Outcome from the Delphi: Goals and Objectives for Green Infrastructure	153 : USING N171171176182195195196
3.5 <b>4 BET</b> <b>A DELPH</b> <b>INFRAST</b> 4.1 1.1 1.2 1.3 <i>1.3.1</i> <i>1.3.2</i> <i>1.3.3</i>	REFERENCES         TER CAPTURING THE BIODIVERSITY BENEFITS OF GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE         I PROCESS AND EXPERT INSIGHT TO IDENTIFY HABITAT METRICS FOR GREE         RUCTURE IN URBAN AREAS         INTRODUCTION         METHODS         RESULTS         DISCUSSION         The Delphi Process for Identifying Goals and Objectives for Green Infrastructure         A Review of the Outcome from the Delphi: Goals and Objectives for Green Infrastructure         Comparison to Other Biodiversity Efforts	153 : USING N171171176182195195196209
3.5 <b>4 BET</b> <b>A DELPH</b> <b>INFRAST</b> 4.1 1.1 1.2 1.3 <i>1.3.1</i> <i>1.3.2</i> <i>1.3.2</i> 1.3.3 1.4	REFERENCES	153 : USING N171171176182195195196209215

5.1 REFERENCES \_\_\_\_\_\_ 244

# List of Figures

Figure 1 Photograph of features that typify the unique conditions of each reach of the Los	
Angeles River	_ 40
Figure 2 Reaches of the Los Angeles River	_ 41
Figure 3 . Word cloud of the top 100 words found in captions and photo descriptions of the R	iver
on FlickR and Instagram.	_ 59
Figure 4. A Markov Chain model based visualization of the 20 most popular trigrams found in	n
social media posts	61
Figure 5 Graph depicting the categorization of the top 20 words found on FlickR for each read	ch
of the River for the years 2008 to 2018.	_ 63
Figure 6 Graph depicting the categorization of all images posted about the Los Angeles Rive	r
for the years 2008 to 2018.	63
Figure 7 Categorized locations of posted photos within the River buffer for each reach of the	
River	_ 64
Figure 8 K-means Cluster analysis of each River reach based on social media content.	_ 65
Figure 9 K-means cluster analysis of average environmental conditions for each reach of the	
River	_ 66
Figure 10 Relative occurrence map for the Los Angeles River	_ 67
Figure 11 Graph of variables important to predicting recreational occurrence.	_ 68
Figure 12 All observations of black-necked stilt, black phoebe, cinnamon teal, and yellow	
warbler within the riparian zone.	133

Figure 13 Predicted/expected curves from the continuous Boyce Index for each species and	
species group modeled in Maxent using a target background.	137
Figure 14 Box plot of survey two rankings for each goal.	185
Figure 15 Hierarchical cluster analysis dendogram of the goals surveyed during the third surv	'ey
round	189
Figure 16 Box plot of expert scores for green infrastructure goal from survey 3.	189
Figure 17 Dendrogram of hierarchical clustering of expert scores following third survey	191

## List of Tables

Table 1 Reach Descriptions	41
Table 2. Predictors used in Maxent modelling iterations.	52
Table 3. CES activities that occur along the Los Angeles River	57
Table 4. Top ten recurring topics discussed by recreational experts during the group interview	/ 58
Table 5 Top two indicators for each activity that occurs along the Los Angeles River accordin	ıg
to recreational experts.	58
Table 6 Top ten most frequently used words in Instagram and FlickR Posts	60
Table 7 Summary of Maxent model performance.	66
Table 8. Indicators and targets for wildlife viewing uses in soft bottom and cement bottom	
reaches.	85
Table 9. Indicators and targets for path uses.	87
Table 10. Indicators and targets for aesthetic uses.	88
Table 11. Indicators and targets for community uses.	90
Table 12. Indicators and targets for wading use.	91
Table 13. Indicators and targets for the kayaking/boating use.	93
Table 14. Indicators and targets for fishing uses.	97
Table 15. Indicators and targets for horseback riding.	101
Table 16 Brief description of species and general habitat requirements for selected species.	127
Table 17 Predictors used in Maxent models.	131
Table 18 Summary of exploratory Maxent model runs	132

Table 19 Summary of model performance for each species and species groups using a random	m
background or target background for model runs.	135
Table 20. Objectives of each survey round, requested response from experts, and response ra	ite
for each survey round.	180
Table 21 Most common themes across expert responses.	183
Table 22. Habitat goals identified by experts during brainstorming survey	183
Table 23. Summary of changes to goals following input from experts in the second survey	
round.	187
Table 24 Category of rationale for goal ranking provided by experts	192
Table 25 Categorization of green infrastructure objectives.	194
Table 26 Biodiversity framework for green infrastructure projects organized by broad goals,	
specific objectives, and potential metrics.	197
Table 27 Efforts with themes or objectives that overlap with the green infrastructure biodiver	rsity
framework.	213

### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the community of people that supported me in completing this work. I thank my colleagues at Council for Watershed Health. Specifically, I would like to thank Eileen Alduenda for offering guidance and finding the resources to support my work, Jason Casanova for offering technical support in geospatial analysis, Elise Eberhard for contributing her technical expertise, putting together geospatial datasets, and developing outreach materials, and Drew Ready for connecting me to biodiversity experts. I would also like to thank Zhiyuan Yao and the Data Science Center for helping me troubleshoot issues with QGIS, R, and Python. I would also like to thank Yadir Peralta, Julie Ho and Jacob Birsen for their painstaking work reviewing and combing through social media data. The focus group work presented in this dissertation is also part of the Los Angeles River Flow Study.

### Vitae

# Yareli Sanchez

### Education

•	University of California, Los Angeles	In progress
•	San Diego State University	2013
•	Master of Science, Ecology California State University, Fullerton Bachelors of Science, Biology	2009

#### Select Research

• Impact of Inundation on Salt Marsh Plant Productivity and Stress, UCLA July'14-Dec '15

Graduate research. Research aimed at facilitating monitoring and restoration of salt marsh ecosystems by linking the early eco-physiological stress response to increased flooding by salt marsh plants to specific reflectance regions. Developed expertise in eco-physiological methodology and the impact of sea level rise on coastal ecosystems.

• Use of Bio-filter Systems for the Improvement of Stormwater Quality, UCLA June'13-Oct'13 Graduate research. Preliminary research exploring the use of bio-filter systems for the treatment of storm water via plant uptake, microbial processes, and filter media. Developed expertise in application of ecological principals to engineered systems.

• Tidal Effects on Trace Gas Flux in a Mangrove Forest in B.C.S., Mexico, SDSU Jan'10-May'13 Graduate research. Research aimed at understanding variables controlling trace gas flux from mangrove ecosystems focusing on effect of tidal and zonal variation. Developed expertise in the biological, physical, and chemical processes governing wetland ecosystem functioning and trace gas emissions.

• Genetic Variability of the Endangered Santa Ana River Woolly Star, CSUF June'07-May'09 NSF-Undergraduate Mentoring in Environmental Biology project. Research quantified the genetic variability in a federally endangered plant species. Assessment necessary to inform restoration and future research efforts. Optimized methodology in assessing genetic variability

#### Publications

- Rosencranz J.R, Brown L.N., Holmquist J.R., Sanchez Y., MacDonald G.M., Ambrose R.F. (2017) The Role of Sediment Dynamics for Inorganic Accretion Patterns in Southern California's Mediterranean-Climate Salt Marshes. Estuaries and Coasts.
- Romero M.R., Walker K.M., Cortez C.J., Sanchez Y., Nelson K.J., Ortega D., Smick S.L., Hoese W.J. and Zacherl D.C. (2012) Larval diel vertical migration of the marine gastropod. Journal of Marine Biology.

#### Select Work Experience

• Senior Scientist, Council for Watershed Health 2017-Present Technical lead on CWH's applied research projects. I provide technical expertise on stream monitoring and on measuring the performance of green infrastructure projects. I manage the Los Angeles River Watershed Monitoring Program, the refresh and monitoring efforts for one of the first regional neighborhood retrofits, Elmer Avenue, and the monitoring, outreach, and educational components of the Drought Response Outreach Program for Schools (DROPS).

Feb'16-Jan'17

NOAA Knauss Legislative Fellow, U.S. Senate •

Year-long fellowship where I worked to advance legislative environmental priorities related to watershed management, water quality, and Great Lakes issues. I translated technical scientific information to better inform office activities. I engaged with stakeholders, researchers, and local leaders to assess funding and programmatic gaps. I gained exposure to the appropriations process, national coastal resilience efforts, agriculture policy and programs, programs supporting innovation in water issues, as well as cross agency approaches and regulations relating to water quality and habitat conservation.

• Graduate Research Assistant, UCLA

Sep'15- Jan'16 Facilitated and carried-out experimental set-up and planning for a research project investigating the use of sediment augmentation as a restoration strategy to combat the impacts of sea level rise. Organized and led teams of undergraduate students in field efforts.

### **Select Presentations**

Rain or Shine, Soaking up Success. Panel. Green Infrastructure – Indices, Metrics, and Monitoring	2020
Riparian Summit. Talk Watershed Monitoring – Informing Los Angeles River Restoration	2017
State of the Los Angeles River Watershed Symposium. Talk. Monitoring the Los Angeles River From 2008 to Today	2017
Annual Conference of the Ecological Society of America (ESA). Talk. Trace Gas Flux in Mangrove Forest Ecosystem in B.C.S., Mexico	2012
Annual Conference of the American Society of Plant Biologist. Poster. The Genetic Variability of a Federally Endangered Plant Species	2009
Annual Conference of the SACNAS. Poster. The effect of Anthropogenic Runoff on the Invasion of Native Arthropod Community by the Argentine Ant	2009
Select Honors and Awards	
Knauss Fellowship Southwest Climate Center Fellowship La Kretz Research Grant Competitive Edge Fellowship Cota Robles Fellowship Mabel Myers Memorial Scholarship Farris/EPEF Travel Award, used to attend ESA's 2012 Conference Jordan Meyer Memorial Scholarship Sussman Fellowship Outstanding Poster Presentation, Biology, SACNAS	2017 2016 2014 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012 2012 2010 2010

# **1** Introduction

Cities throughout the world are located next to rivers because they provide a dependable source of water, productive soils, and ease the movement of materials. The devastating loss of life and capital due to flood is a common element that has led to the channelization of urban rivers and the construction of dams and extensive storm drains systems. Widespread patterns of development and flood control have resulted in an urban river condition known for geomorphic simplification, reduced societal value of stream systems, and ecological simplification (Bernhardt et al., 2005; Walsh et al., 2005). The impacts of urbanization are so archetypical that the condition has been coined "urban stream syndrome" (Walsh et al., 2005), whereby impermeable land cover and highly effective storm drain systems quickly move large volumes of runoff, create a flashy hydrograph, allow for elevated nutrients and contaminant concentrations, reduce aquatic richness, and alter channel morphology. In urban streams flow magnitudes are higher, timing to peak flow shorter, and post-event flows reduced (Poff et al., 1997; White & Greer, 2006). Alterations in the flow regime and channelization create disconnection between aquatic life histories and the hydrograph (Schlosser, 1985), impact plant community composition (White & Greer, 2006), and biotic diversity (Bunn & Arthington, 2002). Invasive plant species, like Arundo donax, invasive amphibians, such as the American Bullfrog and red swamp crayfish, and fish, like bass and sunfish, expand their range and thrive under the perennial flow conditions of urban rivers (Bell, 1997; Fuller et al., 2011; Riley et al., 2005).

Communities have taken notice of the opportunities to rehabilitate local rivers and river revitalization is gaining steam as a means to improve urban waterways, waterfront economies,

provide community amenities, and to potentially tackle the rapid loss of aquatic biodiversity (Abell, 2002; Sandercock & Dovey, 2002). Throughout the nation, once booming industrial cities have looked to their waterfronts to revitalize urban life. These cities have applied similar templates for revitalization. In an analysis of revitalization plans completed for the cities of Chattanooga, Columbus, Louisville, Pittsburgh, Portland, and Saint Paul, Tumbde (2005) found that public private partnerships are key to revitalization and include partnerships and funding entities as diverse as development agencies, private developers, non-profit organizations, local and state entities, and private investors. Despite the diverse economic development, recreational, and environmental goals these partnerships can introduce into planning processes, Tumbde (2005) found key common strategies across cities. For example, the need to boost local economies has resulted in heavily industrialized zones being transformed into mixed use and commercial development that encourage further development and generate the local revenue that can help maintain public amenities. Environmental remediation is also key to creating safe and inviting public spaces, creating momentum for compliance with the Clean Water and Clean Air Acts. Development of infrastructure creates the foundation for further investment and development. Connectivity, whereby derelict riverfronts are connected to business districts, civic institutions, and downtown areas, help boost visitation and the appeal of riverfront properties (Tumbde, 2005). The creation of parks, open spaces, trails and other recreational opportunities has also emerged as an objective of river revitalization. In cities like Louisville, open space was used as a flood buffer zones between development and the river's edge (Tumbde, 2005). Many cities have revitalized their waterfronts, and to an extent restored their rivers, to spur economic

development. However, the benefits of these investments, particularly when comparing different models of revitalization, are poorly accounted for.

Though the benefits of river revitalization are considerable enough to draw many formerly industrial cities across the country into planning processes, the benefits have not been reviewed and quantified in a comprehensive manner. However, the value and benefits of ecological restoration, the process that support an ecosystem in recovery, which will vary depending on the prioritization of restoration efforts and ecosystem services within revitalization plans, has been quantified using various valuation methods. In Washington State, a survey tool was used to estimate the recreational, existence, and bequest value of dam removal and ecosystem restoration for an anadromous fishery, estimated at \$138 million (J. B. Loomis, 1996). In California, hedonic pricing method was used to estimate the value of investment via the Urban Stream Restoration Program. Restoration activities resulted in a 3-13% increase in property value, though some aspects of restoration, like riparian tree buffers, reduced property values (Nicholls & Crompton, 2017; Streiner & Loomis, 1995). Households will pay an estimated \$252 annually for the ecosystem services associated with restoration, such as recreation, erosion control, habitat creation, water purification (J. Loomis et al., 2000). In brownfield to green field conversion, a redevelopment strategy along formerly industrial waterfronts, survey assessments have found that projects enhance scenic beauty, increase neighboring property values, boost community pride, enhance neighborhood cohesion, enhance physical fitness, and provide access to recreational space and nature (De Sousa, 2004, 2006).

Criticisms of waterfront revitalization, however, abound. Sieber (1991) noted that revitalization has been largely reflective of social and economic changes that favor elite

urbanites engaged in the creative or knowledge economy. Revitalized rivers host a core constituency that is decidedly different. Former uses of the waterway are often lost and there is a blanket erasure of a blue-collar industrial past and the social and environmental decisions that created persistent inequalities in the Nation's cities (Hagerman, 2007; Sieber, 1991). In a river walk models of revitalization environmental benefits can be over-estimated. Citizens exhibit a higher willingness to pay for the restoration of a stream to its natural state rather than the creation of the artificial streams (Lee & Jung, 2016) that are often a template of revitalization plans. However, environmental movements grow with revitalization efforts and often seek to connect urbanities to nature and remedy the impacts of industrial activities (Sieber, 1991). While generally public health research has supported the goals of environmental movements, because green space can reduce noise, enhance recreational opportunities and even improve food access (Escobedo et al., 2011), cities are confronted with a paradox. Restoration and urban greening can lead to "green gentrification," whereby historically underserved and park poor neighborhoods become more attractive, rent and housing cost rise, and the communities that were supposed to benefit from greening are displaced (Wolch et al., 2014). This paradox has led some to argue that design interventions should prioritize community perspectives, avoid the river walk model, and be 'just green enough' to remedy environmental and public health ills (Curran & Hamilton, 2012; Wolch et al., 2014).

Strategies recognizing the need for equitable revitalization and the value of socioecologically guided restoration have used largely bottom-up and community centered approaches. Along the Sacramento River scientist worked with stakeholder groups and local partners to identify restoration activities that would simultaneously enhance ecosystem health and ecosystem services, specifically flood protection and recreation, by explicitly joining ecosystem and societal perspectives and priorities (Golet et al., 2006). Using a "bottom-up" approach to revitalization, Hager et al. (2013) found that neighborhood revitalization and school greening improved water quality, engaged communities in outdoor recreation, improved student scores in environmental literacy assessments, created opportunities for social cohesion, increased access to municipal services, and created momentum for investment in ecological, social, and economic improvements. In Los Angeles after a 2007 River Master Plan was criticized for failing to consider economic and development policies that would benefit residents that long lived near the River, the communication infrastructure theory (CIT), a framework that incorporates multi-method research, field work, and partnership building between academic institutions and advocacy groups, was utilized as a bottom-up story-telling framework that garnered policy recommendations for revitalization efforts. Policies included local hiring, affordable housing, and the establishment of land trusts (Villanueva et al., 2017). Insight from revitalization projects throughout the country will continue to offer opportunities to challenge pre-existing assumptions of what revitalization should look like and to soberly acknowledge the constraints that can bind visions for a revitalized river.

As river restoration has grown in cities, the classic ecological philosophy focused on restoring ecological systems to a pre-European state by focusing on river fluvial processes, flood-pulse events, and target species (Lake et al., 2007) has, at times, been incongruent with the physical and spatial constraints and community preferences. Restoration will be limited along highly modified river channels due to flood risk and the large populations and human developments that abut river channels. Rivers are unlike other ecosystems in that they are very

dynamic, and the high flows and water levels that come with sudden storms demand room for the river to swell. Additionally, novel ecosystems (Hobbs et al., 2009) will require new restoration strategies due to shifting species composition and ecosystem functioning caused by environmental alteration. A changing climate will also shift the selection of target species (Butterfield et al., 2017). As a result, the field of ecology has evolved to acknowledge the constraints of restoration and suggest that restoration guidepost shift from reference state to process based (sediment dynamics, flooding, succession). Ecologist have also begun distinguishing between the types of restoration and associated goals, ranging from restoring to a pre-disturbance state that can be defined and reconstructed to moving an ecosystem from degradation toward a more natural state, particularly when a pre-disturbance condition cannot be defined and reconstructed (Aronson et al., 1993; Dufour & Piégay, 2009). Since managing flood risks is the top priority and reference states are rarely achievable, restoration projects in many of the world's cities are heavily designed and engineered, such as terracing, sinuous low flow channels, and floating platforms (Martín-Vide, 1999). Additionally, urban ecologists have begun to develop frameworks for restoration that pay attention to social, cultural, and economic perspectives (Egan et al., 2012), acknowledging that human preferences and public understanding of ecosystems will play a central role in the future of rivers (Alberti et al., 2003a; Dufour & Piégay, 2009). Effective community engagement will therefore be key in future models of restoration (Alberti et al., 2003b; Golet et al., 2006; Villanueva et al., 2017).

## 1.1 Urban Ecology and the Challenges and Opportunities within Cities

Cities present both opportunities and challenges for conservation and management of biodiversity. Rapid global urbanization and habitat fragmentation has contributed to the rapid

loss of native species due to: the loss of native vegetation, stress and mortality associated with human activities, increased exposure to predation, and competition with non-native species (Grimm et al., 2008; Marzluff, 2001). Yet, green spaces and biodiversity in cities is important from a sociological and ecological perspective. Green spaces in cities shape aesthetic preferences, can help support the establishment of neighborhood social ties, and shape formative experiences with nature and conservation priorities (Dunn et al., 2006; Kuo et al., 1998; J. R. Miller, 2005). There is also some evidence of the health benefits of biodiversity, such as psychological and immune health (Aerts et al., 2018; Wall et al., 2015). Residents in cities also value the environmental and personal benefits that biodiversity offers (Clergeau et al., 2001). Cities may also have some conservational value. Australian cities were found to host heightened levels of biodiversity and threatened and endangered species (Ives et al., 2016). Research studies have found that gardens, depending on the taxa of interest, garden size, vegetation structure, and the inclusion of native plant species, contribute to urban biodiversity (Goddard et al., 2010; Loram et al., 2008; van Heezik et al., 2013). High levels of urban biodiversity can also be explained by a high density of adaptive and exploitive native species, intermediate levels of disturbance, species replacement by ornamental species, and environments that favor early successional natives and cosmopolitan species (Clergeau et al., 2001; McKinney, 2006). Urban areas cannot hosts all species types, however. Ecosystem complexity, biotic interactions, and species richness still decline along urban gradients, particularly for urban sensitive species (McKinney, 2006 for review). For example, the species associated with complex groundcover that human populations regard as untidy, such as ground, shrub, and cavity nesting birds, disappear from human dominated ecosystems (Marzluff & Ewing, 2018). The highly fragmented landscapes found within urban areas will likely only sustain a subset of species, likely generalist and urban tolerant species, but managers can work to maintain populations of these species (Marzluff & Ewing, 2018). A better understanding of species habitat relationships in urban environments can help with restoration, conservation planning, and to better inform reconciliatory management and urban design (Michener, 2004).

Unlike classic ecological approaches to ecosystem study, urban ecosystems are interconnectedness with socio-economic considerations. The multi-faceted nature of urban areas has led to the emergence of urban ecology and recognition of cities as heterogeneous, dynamic, complex ecosystems, and microcosms of global change that present the opportunity for enhancing human well-being (Grimm et al., 2000, 2008; S. T. Pickett et al., 2001). Though cities are heterogeneous within their boundaries, the common needs and preferences of human populations has meant that cities are globally homogenous and share common characteristics including: an increased amount of edge habitat, smaller patch sizes, high densities of urban tolerant and cosmopolitan species, an altered energy balance and levels of productivity (Grimm et al., 2008; McKinney, 2006). Approaches to studying these rapidly growing entities have largely been dominated by gradient or transect methods that span the urban core and exurban areas (McKinney, 2006) as well as landscape pattern metrics related to structure, function, change, and socio-economic factors (Alberti et al., 2001). Other frameworks for the study of urban areas have incorporated classic ecological approaches including: meta-population dynamics (Driscoll, 2007), patch dynamics (S. T. A. Pickett et al., 2000), and human ecosystem frameworks (McKinney, 2006; S. T. Pickett et al., 2001; S. T. A. Pickett & Cadenasso, 2006). Human ecosystem frameworks are relatively novel within a field that has historically left humans out of ecosystem models. The factors within a human ecosystem framework span beyond demographics and include social status, culture, networks and institutions to better model the human role in ecosystems (Machiis et al., 1994). Urban ecosystem frameworks can conceptualize cities from a socio-ecological perspective and create the foundations for biophysical research that enhance the design and management of cities and generate benefits for people and natural communities (S. T. A. Pickett & Cadenasso, 2006).

Ecosystem services are the benefits people derive from the natural world and the concept has supported discussions and evaluations about an ecosystem's contributions to human wellbeing (MEA, 2005). Based on the difficulties of restoring some landscapes, particularly riverine landscapes within urban regions, there has been growing interest in restoring ecosystem services instead. However, approaches that narrowly focus on a few services and processes, such as reducing sediment loads or flows, can have unforeseen tradeoffs, resulting in loss or damage to ecosystems (Bullock et al., 2011; Palmer et al., 2014). As a result, multiple studies are seeking to understand distributional patterns of ecosystem services, their relationship to each other, and how to co-manage ecosystem services (K. M. A. Chan et al., 2006; Egoh et al., 2008; Naidoo et al., 2008). Cultural ecosystem services (CES) are the non-material benefits that ecosystem provide to human populations such as spiritual, recreational, aesthetic, and educational values (MEA, 2005). This category of services play a role in all human/nature interactions but have received less attention because their non-material nature make them more difficult to quantify (Díaz et al., 2018). Studies that have captured the value of CES, though often focused on the recreational CES typology, have often valued CES above commodity production, though these economic valuation exercises often ignore social perspectives (K. M. Chan et al., 2012; HernándezMorcillo et al., 2013). Andersson et al. (2015) note that because CES are interlinked with many ecosystem services, they may provide a gateway for managing nature in cities and connecting populations to the value of ecosystem services, more broadly. Managing cities and degraded rivers to maximize certain ecosystem services and using CES, and their assumed intuitive value, to connect communities to urban ecosystems is a compelling idea that, in the least, supports efforts to understand the distribution of ecosystem services and their relationships to the environment.

Human aesthetic preferences will impact project design, revitalization typologies and ecological value in managed ecosystems. Open spaces in urban environments often reflect the diversity of a city itself and the preferences of ethnic, class, user, and interests groups. However, the evolutionary and cultural values that come into play in human predilection for natural aesthetics do not predict ecological quality (Gobster et al., 2007) and designers face the tasks of accommodating human preferences while still maintaining some ecological value (Bernhardt et al., 2007). For example, trails can create edge effects that favor generalist and increase levels of predation (K. R. Miller, 1996). Heavy recreational use at sites can result in high trash levels and alter groundcover, soil, and tree condition (Cole & Marion, 1988). Gobster (1995) notes that users often have a distaste of features such as downed wood, dead material, and scattered clear cuts, and generally favor features that reduce habitat complexity, biodiversity, and increase habitat edge. User groups differ in their aesthetic and stewardship values for rivers. Among hydrologists, farmers, and the general public, the latter two preferred the aesthetic of wellmaintained and straightened river channels (Nassauer et al., 2001). Landscape architects attuned to the impact of aesthetic preferences and keen to survey community inclinations have found

techniques to provide "cues to care." Such techniques include: co-designing less appreciated ecologically beneficial features with features that are more widely valued, such as open water, using publicly accessible points strategically, providing information to help communities interpret forest management and, installing features such as weirs and deflectors to create the auditory and visual aesthetics communities value (Gobster, 1995; Nassauer et al., 2001). This balancing is key because projects are unlikely to garner support or receive the maintenance they depend on if they are not aesthetically pleasing, even if they enhance ecological value (Gobster et al., 2007).

The case for better understanding the ecology of urban areas and the human dimension of restoration, recreation, and environmental preferences is clear. However, assessing ecological value, public perception, and behavior in large, patchy, and densely populated areas may be impractical and expensive using surveys, observational studies, and other traditional approaches. The advent of social networking and data sharing platforms has facilitated data collection and sharing. Citizen science data, and the platforms that collect, store and manage these data, have allowed data collection on species distribution across large areas and in spaces otherwise inaccessible to scientists, like backyards (Andrianandrasana et al., 2005; Chandler et al., 2017).

Social media data, via the analysis of text, networks, and sentiment strength of posts (Thelwall, 2018), has proven a useful source of observational and passive public opinion data for social and natural scientist that make use of a 'network of human sensors' (Goodchild, 2007; Rogers, 2018). This is particularly true because the use of social media platforms have transformed beyond social networking, though the culture of each platform varies, to a means of sharing, contributing, and disseminating geospatially referenced information (Kaplan &

Haenlein, 2010). This is evidenced by the use of Twitter data to track fire, flood, and the impact of disruptive events (De Longueville et al., 2009; Fuchs et al., 2013; Murthy & Gross, 2017). Geotagged photos, though subject to less attention, have been used to examine point patterns and supplement authoritative disaster relief datasets (Gao et al., 2011; Goodchild, 2007; Panteras et al., 2015). Recognizing that taking a picture is linked to preference, opinions, and favored characteristics of the surrounding environment, researchers have used Flickr data as proxies for observed preferences (Bernetti et al., 2019), to characterize spatial and environmental patterns of recreation (Westcott & Andrew, 2015), and to derive the travel cost and water quality value of inland lakes (Keeler et al., 2015).

## 1.2 Focusing on Southern California

Southern California is facing many of the same challenges other cities face in the rehabilitation of their rivers, including concerns over green gentrification, spatial constraints in restoring hydrology or large swaths of habitat, technical gaps about the extent to which restoration is possible in urban environments, and a need to balance the desire for urban amenities, ecological rehabilitation, and economic drivers for waterfront redevelopment. A broad fluvial stream typology, the legacy of destructive flooding events, and climate projections predicting more frequent and extreme storm events in one of the most heavily urbanized regions in the nation further complicate stream rehabilitation and efforts for the lateral reconnection of habitats (Gumprecht, 2001; Ingram, 2013; Swain et al., 2018). Nevertheless, in Los Angeles, a movement ignited by advocacy organizations that thought far too much had been lost when the Los Angeles River was paved for flood control purposes created the momentum to build a green corridor along the Los Angeles River, which currently bisects various park-poor and pollution-

burdened communities (Dahmann et al., 2010; Su et al., 2011; *The Lower Los Angeles River Revitalization Plan*, 2017).

Efforts to revitalize the Los Angeles River began with scattered restoration efforts and river centered performance pieces have since been buoyed by government protection, federal funding, and the incorporation of the River into local and regional plans (Dorfman, 2018). The 2010 declaration that the River was a navigable water, the creation of urban parks linked to the River, a 2012 law that enshrined that the River was held in the public trust for use by the people, and the completion of an U.S. Army Corp of Engineers (USACE) study focused on the restoration opportunities along a soft bottom reach further ignited the revitalization movement. The USACE-selected study alternative has paved the way for the removal of 11 miles of concrete, restored riverbed habitat, wetland restoration, and park creation along and within the River (USACE, 2013). Meanwhile, local to countywide efforts have considered River revitalization within their planning updates, with efforts focused on the creation of connected bike path, improving habitat, and augmenting recreational and open space (L.A. Metro, 2016; LADPW, 2021; *The Lower Los Angeles River Revitalization Plan*, 2017; Woods, 2000).

Climate change predictions for the region, which include extreme storm events and long periods of drought (Berg & Hall, 2015; Cayan, 2008; Swain et al., 2018), have simultaneously spurred efforts to prioritize local water resources, often via green infrastructure projects, and to look to the river's watershed to enhance local water resources (LADWP, 2015; *The Greater Los Angeles County Open Space for Habitat and Recreation Plan*, 2012; *The Lower Los Angeles River Revitalization Plan*, 2017). The emphasis on local water has also led some cities to focus their gaze on the unnaturally large volumes of wastewater that currently flow down the Los

Angeles River. Currently, upwards of 80% of dry weather flows are from wastewater effluents (Council for Watershed Health, 2018). Efforts to increase the use of recycled water through the diversion of existing flows have created critical questions about how best to manage flows to support increased water recycling, aquatic species, and existing recreational uses along a highly urbanized River.

Priorities focused on enhancing river system functions that support wildlife habitat and aquatic ecological health can be at odds with goals focused on enhancing recreation, water reuse, economic vitality, and community well-being in a heavily urbanized Mediterranean-climate watershed. As efforts in restoration, revitalization, water capture, recycling, and conservation progress for the Los Angeles River, it will be critical to coalesce ecological considerations with community values and uses of the River. Revitalization offers the opportunity to strengthen our understanding of the ecological principles that are applicable to urban systems and to employ socio-ecological concepts and frameworks for decision development. As planning and investment in urban rivers, like the Los Angeles River, continue critical questions remain related to uses and attitudes toward the River, measures of success, and the habitat characteristics around which species associate.

### **1.3** Organization of this Dissertation

The following topics will be the focus of my dissertation and will be presented in separate chapters:

 Understanding Cultural Ecosystem Services Along A Heavily Urbanized River Using Social Media Data and Expert Interviews The Los Angeles River dissects diverse communities throughout Los Angeles, including parkpoor communities that have long used the River for recreation. Like many rivers in the region, the LA River is fed by effluent that is discharged from wastewater treatment plants and, during summer, effluent accounts for the majority of the River's flow. These flows sustain cultural ecosystem services (CES). However, a statewide effort to increase water recycling will reduce effluent volumes along the region's rivers and potentially impact CES that are dependent on flow. Current attitudes toward the River may also impact future project selection, design, and recreational opportunities, as communities engage with local government over questions of access, safety, and the design of a public amenity. My research focused on understanding CES along channelized portions of the River, surveying where they occur, and the relationship between CES, flow and other site characteristics. My research is unique in that most studies focused on CES and the site characteristics of where those uses occur have focused on natural landscapes, such as national parks and state recreation areas, and not on an urban river with typologies that range from completely channelized to soft-bottom and vegetated. I used both focus group and social media data to better understand CES, the relationships between CES occurrence and site attributes, and attitudes toward the River.

 Understanding the relationship between species presence and site characteristics in Southern California Streams using citizen science. The southern California region is a biodiversity hotspot that has, like other Mediterranean biomes, experienced rapid species decline. The rapid decline of endemic species is due, in part, to the region being home to two of the most densely populated metropolitan areas in the country (Moyle & Williams, 1990; Underwood et al., 2009). Los Angeles and neighboring cities have begun planning and implementing projects with the objective of revitalizing the Los Angeles River and adjacent communities through investment in riverine trails, green infrastructure, parks, greenways, and habitat restoration. I explored the relationships between environmental variables, land-use, population density, and bird species occurrence in streams across the southern California region. This research is important to revitalization efforts along the Los Angeles River and a growing number of communities that look to convert channelized or urban adjacent rivers to community assets that support ecological functions. Uncovering the relationship between species occurrence and site characteristics can help practitioners and managers target bird species, a taxonomic group that is a good ecological indicator (Furness et al., 1993), for restoration efforts. Additionally, by making use of citizen science observations and publicly available data sources to better understand the land use and environmental variables that are important to bird species occurrence, this study attempted to model a cost-effective approach to understanding the species habitat relationships that better inform management, design, and areas for future research in urban areas that lack comprehensive species observations.

 Identifying the metrics that capture habitat value of multi-benefit green infrastructure projects using a Delphi approach. Green infrastructure projects have been implemented across southern California to treat, capture, and infiltrate stormwater runoff in a drought prone region that is largely dependent on imported water (*The Lower Los Angeles River Revitalization Plan*, 2017; Water Quality, Supply, and Infrastructure Improvement Act, 2014). Park projects and greenways with stormwater management objectives are also slated for construction along the Los Angeles River corridor. Recognizing the potential to enhance habitat value and urban diversity within the urban core, practitioners have sought to better measure the habitat benefits of green infrastructure projects. Identifying a set of metrics that capture project performance, from a habitat perspective, will be key step in setting a foundation for future monitoring and research programs that are needed to help researchers decipher the value of green infrastructure projects and, ultimately, generate the design recommendations that enhance their habitat value.

My research focused on determining the habitat goals that green infrastructure can achieve and the associated suite of habitat metrics that are key to capturing and understanding the habitat value of green infrastructure projects. I employed an iterative survey approach, the Delphi method. The Delphi method is used to reach group consensus in the absence of empirical evidence by making use of expert insight. The Delphi method is well suited for this research question considering the considerable expertise of stream, restoration, and urban ecologist in the region and because key questions about the habitat value of small urban parcels remain unanswered in the academic literature.

In this document I will provide additional background for each of my research topic, review pertinent literature sources, describe study methodology, and present final analysis. I will then discuss overarching themes, next steps, and the implications of the completed work in the conclusion. Each of the research chapters below is presented in the order enumerated above.

### **1.4 References**

- Abell, R. (2002). Conservation biology for the biodiversity crisis: A freshwater follow-up. Conservation Biology, 16(5), 1435–1437.
- Aerts, R., Honnay, O., & Van Nieuwenhuyse, A. (2018). Biodiversity and human health:
  Mechanisms and evidence of the positive health effects of diversity in nature and green spaces. British Medical Bulletin, 127(1), 5–22. https://doi.org/10.1093/bmb/ldy021
- Alberti, M., Botsford, E., & Cohen, A. (2001). Quantifying the urban gradient: Linking urban planning and ecology. In J. M. Marzluff, R. Bowman, & R. Donnelly (Eds.), Avian Ecology and Conservation in an Urbanizing World (pp. 89–115). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-1531-9\_5
- Alberti, M., Marzluff, J. M., Shulenberger, E., Bradley, G., Ryan, C., & Zumbrunnen, C. (2003a). Integrating humans into ecology: Opportunities and challenges for studying urban ecosystems. BioScience, 53(12), 1169–1179.
- Alberti, M., Marzluff, J. M., Shulenberger, E., Bradley, G., Ryan, C., & Zumbrunnen, C.
  (2003b). Integrating Humans into Ecology: Opportunities and Challenges for Studying Urban Ecosystems. BioScience, 53(12), 1169–1179. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-3568(2003)053[1169:IHIEOA]2.0.CO;2
- Andersson, E., Tengö, M., McPhearson, T., & Kremer, P. (2015). Cultural ecosystem services as a gateway for improving urban sustainability. Ecosystem Services, 12, 165–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.08.002

- Andrianandrasana, H. T., Randriamahefasoa, J., Durbin, J., Lewis, R. E., & Ratsimbazafy, J. H.
  (2005). Participatory ecological monitoring of the Alaotra wetlands in Madagascar.
  Biodiversity & Conservation, 14(11), 2757–2774.
- Aronson, J., Floret, C., Le Floc'h, E., Ovalle, C., & Pontanier, R. (1993). Restoration and rehabilitation of degraded ecosystems in arid and semi-arid lands. I. A view from the south. Restoration Ecology, 1(1), 8–17.
- Bell, G. P. (1997). Ecology and Management of Arundo Donax, and approaches to riparian habitat restoration in Southern California. In Plant Invasions: Studies from North America and Europe.

http://www.desertfishes.org/cuatroc/literature/pdf/Bell\_1997\_Arundo\_ecology\_managem ent.pdf

- Berg, N., & Hall, A. (2015). Increased Interannual Precipitation Extremes over California under Climate Change. Journal of Climate, 28(16), 6324–6334. https://doi.org/10.1175/JCLI-D-14-00624.1
- Bernetti, I., Chirici, G., & Sacchelli, S. (2019). Big data and evaluation of cultural ecosystem services: An analysis based on geotagged photographs from social media in Tuscan forest (Italy). IForest-Biogeosciences and Forestry, 12(1), 98.
- Bernhardt, E. S., Palmer, M. A., Allan, J. D., Alexander, G., Barnas, K., Brooks, S., Carr, J., Clayton, S., Dahm, C., & Follstad-Shah, J. (2005). Synthesizing US river restoration efforts. American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- Bernhardt, E. S., Sudduth, E. B., Palmer, M. A., Allan, J. D., Meyer, J. L., Alexander, G., Follastad-Shah, J., Hassett, B., Jenkinson, R., Lave, R., Rumps, J., & Pagano, L. (2007).
Restoring Rivers One Reach at a Time: Results from a Survey of U.S. River Restoration Practitioners. Restoration Ecology, 15(3), 482–493. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2007.00244.x

- Bullock, J. M., Aronson, J., Newton, A. C., Pywell, R. F., & Rey-Benayas, J. M. (2011).
  Restoration of ecosystem services and biodiversity: Conflicts and opportunities. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 26(10), 541–549. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2011.06.011
- Bunn, S. E., & Arthington, A. H. (2002). Basic Principles and Ecological Consequences of Altered Flow Regimes for Aquatic Biodiversity. Environmental Management, 30(4), 492–507. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-002-2737-0
- Butterfield, B. J., Copeland, S. M., Munson, S. M., Roybal, C. M., & Wood, T. E. (2017).Prestoration: Using species in restoration that will persist now and into the future.Restoration Ecology, 25, S155–S163.
- Cayan, D. R. (2008). Climate change scenarios for the California Region. Climate Change, 87(Suppl 1), S21–S42.
- Chan, K. M. A., Shaw, M. R., Cameron, D. R., Underwood, E. C., & Daily, G. C. (2006). Conservation planning for ecosystem services. PLoS Biology, 4(11), e379.
- Chan, K. M., Satterfield, T., & Goldstein, J. (2012). Rethinking ecosystem services to better address and navigate cultural values. Ecological Economics, 74, 8–18.
- Chandler, M., See, L., Copas, K., Bonde, A. M. Z., López, B. C., Danielsen, F., Legind, J. K., Masinde, S., Miller-Rushing, A. J., Newman, G., Rosemartin, A., & Turak, E. (2017).
  Contribution of citizen science towards international biodiversity monitoring. Biological Conservation, 213, 280–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.09.004

- Clergeau, P., Mennechez, G., Sauvage, A., & Lemoine, A. (2001). Human perception and appreciation of birds: A motivation for wildlife conservation in urban environments of France. In Avian ecology and conservation in an urbanizing world (pp. 69–88). Springer.
- Cole, D. N., & Marion, J. L. (1988). Recreation impacts in some riparian forests of the Eastern United States. Environmental Management, 12(1), 99–107. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01867381
- Council for Watershed Health. (2018). 2018 State of the Los Angeles River Watershed. Council for Watershed Health. https://c776b17b-7873-4634-9014b3a3f54a40e8.filesusr.com/ugd/ceb944 7f6deab1c8c24ef6a890e89d1d92ca97.pdf
- Curran, W., & Hamilton, T. (2012). Just green enough: Contesting environmental gentrification in Greenpoint, Brooklyn. Local Environment, 17(9), 1027–1042. https://doi.org/10.1080/13549839.2012.729569
- Dahmann, N., Wolch, J., Joassart-Marcelli, P., Reynolds, K., & Jerrett, M. (2010). The active city? Disparities in provision of urban public recreation resources. Health & Place, 16(3), 431–445.
- De Longueville, B., Smith, R. S., & Luraschi, G. (2009). Omg, from here, i can see the flames!: A use case of mining location based social networks to acquire spatio-temporal data on forest fires. Proceedings of the 2009 International Workshop on Location Based Social Networks, 73–80.
- De Sousa, C. A. (2004). The greening of brownfields in American cities. Journal of Environmental Planning and Management, 47(4), 579–600.

- De Sousa, C. A. (2006). Unearthing the benefits of brownfield to green space projects: An examination of project use and quality of life impacts. Local Environment, 11(5), 577–600.
- Díaz, S., Pascual, U., Stenseke, M., Martín-López, B., Watson, R. T., Molnár, Z., Hill, R., Chan, K. M., Baste, I. A., & Brauman, K. A. (2018). Assessing nature's contributions to people. Science, 359(6373), 270–272.
- Dorfman, E. (2018, June 25). Efforts to Restore the Los Angeles River Collide With a Gentrifying City. Sierra Club. https://www.sierraclub.org/sierra/2018-4-julyaugust/feature/efforts-restore-los-angeles-river-California-collide-gentrifying-city
- Driscoll, D. A. (2007). How to find a metapopulation. Canadian Journal of Zoology, 85(10), 1031–1048. https://doi.org/10.1139/Z07-096
- Dufour, S., & Piégay, H. (2009). From the myth of a lost paradise to targeted river restoration:
  Forget natural references and focus on human benefits. River Research and Applications, 25(5), 568–581.
- Dunn, R. R., Gavin, M. C., Sanchez, M. C., & Solomon, J. N. (2006). The pigeon paradox:
   Dependence of global conservation on urban nature. Conservation Biology, 20(6), 1814– 1816.
- Egan, D., Hjerpe, E. E., & Abrams, J. (2012). Human Dimensions of Ecological Restoration: Integrating Science, Nature, and Culture. Island Press.
- Egoh, B., Reyers, B., Rouget, M., Richardson, D. M., Le Maitre, D. C., & van Jaarsveld, A. S. (2008). Mapping ecosystem services for planning and management. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 127(1–2), 135–140.

- Escobedo, F. J., Kroeger, T., & Wagner, J. E. (2011). Urban forests and pollution mitigation: Analyzing ecosystem services and disservices. Environmental Pollution, 159(8–9), 2078– 2087. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envpol.2011.01.010
- Fuchs, G., Andrienko, N., Andrienko, G., Bothe, S., & Stange, H. (2013). Tracing the German centennial flood in the stream of tweets: First lessons learned. Proceedings of the Second ACM SIGSPATIAL International Workshop on Crowdsourced and Volunteered Geographic Information, 31–38.
- Fuller, T. E., Pope, K. L., Ashton, D. T., & Welsh, H. H. (2011). Linking the Distribution of an Invasive Amphibian (Rana catesbeiana) to Habitat Conditions in a Managed River System in Northern California. Restoration Ecology, 19(201), 204–213. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526-100X.2010.00708.x
- Furness, R. W., Greenwood, J. J. D., & Jarvis, P. J. (1993). Can birds be used to monitor the environment? In R. W. Furness & J. J. D. Greenwood (Eds.), Birds as Monitors of Environmental Change (pp. 1–41). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-015-1322-7\_1
- Gao, H., Barbier, G., & Goolsby, R. (2011). Harnessing the crowdsourcing power of social media for disaster relief. IEEE Intelligent Systems, 26(3), 10–14.
- Gobster, P. H. (1995). Aldo Leopold's" Ecological Esthetic": Integrating Esthetic and Biodiversity Values. Journal of Forestry, 93(2), 6–10.
- Gobster, P. H., Nassauer, J. I., Daniel, T. C., & Fry, G. (2007). The shared landscape: What does aesthetics have to do with ecology? Landscape Ecology, 22(7), 959–972. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-007-9110-x

- Goddard, M. A., Dougill, A. J., & Benton, T. G. (2010). Scaling up from gardens: Biodiversity conservation in urban environments. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 25(2), 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.07.016
- Golet, G. H., Roberts, M. D., Larsen, E. W., Luster, R. A., Unger, R., Werner, G., & White, G.
  G. (2006). Assessing Societal Impacts When Planning Restoration of Large Alluvial
  Rivers: A Case Study of the Sacramento River Project, California. Environmental
  Management, 37(6), 862–879. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-004-0167-x
- Goodchild, M. F. (2007). Citizens as sensors: The world of volunteered geography. GeoJournal, 69(4), 211–221.
- Grimm, N. B., Faeth, S. H., Golubiewski, N. E., Redman, C. L., Wu, J., Bai, X., & Briggs, J. M.(2008). Global change and the ecology of cities. Science, 319(5864), 756–760.
- Grimm, N. B., Grove, J. G., Pickett, S. T. A., & Redman, C. L. (2000). Integrated Approaches to Long-Term Studies of Urban Ecological SystemsUrban ecological systems present multiple challenges to ecologists—Pervasive human impact and extreme heterogeneity of cities, and the need to integrate social and ecological approaches, concepts, and theory. BioScience, 50(7), 571–584. https://doi.org/10.1641/0006-

3568(2000)050[0571:IATLTO]2.0.CO;2

Gumprecht, B. (2001). The Los Angeles River: Its Life, Death, and Possible Rebirth. JHU Press.

Hager, G. W., Belt, K. T., Stack, W., Burgess, K., Grove, J. M., Caplan, B., Hardcastle, M., Shelley, D., Pickett, S. T., & Groffman, P. M. (2013). Socioecological revitalization of an urban watershed. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 11(1), 28–36.

- Hagerman, C. (2007). Shaping neighborhoods and nature: Urban political ecologies of urban waterfront transformations in Portland, Oregon. Cities, 24(4), 285–297. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2006.12.003
- Hernández-Morcillo, M., Plieninger, T., & Bieling, C. (2013). An empirical review of cultural ecosystem service indicators. Ecological Indicators, 29, 434–444.

Hobbs, R. J., Higgs, E., & Harris, J. A. (2009). Novel ecosystems: Implications for conservation and restoration. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 24(11), 599–605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.05.012

- Ingram, B. L. (2013). California Megaflood: Lessons from a Forgotten Catastrophe—Scientific American. Scientic American. https://www.scientificamerican.com/article/atmosphericrivers-california-megaflood-lessons-from-forgotten-catastrophe/
- Ives, C. D., Lentini, P. E., Threlfall, C. G., Ikin, K., Shanahan, D. F., Garrard, G. E., Bekessy, S. A., Fuller, R. A., Mumaw, L., & Rayner, L. (2016). Cities are hotspots for threatened species. Global Ecology and Biogeography, 25(1), 117–126.
- Kaplan, A. M., & Haenlein, M. (2010). Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of Social Media. Business Horizons, 53(1), 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2009.09.003
- Keeler, B. L., Wood, S. A., Polasky, S., Kling, C., Filstrup, C. T., & Downing, J. A. (2015).
  Recreational demand for clean water: Evidence from geotagged photographs by visitors to lakes. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment, 13(2), 76–81.
  https://doi.org/10.1890/140124

- Kuo, F. E., Sullivan, W. C., Coley, R. L., & Brunson, L. (1998). Fertile Ground for Community: Inner-City Neighborhood Common Spaces. American Journal of Community Psychology, 26(6), 823–851. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022294028903
- L.A. Metro. (2016). Los Angeles River Bike Path Gap Closure. Metro. http://media.metro.net/projects\_studies/bikeway\_planning/images/study\_lariverbikepathg apclosure\_2017-0712.pdf
- LADPW. (2021). Los Angeles River Master Plan. Los Angeles County Department of Public Works. https://www.larivermasterplan.org/larmp\_document
- LADWP. (2015). Urban Water Management Plan. Los Angeles Department of Water and Power.
- Lake, P. S., Bond, N., & Reich, P. (2007). Linking ecological theory with stream restoration. Freshwater Biology, 52(4), 597–615.
- Lee, M., & Jung, I. (2016). Assessment of an urban stream restoration project by cost-benefit analysis: The case of Cheonggyecheon stream in Seoul, South Korea. KSCE Journal of Civil Engineering, 20(1), 152–162.
- Loomis, J. B. (1996). Measuring the Economic Benefits of Removing Dams and Restoring the Elwha River: Results of a Contingent Valuation Survey. Water Resources Research, 32(2), 441–447. https://doi.org/10.1029/95WR03243
- Loomis, J., Kent, P., Strange, L., Fausch, K., & Covich, A. (2000). Measuring the total economic value of restoring ecosystem services in an impaired river basin: Results from a contingent valuation survey. Ecological Economics, 33(1), 103–117. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-8009(99)00131-7

- Loram, A., Thompson, K., Warren, P. H., & Gaston, K. J. (2008). Urban domestic gardens (XII): The richness and composition of the flora in five UK cities. Journal of Vegetation Science, 19(3), 321–330.
- Machiis, G. E., Force, J. E., & Dalton, S. E. (1994). Monitoring social indicators for ecosystem management. University of Idaho, College of Forestry, Wildlife and Range Sciences.
- Martín-Vide, J. P. (1999). Restoration of an urban river in Barcelona, Spain. Environmental Engineering and Policy, 2(3), 113–119. https://doi.org/10.1007/s100220000030
- Marzluff, J. M. (2001). Worldwide urbanization and its effects on birds. In J. M. Marzluff, R.
  Bowman, & R. Donnelly (Eds.), Avian Ecology and Conservation in an Urbanizing
  World (pp. 19–47). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-1531-9\_2
- Marzluff, J. M., & Ewing, K. (2018). Restoration of Fragmented Landscapes for the Conservation of Birds: A General Framework and Specific Recommendations for Urbanizing Landscapes. Restoration Ecology, 280–292. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1526-100x.2001.009003280.x@10.1111/(ISSN)1526-100X.2525thAnniversaryVI
- McKinney, M. L. (2006). Urbanization as a major cause of biotic homogenization. Biological Conservation, 127(3), 247–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.09.005
- MEA. (2005). Assessment: Ecosystems and human well-being—Google Scholar. World Health Organization. https://scholar.google.com/scholar\_lookup?title=Ecosystems%20and%20Human%20Wel 1-Being%3A%20Synthesis&publication\_year=2005&author=Millennium%20Ecosystem%

20Assessment

- Michener, W. (2004). Win-Win Ecology: How the Earth's Species Can Survive in the Midst of Human Enterprise. Restoration Ecology, 12(2), 306–307. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1061-2971.2004.012201.x
- Miller, J. R. (2005). Biodiversity conservation and the extinction of experience. Trends in Ecology & Evolution, 20(8), 430–434.
- Miller, K. R. (1996). Balancing the scales: Guidelines for increasing biodiversity's chances through bioregional management. Balancing the Scales: Guidelines for Increasing Biodiversity's Chances through Bioregional Management. https://www.cabdirect.org/cabdirect/abstract/19961904417
- Moyle, P. B., & Williams, J. E. (1990). Biodiversity Loss in the Temperate Zone: Decline of the Native Fish Fauna of California. Conservation Biology, 4(3), 275–284. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.1990.tb00289.x
- Murthy, D., & Gross, A. J. (2017). Social media processes in disasters: Implications of emergent technology use. Social Science Research, 63, 356–370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssresearch.2016.09.015
- Naidoo, R., Balmford, A., Costanza, R., Fisher, B., Green, R. E., Lehner, B., Malcolm, T. R., & Ricketts, T. H. (2008). Global mapping of ecosystem services and conservation priorities.
  Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 105(28), 9495–9500.
- Nassauer, J. I., Kosek, S. E., & Corry, R. C. (2001). Meeting Public Expectations with Ecological Innovation in Riparian Landscapes1. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 37(6), 1439–1443. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2001.tb03650.x

- Nicholls, S., & Crompton, J. L. (2017). The effect of rivers, streams, and canals on property values. River Research and Applications, 33(9), 1377–1386. https://doi.org/10.1002/rra.3197
- Palmer, M. A., Filoso, S., & Fanelli, R. M. (2014). From ecosystems to ecosystem services: Stream restoration as ecological engineering. Ecological Engineering, 65, 62–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2013.07.059
- Panteras, G., Wise, S., Lu, X., Croitoru, A., Crooks, A., & Stefanidis, A. (2015). Triangulating Social Multimedia Content for Event Localization using Flickr and Twitter. Transactions in GIS, 19(5), 694–715. https://doi.org/10.1111/tgis.12122
- Pickett, S. T. A., & Cadenasso, M. L. (2006). Advancing urban ecological studies: Frameworks, concepts, and results from the Baltimore Ecosystem Study. Austral Ecology, 31(2), 114– 125. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2006.01586.x
- Pickett, S. T. A., Cadenasso, M. L., & Jones, C. G. (2000). Generation of heterogeneity by organisms: Creation, maintenance and transformation. The Ecological Consequences of Environmental Heterogeneity, 33–52.
- Pickett, S. T., Cadenasso, M. L., Grove, J. M., Nilon, C. H., Pouyat, R. V., Zipperer, W. C., & Costanza, R. (2001). Urban ecological systems: Linking terrestrial ecological, physical, and socioeconomic components of metropolitan areas. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 32(1), 127–157.
- Poff, N. L., Allan, J. D., Bain, M. B., Karr, J. R., Prestegaard, K. L., Richter, B. D., Sparks, R. E., & Stromberg, J. C. (1997). The natural flow regime. BioScience, 47(11), 769–784.

- Riley, S. P., Busteed, Gary T., Kats, Lee B., Vandergon, Thomas L., Lee, L. F., Dagit, Rosi G.,
  Fisher, Robert N., & Sauvajot, R. M. (2005). Effects of Urbanization on the Distribution
  and Abundance of Amphibians and Invasive Species in Southern California Streams.
  Conservation Biology, 19(6), 1894–1907.
- Rogers, R. (2018). Digital Methods for Cross-platform Analysis. In J. Burgess, A. Marwick, & T. Poell, The SAGE Handbook of Social Media (pp. 91–108). SAGE Publications Ltd. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781473984066.n6
- Sandercock, L., & Dovey, K. (2002). Pleasure, politics, and the "public interest": Melbourne's riverscape revitalization. American Planning Association. Journal of the American Planning Association; Chicago, 68(2), 151.
- Schlosser, I. J. (1985). Flow regime, juvenile abundance, and the assemblage structure of stream fishes. Ecology, 66(5), 1484–1490.
- Sieber, R. T. (1991). Waterfront Revitalization in Postindustrial Port Cities of North America. City <html\_ent Glyph="@amp;" Ascii="&amp;"/> Society, 5(2), 120–136. https://doi.org/10.1525/city.1991.5.2.120
- Streiner, C. F., & Loomis, J. B. (1995). Estimating the benefits of urban stream restoration using the hedonic price method. Rivers, 5(4), 267–278.
- Su, J. G., Jerrett, M., de Nazelle, A., & Wolch, J. (2011). Does exposure to air pollution in urban parks have socioeconomic, racial or ethnic gradients? Environmental Research, 111(3), 319–328.

- Swain, D. L., Langenbrunner, B., Neelin, J. D., & Hall, A. (2018). Increasing precipitation volatility in twenty-first-century California. Nature Climate Change, 8(5), 427–433. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-018-0140-y
- The Greater Los Angeles County Open Space for Habitat and Recreation Plan. (2012). The Greater Los Angeles County IRWMP.
- The Lower Los Angeles River Revitalization Plan. (2017).
- Thelwall, M. (2018). Social Web Text Analytics with Mozdeh (p. 35). University of Wolverhampton. http://mozdeh.wlv.ac.uk/resources/SocialWebResearchWithMozdeh.pdf
- Tumbde, D. (2005). Conceptual Model for Economically Viable Urban Riverfront Revitalization in the United States. University of Cincinnati.
- Underwood, E. C., Viers, J. H., Klausmeyer, K. R., Cox, R. L., & Shaw, M. R. (2009). Threats and biodiversity in the mediterranean biome. Diversity and Distributions, 15(2), 188–197. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2008.00518.x
- USACE. (2013). LA River Ecosystem Restoration Integrated Report [Draft Report]. US Army Corp of Engineers.

http://www.spl.usace.army.mil/Portals/17/docs/publicnotices/DraftIntegratedReport.pdf

van Heezik, Y., Freeman, C., Porter, S., & Dickinson, K. J. M. (2013). Garden Size, Householder Knowledge, and Socio-Economic Status Influence Plant and Bird Diversity at the Scale of Individual Gardens. Ecosystems, 16(8), 1442–1454. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-013-9694-8

- Villanueva, G., Gonzalez, C., Son, M., Moreno, E., Liu, W., & Ball-Rokeach, S. (2017).
  Bringing local voices into community revitalization: Engaged communication research in Urban planning. Journal of Applied Communication Research, 45(5), 474–494.
- Wall, D. H., Nielsen, U. N., & Six, J. (2015). Soil biodiversity and human health. Nature, 528(7580), 69–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15744
- Walsh, C. J., Roy, A. H., Feminella, J. W., Cottingham, P. D., Groffman, P. M., & Morgan, R. P. (2005). The urban stream syndrome: Current knowledge and the search for a cure. Journal of the North American Benthological Society, 24(3), 706–723. https://doi.org/10.1899/04-028.1
- Water Quality, Supply, and Infrastructure Improvement Act, Pub. L. No. AB 1471 (2014). https://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/billNavClient.xhtml?bill\_id=201320140AB1471
- Westcott, F., & Andrew, M. E. (2015). Spatial and environmental patterns of off-road vehicle recreation in a semi-arid woodland. Applied Geography, 62, 97–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2015.04.011
- White, M. D., & Greer, K. A. (2006). The effects of watershed urbanization on the stream hydrology and riparian vegetation of Los Peñasquitos Creek, California. Landscape and Urban Planning, 74(2), 125–138. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2004.11.015
- Wolch, J. R., Byrne, J., & Newell, J. P. (2014). Urban green space, public health, and environmental justice: The challenge of making cities 'just green enough.' Landscape and Urban Planning, 125, 234–244.
- Woods, S. (2000). Wetlands of the Los Angeles River Watershed: Profiles and Restoration *Opportunities*. Coastal Conservancy.

# 2 Understanding Cultural Ecosystem Services Along A Heavily Urbanized River Using Social Media Data and Expert Interviews

#### 2.1 Introduction

The benefits ecosystems provide to society are known as ecosystem services (ES) and are categorized into provisioning, regulating, supporting, and cultural (MEA, 2005). Cultural ecosystem services (CES) are the non-material benefits that ecosystem provide to human populations such as spiritual, recreational, aesthetic, and educational values (MEA, 2005). Cities present a compelling case for understanding ecosystem services, however fragmented they may be, given the high density of beneficiaries compared to natural areas (Thorp et al., 2010) and the location of many cities near threatened ecosystems and along riverine corridors (Botkin & Beveridge, 1997). Those benefits include social cohesion, (Kuo et al., 1998), increased perception of quality of life and health (Maas et al., 2006; Stigsdotter et al., 2010), and opportunities for physical activity (Coombes et al., 2010), among others. Additionally, several studies have found that there is greater dependence on CES with greater economic development and since CES are non-substitutional, their loss is permanent (Guo, 2013; MEA, 2005; Rodríguez et al., 2006). Green spaces in cities may also provide a gateway for urbanites to engage with ES, to better understand the impact of environmental change, and to ultimately support restoration projects (Andersson et al., 2015; Richards et al., 2017). Many studies have examined the relationships between CES and site attributes and recognized the implications this research can have on development, planning, and land management (Bernetti et al., 2019a). My

research is focused on understanding cultural ecosystem service occurrence along a heavily urbanized river that is in the midst of revitalization and the relationships between CES occurrence and site attributes, at the census tract level.

CES have received less attention than other ES because many of the benefits of CES are intangible and thus difficult to quantify (Guo et al., 2010; MEA, 2005; Rodríguez et al., 2006). Economic valuation of ecosystem services is a flourishing area of study because valuation approaches allow scientist to communicate ecosystem value to politicians and the general public, however these approaches often ignore social perspectives (Chan et al., 2012). Nevertheless, of the CES valuation literature, a large volume of CES literature has focused on the value of recreation and tourism using contingent valuation methods (CVM), particularly willingness to pay (WTP), near national parks, preserves, state recreation areas, and scenic rivers (Carlsen & Wood, 2004; Ken Cordell et al., 1990; Shrestha et al., 2007). The value of recreation in urban areas has been similarly evaluated (Dou et al., 2017; Jim & Chen, 2006; Majumdar et al., 2011; Tyrväinen & Väänänen, 1998) and studies have shown recreation is one of the most valued CES categories (Dou et al., 2017; Langemeyer et al., 2015). Valuation approaches have also been used to assess educational value, an understudied CES, generated from school field trips using the travel cost approach (Hutcheson et al., 2018). While contingent valuation approaches are imperfect and can vary widely, they have been valuable in quantifying preferences and guiding environmental decision making (Hudson & Ritchie, 2001; Lindsey & Knaap, 1999). Beyond the valuation of CES particular ecosystems provide, some studies have mapped the supply of CES using land cover data and indicators of CES (Thiele et al., 2020). Thiele et al., (2020) in an assessment of German rivers, used indicators related to vegetation, physical habitat, and density

of archeological, natural, and cultural monuments and facilities to map CES supply (Thiele et al., 2020). Andrew (2015) used high resolution Google imagery and spatial environmental datasets to develop indicators of recreation for management of off-road vehicles. Plieninger (2013) used structured interviews and participatory mapping to capture CES and the bundling of services and disservices. Despite the difficulty in capturing the value and occurrence of CES, studies have made use of CVM surveys, interviews, participatory mapping, and geospatial analysis.

Social media data has allowed researchers to define, value, and better understand the provisioning of CES in a more cost-effective manner, without surveys, interviews, or focus groups. Social media research makes use of social media data by recognizing that humans serve as a network of sensors that share information about their environment. That potential network of human sensors is large; 90% of the global population lives near a mobile internet connection and 70% of the US population are active social media users (ITU, 2018; Kemp, 2019), and users are using social media applications for more than social networking but as a means of sharing, contributing, and disseminating geospatially referenced information (Kaplan & Haenlein, 2010). For example, given the wide distribution and volume of geotagged photos from tourists, Becken et al. (2017) suggested photographs could be used to monitor the Great Barrier Reef. Additionally, photo analysis has been used to reveal preferences about the environment (Bernetti et al., 2019b) and text from geotagged posts has helped researchers track political opinion (O'Connor et al., 2010) and natural disasters (De Longueville et al., 2009; Fuchs et al., 2013). Havinga et al. (2020), noting the definition of cultural ecosystem services is not yet operationalized, suggested that the Global Ecological Model definition of ecosystem services which describes "the use and availability of information" is fitting for assessing cultural services

using social media data since ecosystems provide the information that people then retain, process, and report. Havinga et al. (2020) noted the typologies of CES that can be assessed using large public datasets, including activity, aesthetic, amenity, artistic, heritage, knowledge, naturalist, and religious and spiritual services (Figueroa-Alfaro & Tang, 2017; Millenium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005; Richards & Friess, 2015).

The ease of accessing FlickR's API and the multi-dimensional nature of posts, which can include text, photo, and geographic information, has meant that this data source is prevalent in the literature and can be used to better understand CES relationships with the environment, CES provisioning, and can discern many CES typologies. Richards and Friess (2015) characterized CES in different mangrove sites and their work supported the ease of discerning CES typologies from analysis of FlickR photo content. Bernetti et al. (2019b) used the density of FlickR photographs and a geostatistical model to understand the relationship between site characteristics and aesthetic value. FlickR posts, a proxy of site visitation, have been used to conduct more costeffective valuation analysis using the travel-cost method (Keeler et al., 2015). Van Zanten (2016) used posts from FlickR, Instagram, and Panoramio to understand global recreational patterns and Bing et al. (2021) measured the supply and demand of CES in Shanghai using recreational indicators and FlickR post, respectively. The accessibility of social media data and of environmental datasets that serve as predictors of CES can increase the ease by which municipalities understand and manage natural areas and open spaces. This includes allocating more resources (e.g., rangers or guides, trash cans, maintenance crews) to heavily visited areas or establishing formal recreational areas at locations with high CES supply.

The frequent co-location of cities and rivers has created a convergence of challenges and opportunities for CES. Flood is a common element that has led to the channelization of urban rivers and the construction of dams and extensive storm drains systems. Widespread patterns of development and flood control have resulted in an urban river condition known for geomorphic simplification, reduced societal value of stream systems, and ecological simplification (Bernhardt et al., 2005; Walsh et al., 2005). The impacts of urbanization are so archetypical that the condition has been termed "urban stream syndrome" (Walsh et al., 2005), whereby impermeable land cover and highly effective storm drain systems quickly move large volumes of runoff, create a flashy hydrograph, allow for elevated nutrients and contaminant concentrations, reduce aquatic richness, and alter channel morphology. Nevertheless, these highly modified and managed systems may still provide CES. For example, well designed green infrastructure in urban settings have been shown provide amenity services (D'Arcy & Frost, 2001). Restored urban rivers have been found to provide greater recreational value than before restoration (Polizzi et al., 2015). However, the CES value of channelized rivers have been rarely measured since they have been assumed to be non-existent or low (D'Arcy & Frost, 2001). Among the few studies that have measured CES in urban areas have found high preference for scenes containing water, whether natural or urban (White et al., 2010).

The Los Angeles River, which is channelized along the majority of its length, faces many of the constraints associated with urban river rehabilitation: a heavily urbanized floodplain, a deficiency of greenspace, and highly altered flow conditions. Additionally, the River's flow, which is about 80% wastewater during the summer, may support certain CES. The River is undergoing major re-envisioning and revitalization efforts, which includes goals to support

healthy, connected ecosystems, enhance access to the River, and provide equitable open space and trails (LADPW, 2021). Simultaneous efforts to maximize local water resources through water recycling will also impact the future of the River by altering the existing flow regime and the recreational uses that are supported by existing flows. This study will make use of FlickR photo and caption data, triangulated with group interview data, to answer the following research questions about the Los Angeles River:

- What is the intensity of CES use along the Los Angeles River?
- What are the sentiments towards the River?
- What is the relationships between CES and site attributes along a highly urbanized river?

The study is unique in its attention to a highly altered river system but borrows approaches from existing studies that have examined CES typologies, CES intensity, and CES relationships with the environment using social media data and geospatial analysis. Results support our understanding of CES in a highly urban setting and can guide ongoing revitalization priorities based on the relationship between CES and site attributes.

#### 2.2 Methods

#### 2.2.1 Background and Site Context

The study location is the Los Angeles River (the River) in Southern California. Like the majority of urban rivers in Southern California, the River is channelized and its flow for most of the year is largely made up of treated wastewater effluent. The River lies adjacent to heavily populated areas and a variety of land uses, including industrial, commercial, open space, and

residential. The River channel is accessible via parks and the bike path and sometimes, more informally, via bridges and gaps in fencing. Access along the River varies from easily accessible, particularly in locales where the trails and parks run along the trapezoidal channel, to inaccessible where development, fencing, or a box channel configuration render channel access difficult or unsafe.

The analyses detailed below were completed at one of two scales: the census tract or reach scale. The census tract scale was used to make use of the wealth of population,





Reach 4



Reach 5



Reach 6



ecological, and socioeconomic data available by census tract. The reach scale was a useful spatial unit of analysis because it captured the main typologies of the River (Figure 1; Figure 2; Table 1). It is also the basis by which water agencies make management decisions about the River and it allows for use of some data that would be too scant to analyze at a finer level. The dominant characteristics of each reach are described in Table 1.

Contraction and and and	B. Her de Trains
San Fernando Valley	
Glendale	A DEMES
Document Map	3
Los Angeles East Los	Reach 1
Angeles	Reach 2
	Reach 3
Compton	Reach 4
R	Reach 5
LongBeach	Reach 6

### Figure 2 Reaches of the Los Angeles River

#### Table 1 Reach Descriptions

Reach	Description
Reach 1	Tidally influenced reach that has one soft bottom areas near the coast and rip rap
	along the channel edges. Above the tidally influences portions, the River is a hard
	bottomed, trapezoidal channel.
Reach 2	Entirely channelized and in the trapezoidal configuration. This reach abuts large
	areas of commercial and industrial land uses.

Reach 3	Encompasses one of the few continuous soft-bottom and vegetated portions of the
	river. Along this section, the River runs adjacent to a large, urban park and several
	smaller parks.
Reach 4	A mix of soft bottom and hard bottomed channel typologies, including both
	trapezoidal and box channel configurations. There are several parks and large open
	spaces that are adjacent to this reach.
Reach 5	Known as the Sepulveda Basin, this reach has a large park, trails, a Japanese Garden,
	and sports fields adjacent to the River. This is a large, open and vegetated area with a
	soft bottom.
Reach 6	Entirely hard bottomed and trapezoidal, the River channel runs adjacent to largely
	residential land uses.

#### 2.2.2 Surveying Recreational Uses through Focus Group and Expert Interview

I used focus group responses to triangulate statistically supported findings about recreation and its relationship to the environment. The focus group was initially focused in on identifying agreed upon-indicators of recreation, such as water depth, and specific targets for each indicator (such as 3 feet of water in the summer) for each reach of the Los Angeles River. This is due to the potential importance of flow to sustaining certain recreational uses along the River and California's focus on recycling water, and thus reducing the effluent that feeds much of the River's current flow. However, since the focus group discussion and indicators (e.g., presence of wildlife or access) were more broadly related to CES and the conditions that sustain CES along the River, the study objectives shifted.

The benefit of group techniques is that the method makes use of facilitated discussion and participant interaction, providing more depth to participant opinion than surveys (Basch, 1987). A drawback to group methods is that group dynamics and dominant individuals can overtake discussion (Smithson, 2000). Deleterious aspects of group dynamics can be counterbalanced, as was done in this study, by ensuring that participants are diverse enough that no single perspective is dominant based solely on group representation, and to break up facilitated discussion with opportunities for individual and confidential response (Powell & Single, 1996). Following openended group interview questions, prompts to inventory the activities along the River, and facilitated discussion, social choice methodology, a voting-based method for combining individual opinion to reach a collective decision, helped elicit judgments that could be enumerated to obtain individual weighted scores to identify the most important indicators of recreational use and the extent of agreement among participants. The full set of indicators and targets are presented in the Detailed Focus Group Results in the Appendix A. Social choice methodology, closely akin to Multi-Criteria Decision Making, is preferred method for group decisions when information is limited, unreliable, or qualitative (Kelly, 2013; Srdjevic, 2007). The method has been applied to variety of environmental decision making issues including water management (Srdjevic, 2007), timber harvesting (Laukkanen et al., 2004), and forest management (Kant & Lee, 2004).

To begin, I compiled a list of potential participants from stakeholder lists and community engagement events for the Los Angeles River Revitalization (plans for the River have been drafted with formal feedback from stakeholders -largely NGOs, agencies, city leaders, and the larger community via community events). Participants were then filtered based on the criteria that participants hold a formal position with a non-profit or community-based organization, business, or government entity that has a focus, per mission statement, advocacy campaign, or project work, related to at least 2 of the following:

- Community engagement and education
- River access
- Active transit or recreation
- River revitalization or rehabilitation

A total of fifty-two individuals fit the participant criteria. For the purposes of this study, I considered selected individuals recreational experts. Recreational experts were sent a summary document about the Los Angeles River Flow Study and the objectives of the recreational focus group. Experts also received an Institutional Review Board (IRB) study consent form and were asked to fill-out a preliminary survey. Preliminary survey questions focused on the recreational activities their organizations led, the location where those activities took place, and provided an opportunity for other experts to be referred to the group. A total of eighteen people responded to the preliminary survey and ten expressed interest in participating in a focus group. Prior to the focus group, stakeholders received the participation criteria, a description of project goals and work products, a list of other survey participants, and the opportunity to refer colleagues and partners who met the participant criteria. Participants that were identified by other experts were invited to participate. I contacted participants that were unavailable for the focus group for a phone interview. Phone interviews ranged from 1-1.5 hours, depending on the participant's capacity and interests. In total fifteen recreational experts participated in the study who were familiar with walking, biking, fishing, boating, wildlife viewing, horseback riding, and park use

along the Los Angeles River. Recreational experts were affiliated with non-profit organizations, a joint-powers authority, local city government, the County, or were small business owners that led recreation activities along the River.

During the group interview, I gave participants background information about each reach including channel morphology, access, and a map of each reach of the River. I asked participants to review a list of recreational uses for each reach of the Los Angeles River, compiled from previously published reports. Participants then updated recreational uses and identified the indicators and targets for each recreational use, guided by a series of open-ended questions. Notes or audio recordings were taken during the interviews. I recorded the focus group and processed and analyzed the recording according to the Krueger and Casey framework (Krueger & Casey, 2014), mainly noting frequency, intensity, and specificity of responses. I selected the Krueger and Casey framework because of the accessibility of the method to beginners and the many resources offering practical guidance on its use (Rabiee, 2004). However, some of the recommendations from Krueger and Casey (2014) regarding the homogeneity of the participants, in terms of ethnic, age-range, social class background, and recommendations that the group be unknown to each other could not be followed given the small number of recreational experts for the River. However, the lack of anonymity among study participants likely had no impact on study findings given the non-sensitive nature of the discussions. Additionally, recommendations from Krueger (1994) to continue holding focus groups until theoretical saturation were not followed because of the small number of recreational experts along the River and low participation rates.

#### 2.2.3 Assessing CES Through Social Media

I made use of two social media platforms to better understand recreational occurrence patterns, FlickR and Instagram. I scraped FlickR posts uploaded between 2008 to 2018 using a Python interface by searching the Los Angeles River tag, and it's various iterations (e.g., LA River, L.A. River, Los Angeles River), as well tags of river adjacent parks. Downloaded data included photo captions, descriptions, date photographs were taken, date a photograph was uploaded, GPS coordinates, and usernames. Data outside of a 1-mile buffer from the Los Angeles River was removed and discarded. Recent restrictions to Instagram's API limited use of Instagram data and, as a result, data was collected manually for the Los Angeles River geotag and the Los Angeles River hashtags (and its various iterations) for the period of September to December 2019. Collected data included date uploaded, username, and photo caption. Instagram data was used in conjunction with FlickR data for text analysis.

The images from FlickR were categorized to capture the activity pictured, pictured location (trail, river channel, park, or bridge), and photo subject. Photo categories were iteratively derived and reviewed to ensure consistency in categorization across posts. After categorization they were cross checked with Havinga et al.'s (2020) typologies of CES. Those categories along with the associated CES included:

- 1) Small gatherings: Social Services Photos of a small group of people
- Community event: Social Services Photos or captions that captured large, organized, community events (e.g., CicLAvia, trash clean ups, art festivals)

- Educational: Knowledge Services Captions that described a tour, outdoor classroom or activities where the River is contributing to understanding (e.g., community science, monitoring)
- Art and photography: Aesthetic and Artistic Services Photographs that pictured a wider view of the River landscape, depicted artistic activities (dancing or music videos) or captions that included camera models (e.g., Cannon, Nikon)
- 5) Wildlife viewing: Naturalist Services Photographs of animals
- 6) Active Recreation: Activity Services These categories included biking, walking, kayaking, swimming, horseback riding, fishing, skateboarding, and exercising.
  Photographs were categorized into one of these uses if the activity was pictured, including photographs of the recreational equipment (e.g., bike, kayak, fishing rod), or described in the photo caption.

A total of 1727 posts were reviewed and categorized but, ultimately, only 886 posts were used in data analysis due to missing geospatial data or because they were redundant posts by the same individual, on the same day, and in the same area. To identify any differences between FlickR and Instagram data, a dataset that was preferred but was unavailable, I compared the top 10 words across posts from both platforms and sentiment scores using 95% confidence intervals. Statistical analysis were not completed for FlickR text data since it was a census approach using all data from 2008-2018, not a subsample of the data.

I used the Tidytext package and the methodology detailed by Silge and Robinson (2016) to complete sentiment analysis, tri-gram graphing, and word counts in the R statistical computing software (R. Core Team, 2017). To prepare the data for analysis, I filtered common words,

numbers, and location out of the analysis (e.g., "the", "an", "San Fernando Valley") using existing and custom-built dictionaries. To prevent dividing counts between plural and singular words, I singularized words that had plural forms. I also corrected common spelling errors to not undercount commonly misspelled words .This involved creating summary tables and counts of all the words used in social media posts. I reviewed this table, identified misspelled words, and misspellings with counts greater than five were corrected using a substitution function. I categorized the top ten most popular words for each reach into art, recreation, parks, and urban environment categories and calculated percentage of words within each category. The "AFINN" dictionary was used to derive a sentiment score for texts and scores were averaged across posts (A. F. Nielsen, 2011). The AFINN dictionary scores words on a scale from -5 to 5, with positive scores associated with positive words and negative scores with negative words.

The dictionary compiled by Finn Arup Nielsen was used because the lexicon was built around the short informal nature of internet text and was tested on and expanded using twitter posts (Hansen et al., 2011; F. Å. Nielsen, 2011). AFINN identifies words, obscenities, and phrases commonly found on the internet (e.g., "LOL" or "WTF")(F. Å. Nielsen, 2011). It is important to note the shortcomings associated with the use of emotion lexicons like AFINN. Lexicons, which in the case of AFINN, depend on matching text data of interest to a scored dictionary, cannot identify sarcasm and will not adjust sentiment scores based on qualifiers (e.g., "not good"). AFINN is also biased toward negative text (F. Å. Nielsen, 2011).

I used clustering analysis to understand the commonalities between reaches. I used a kmeans cluster analysis of the social media data described above and the percent of emotive words. To better understand whether clustering patterns based on social media content may reflect differences in environmental conditions, I then did K-means clustering of all reaches based on percent canopy cover, percent imperviousness, percent roads, average park percent, and percent of the riparian area that is vegetated for river adjacent census tracts.

#### 2.2.4 Maxent Modeling

To better understand the relationship between recreational occurrence and site characteristics, I used Maxent modeling and the FlickR data, filtered to remove posts by the same user, on the same day, in the same location. Maxent is a species distribution model that estimates probability densities of species in covariate space using presence-only observations. The model correlates species presence with the pattern in environmental variables where species occur (Elith et al., 2011; Phillips et al., 2006). The constraints of using citizen science or museum specimen for understanding species distributions and habitat relationships are the same as the constraints to using social media data, mainly, the lack of absence data and sampling bias in presence data. Maxent is mostly used for biological species modeling, but there have been other studies that use Maxent to understand cultural ecosystem services and their relationship to the environment (Arslan & Örücü, 2020; Richards & Friess, 2015; Yoshimura & Hiura, 2017). For example, Yoshimura and Hiura estimated the supply of CES using Maxent. They used FlickR photos and a viewshed analysis to map target sites and reveal visitor preference for landscapes in Hokkaido, Japan.

I selected ecological, socioeconomic, and physical characteristics of a site as predictors for the Maxent model and they are detailed in Table 2. Is it important to note that studies focused on CES have made use of a variety of scales and noted that extent and scale can significantly impact results (Anderson et al., 2009; Casalegno et al., 2013). Ecosystem services may be generated, perceived, and managed at different scales (Hein et al., 2006). In general, identifying the appropriate scale for study of CES is complex because there is no specific structure or function that have been shown to facilitate CES (Hale et al., 2019). In the present study, the census tract level allowed me to make use of existing publicly available environmental, land use, and demographic data. However, previous studies have found viewsheds may be important to CES and features that obstruct views, like dense forest, may result in loss of CES demand (Chen et al., 2018; Norton et al., 2012). Many points along the Los Angeles River, particularly near downtown Los Angeles, offer vistas of the downtown skyline and they are unaccounted for in the present study, with the exception of the photo categorization described above.

Raster files of each predictor were generated in R, using the SF (Pebesma, 2018), SP (Pebesma & Bivand, 2005), and Raster (Hijmans et al., 2021) packages, and QGIS (version 3.14.1-PI). Predictors that were heavily correlated with other predictors (r>0.75) were removed from the model and model performance iteratively tested. The ENMeval (Muscarella et al., 2014) package was used to run Maxent in R (version 4.0.3) and regularization parameter ranging from one to two were used. Model features (which include linear, quadratic, hinge, threshold, and product) and regularization parameters were refined based on Akaike's Information Criteria (AIC) (Warren & Seifert, 2011).

The area under the curve (AUC) is derived from the receiving operator curve (ROC) and is a measure of predictive accuracy based on how a model distinguishes between presence and background points. The ROC curve plots sensitivity, the correctly predicted positives, against commission error, the false positives. AUC-ROC values above 0.70 have been used as a threshold at which one can assume the model has good predictive accuracy. There has been criticism about the use of AUC for determining model performance due to the lack of sensitivity AUC has to poor model fit, the equal weight assigned to omission, or false negatives, and commission errors, or false positives, the lack of information ROC curves provide about the spatial distribution of modelling errors, and the false inflation of values by pseudoabsences outside the extent of where occurrences are found (Lobo et al., 2008). Raes and ter Steege (2007) detail the use of the null model for evaluating model performance by comparing a random distribution of AUC values against the modeled AUC to derive a probability value, similar to traditional hypothesis testing. In order to overcome some of the criticisms related to the sole use of AUC to evaluate model performance, I compared the test AUC to AUC values generated by chance from the same distribution as presence data using a null model. The random distribution of AUC values were compared to the test AUC in a manner similar to hypothesis testing (Raes & ter Steege, 2007). Null models were generated in R using the SDMPlay package (Charlene et al., 2020).

Table 2. Predictors used in Maxent modelling iterations. Predictors that were used in the final model are denoted in green. Predictors that were removed, either due to high covariance or due to low contributions to model performance, are in gray.

Data	Description	Source
Historic Bridges	Point data of historical bridges along each census tract.	Digitized from the laconservancy.org list and spatially joined to overlying census block groups. Tracts without access for a given access category were coded as zeroes.
River Access	Point data of river access (includes bridges, trails, transit stops, equestrian facilities, field facilities) was then spatially joined to census tract layer.	
Riverside Park	Point data denoting presence of riverside parks	Point data was spatially joined to
Bridge Access	Point data denoting presence of bridges crossing the River	overlying census groups. Data was summed by census tract using BGRP ID. Blocks without access for a given access category were coded as zeroes. Data was downloaded as KMZ file from https://www.lariver.org/blog/exp
Trail Access	Point data denoting presence of riverine trails	
Rec Zone Access	Point data denoting recreation zone access points to the LA river	
Public Transit	Point data of public transit access points within the River buffer	lore-la-river
Equestrian Access	Point data of equestrian access points along the LA River	
Field Facilities Access	Point data of field facility access points along the LA River	

Cobble Gravel %	Percent of channel bottom that consist of cobble sized gravel.	
CRAM Score	Metric for quantifying riparian habitat condition. Includes 4 sub-metrics: hydrology, biotic score, buffer score, and physical habitat condition.	
Biotic Score	Measure of habitat diversity based on vertical structure, plant community composition, and zonation	Les Angeles Biver Wetenshed
Buffer Score	Attribute that assesses the connectivity of the landscape, riparian buffer width, and buffer condition	Los Angeles River Watershed Monitoring Program sites (www.watershedhealth.org/larw mp) were used to create Voroni
Hydrology Score	Measure of the sites hydrology compared to natural condition based on water source, channel stability, and hydrological connectivity	polygons (which partition a plane into n points). Data was interpolated so that census tracts within a Voroni polygon
Physical habitat score	Measure of physical habitat diversity based on patch types count and the topographic complexity of the stream channel	boundary had the same value assigned for a given predictor variable. Some census tracts were then manually adjusted based on site condition (i.e. if a
Algal IBI	Bioassessment metric that captures algal community composition and enumerates algae. Algal communities may show the net response of an algal community to water quality conditions at each site, particularly nutrients.	soft bottom portion of the River was grouped with polygons that largely included hard bottomed portions of the River).
ChlA	Chlorophyl A, a measure of the amount of algae present in a waterbody.	
Concrete Percent	Percent of channel bottom that consists of concrete	
SpecCond	Specific conductivity, a measure of salts or inorganic chemicals, present in a water body.	

Water %	Percent of water area within a census block	
Build %	Percent of built aread within a census block	Los Angeles County Tree Canopy Data, TreePeople
Road %	Percentage of roads within a census block	
Veg%	Percentage of census block covered by vegetation	Added total shrub, grass, and tree canopy area and divided by census block area to calculate vegetated percent.This data was constructed from high resolution LIDAR imagery. Used data from Los Angeles County Tree Canopy Map, TreePeople
Green Space %	Total green space within census block. Green space includes trees, forest, shrubs, grass, herbaceous, woody wetlands, and emergent wetlands.	
Impervious %	Impervious area within a block group	
Walkability	National Walkability Index score for each census block	
Wetland %	Percent cover of woody and emergent wetland within a census block	EPA community metrics data for
PctPopNotPark	The percent of a block group population that is not within an easy walking distance (500m) to a park	Los Angeles found at https://www.epa.gov/enviroatlas
School Count	Number of K-12 schools within a census block	
Non-white	Percent population other than White, non- Hispanic	
TotPop	Total Population [census block group]	
Impervious Riparian %	The percent of impervious cover within 15m of a water body.	

TrafProx	Average annual daily traffic within 500 meters	
LowIncm	Percent of the population in a census block where the household income is less than or equal to the federal poverty level	EJ screen data from epa.gov/ejscreen
POC%	The percent of people within a block group that do not list their ethnicity as white alone	
Park %	Percentage of park space within a census block	The LA County parks need assessment park inventory was used to calculate park area, overlayed with a census block layer, to calculate park percent by census block.
Median Flow Depth	Median flow for each reporting node	Data interpolated from Southern
Flow Velocity	Median flow velocity for each reporting node	California Coastal Water Research Program Hydrologic Engineering Center River Analysis System modeling for the Los Angeles River.
Wet Season Flow	Median flow from October to April	
Dry Season Flow	Median flow from May to September for each reporting node	

#### 2.3 Results

## 2.3.1 Using FlickR and Group Interview to Understand and Identify Activities Along the River

I was able to categorize 13 different activities along the Los Angeles River using FlickR images and captions. The most popular uses were art and photography followed by walking (Table 3a). Activities that were adaptable to the River's many typologies were art and photography, biking, walking, and wildlife viewing. The reaches that hosted the greatest number of uses were reach 3, a largely semi-natural, soft-bottom reach, followed by reaches 2 and 5, which is entirely channelized and semi-natural soft-bottom, respectively.

Interviews with recreational experts were also helpful in surveying recreational occurrence along each reach of the River and in understanding the intersection between recreation and site conditions, including the role of flow. Experts relayed that the main-stem of the Los Angeles River host a diversity of recreational uses (Table 3b) in both the naturalized soft-bottom and the hard bottom reaches. Experts identified 12 total uses along the Los Angeles River. While this research was originally focused on the flow required to sustain recreational activities along the Los Angeles River and the majority of experts did rank flow or depth as the most or second most important indicator for many activities, recreational experts also articulated the relevance of a diversity of indicators and themes, beyond flow (
Table 4; Table 5; Appendix A Detailed Focus Group Results). The themes that emerged from focus group discussions are summarized in

Table 4 and include frequent discussions about safety, access, water quality, and enforcement (e.g., swimming in the River is prohibited but not enforced) among others. Some of themes most widely expressed by experts were related to enforcement, aesthetics, and negative description of the River. Among the top themes, the importance of water quality and the importance of wildlife to the aesthetic appreciation of the River were expressed with intensity (i.e., the use of emotional language, superlatives, and hyperbole) by recreational experts.

Table 3. a.) CES activities that occur along the Los Angeles River by reach based on FlickR posts. b.) CES activities based on focus group input. The reaches that are highlighted in gray are entirely channelized and include Reach 2 and 6. Reach 3 and 5 contain soft bottom portions. While Reach 1 and 4 are predominantly hard-bottom but contain some stretches of soft-bottom.

a.								b.							
	Reach 1	Reach 2	Reach 3	Reach 4	Reach 5	Reach 6	Total		Reach 1	Reach 2	Reach 3	Reach 4	Reach 5	Reach 6	Total
Sml Gathering		2	5		3		10	Sml Gathering		x	x	x			3
Community Event		85	40	1	16		142	Community Event	x	x	x	x			4
Educational Event		7	10		8	1	26	Educational Event	x		x	x			3
Art & Photography	11	125	66	16	31	2	251	Art & Photography	x	x	x	x	x	x	6
Wildlife Viewing	35	5	22		65		127	Wildlife Viewing	x	x	x	x	х	x	6
Biking	1	63	29		1	1	95	Biking	x	x	x	x	х	x	6
Walking		87	59	14	26	2	188	Walking	x	x	x	x	x	x	6
Kayaking					1		1	Kayaking	x	x	x	x	x		5
Swimming		1					1	Swimming		x	x		x		3
Hrsbc_R			3	13			16	Hrsbc_R	x	x	x	x	х		5
Fishing			2				2	Fishing	x	x	x		x		4
Exercis			1	1	1		3	Exercis							0
Sktbrdn		1	1				2	Sktbrdn	x	x	x	x		x	5
Total Uses	3	9	11	5	9	4		Total Uses	10	11	12	10	8	5	

Table 4. Top ten recurring topics discussed by recreational experts during the group interview and individual interviews. The recurrence of each topic, the number of participants that brought up each topic, and the intensity (use of emotional language, hyperbole, or superlatives) were tallied from recordings and interview notes.

Theme	Reach 1	Reach 2	Reach 3	Reach 4	Reach 5	Reach 6	Recurrence	# of Participants	Intensity	Activities
Public Safety		x	x				16	4	No	Biking, Kayaking, Wading
Difficulty in definiting flow targets	x	x	x		x		13	3	No	Biking, Aesthetic Uses, Kayaking, Birding, Fishing
Enforcement (allowed recreational activities)	x	x	x				10	6	No	Biking, Wading, Kayaking, Fishing
Water quality	x	x	x	x	x	x	10	4	Yes	All
Importance of wildlife	x	x	x				7	5	Yes	Aesthetics, Wildlife Viewing
River as a park space/lack of green space		x					7	4	No	Not Specified
Heterogeneity of the River			x				6	2	No	Kayaking
Designing the River to better host recreation		x	x				8	3	No	Kayaking and Aesthetic Uses
Importance of current flow levels to recreation			x				6	3	No	Kayaking, Birding
Negative descriptions of the River		x					6	5	Yes	None Specified

Table 5 Top two indicators for each activity that occurs along the Los Angeles River according to recreational experts. The black box signifies that the recreational activity does not occur in that River typology.

Activity	Soft-bottom Indicators	Hard-bottom Indicators		
Wildlife Viewing	Habitat Complexity, %Water Area	Substrate, Water Depth		
Path Activities	Water Depth, Flow Velocity			
Aesthetic	Depth, Flow Velocity	Wildlife, Flow Velocity		
Community Events	Water Depth, Flow Velocity			
Wading	Water Depth, Flow Velocity			
Boating	Water Dep	th, Access		
Fishing	Habitat Complexity, Temperature	Water Depth, Flow Velocity		
Horseback Riding	Flow Velocity, Water Depth			

### 2.3.2 Agreement between Data Sources

Expert feedback and FlickR data varied in the recreational uses that were identified along the River. In general, FlickR underrepresented the extent of CES along the River compared to experts (Table 3). For example, according to FlickR data, fishing only occurs in reach 3. While recreational experts noted that fishing is dependable along the soft bottom sections of reach 1, 3, 4, and 5. Recreational experts also did a better job of capturing recreational use along certain reaches than were captured in FlickR posts, particularly along Reaches 1 and 4 and activities that are restricted (e.g., wading or kayaking in the channelized reaches). The apparent short comings for surveying specific recreational uses using FlickR data (e.g., kayaking, fishing, and wading) and poor model performance for a subset of individually modeled recreational activities (data not shown) supported the aggregation of all recreational uses together for Maxent modeling.

### 2.3.3 Social Media Text and Photo Analysis

I made use of captions and photo descriptions from two social media platforms, FlickR and



Figure 3 . Word cloud of the top 100 words found in captions and photo descriptions of the River on FlickR and Instagram.

Instagram, to better understand sentiment, social media culture of Los Angeles River visitors and

the relationship between social media posts, recreation, and site conditions. Firstly, the most

common 100 words used in conjunction with the River were tallied together and are presented in the form of a word cloud (Figure 3). The most popular words reveal that posts of or near the River largely describe urban forms that surround the River and also capture the diversity of typologies along the River. On average posts relayed a near neutral or very weakly positive sentiment (Table 6). Scores range from -5 to +5 and a positive numerical score denotes positive sentiment and vice versa. Sentiment score and popular word use between platforms was compared and largely revealed the similarity in post content across platforms since 70% of the top 10 words were shared between platforms and sentiment scores did not differ significantly (Table 6).

Table 6 Top ten most frequently used words in Instagram posts and FlickR , including both captions and photo descriptions. The average sentiment score for each platform across all posts is based on the AFinn dictionary. A positive score indicates positive sentiment and vice versa.

Rank	FlickR	Instagram	Both
1	bridge	bridge	bridge
2	street	photo	photo
3	birds	street	street
4	ciclavia	avenue	avenue
5	park	ciclavia	ciclavia
6	historic	park	park
7	thstreetbridge	historic	historic
8	riding	bird	bird
9	bike	riding	riding

10	lake	urban	urban
Sentiment			
Score	0.70	1.00	0.90
95% CI	0.40-1.0	0.80-1.2	0.70-1.0



Figure 4. A Markov Chain model based visualization of the 20 most popular trigrams found in social media posts. The arrows depict the directionality of word use. Darker arrows depict a higher frequency of tri-gram use.

To get better context for post content and the relationships between text, a networks visualization was completed using Markov Chain model. Briefly, the Markov Chain Model predicts how a process moves from state to state. The model helps predict the word sequences that are the most likely to occur together based on probability distributions. Figure 4 shows the result of a network tri-gram visualization, using Markov Chain, of all social media text. The arrows indicate directionality of words, for example sixth tends to precede the word street based on the directionality of the arrow. The spatial arrangement of the word networks is random

however, arrow darkness does denote the frequency of a particular network. For example, the bottom left of the graph shows a series of hashtags that commonly appear together in LA River posts and, among the most frequent, is "urban" and "photo". Aside from the popular urban photography themes across posts is the theme related to urban runoff and flood, which also appears with high frequency. In general, the themes of social media posts, as captured by trigrams, capture the functions of the River, access points and vistas to the River, and uses of the River, mainly photography and wildlife viewing. It is important to note that data were not filtered by user so multiple posts by the same user may impact text analysis. For example, one popular Instagram account, LARiverX, invites multiple hosts to "takeover" the account. The commonly used text and hashtags associated with the account appeared as a popular trigram (Figure 4).

I used FlickR data to explore spatial patterns in social media posts from categorized photos. First, I categorized social media posts by the pictured location along the River and photo content. The most popular words for each reach of the river were categorized into six different topic areas including art, recreation, parks, urban environment (e.g., streets, bridges), and natural world (e.g., plants, wildlife, water) (Figure 5). The sentiment score for most reaches of the River, on average, were neutral Figure 5. The highest sentiment score was for Reach 3 of the River while the lowest sentiment score was found in Reach 4. The analysis revealed that the sentiment score do not show a clear pattern with the text content and categorization top posts (Figure 5). For example, sentiment scores do not correspond with high percentage of words about the natural world, parks or art.



Figure 5 Graph depicting the categorization of the top 20 words found on FlickR for each reach of the River for the years 2008 to 2018.





The most popular text categories within each reach are mirrored in photo content. A high proportion of photos capturing natural activities in reach 1 and 5 mirror text patterns (Figure 5 & Figure 6). However, artistic activities are pictured in more than 10% of photos in all reaches,

except reach 1, but are not proportionally represented in the most popular text.

Figure 7 shows photo locations of social media photos taken along the River. Park photos are markedly lower in reach 1 and reach 2 than all the other reaches. Photos taken from a bridge are lower in reach 1 and 5. While bike path photos are lower in reach 1, reach 2, and reach 5.



#### Figure 7 Categorized locations of posted photos within the River buffer for each reach of the River.

I conducted a K-means cluster analysis to better understand patterns in word usage, sentiment score, and photo content between reaches of the River. The cluster analysis showed that social media content for reach 2 of the River was unlike any of the other reaches while reaches 1 and 5, and 3 and 4 clustered closely (Figure 8). This clustering pattern was not necessarily in response to differences in environmental conditions, whereby reaches in close geographical proximity clustered together (Figure 9). Reach 5 was the most dissimilar to all reaches based on environmental conditions, yet clustered with reach 1 based on social media

content. The environmental conditions at reach 2 were most similar to reach 1 and, again, social media content from these reaches of the River did not group together.



Figure 8 K-means Cluster analysis of each River reach based on social media content (data depicted in graphs 7-9).



Figure 9 K-means cluster analysis of average environmental conditions for each reach of the River. Environmental conditions included average values for percent permeability, percent canopy, road percent, park percent, and percent vegetated riparian buffer.

### 2.3.4 Maxent Model

I used a Maxent model to better understand the predictors associated with recreational

Table 7 Summary of Maxent model performance. Model presented below was selected from model sub-runs, which included all features (linear=L, quadratic, hinge, threshold, and product) and regularization values between 1 to 2.

Model Summary					
Train AUC	0.90				
Average Test AUC	0.87				
Features	L				
AICc	12398.43				
Type I Error Rate	0.09				
Average Null AUC	0.82				

occurrence in the Los Angeles River. The Maxent model training AUC was 0.90 and the test AUC was 0.88 (Table 7). AUC is a value that measures the model's ability to correctly predict presences from absences, which in this instance are pseudo-absences (Hanley & McNeil, 1982). The data is split into training data, which supports model development, and testing data to support model validation. In this instance, the model performed strongly in discriminating presence from random data (Merow & Silander, 2014). When using SDM that are presence only AUC values of 0.8 can be interpreted as good model performance. However, since AUC values can be unreliable and inflated when one uses presence only data (Merow & Silander, 2014), a null model was used for statistical testing. The proposed model performed better than 91% of random models (p=0.09).



Figure 10 Relative occurrence map for the Los Angeles River whereby darker shades of green represent a higher probability of recreational occurrence. The highest predicted relative occurrence was predicted at the dark green census tract near Elysian park. Black dots are the locations of actual FlickR posts along the River.



Figure 11 Graph of variables important to predicting recreational occurrence. Variables were also permutated and their impact on model performance, specifically the drop in AUC-ROC, are presented as percentages.

There were a high density of posts near a soft bottom areas near the Willow Street Bridge in Long Beach, along the Main and First to Seventh street bridges in Downtown Los Angeles, along the Greenway Trail in the Elysian Valley, near riverside parks and along the Greenway Trail in the Glendale Narrows, at an equestrian center near Griffith Park, and in the Sepulveda Basin that can be interpreted as locales with high CES intensity (**Error! Reference source not found.**). Maxent predicted the highest occurrence of CES near Elysian park, followed by Downtown Los Angeles (**Error! Reference source not found.**). Figure 11 shows the environmental variables used to predict the likelihood of CES occurrence, specifically their contribution to model performance and permutation importance. The most important predictors of recreational occurrence include higher river access, the presence of historical bridges, and higher median flow. Together these 3 predictors have a cumulative contribution of nearly 73 percent to model performance. However, the Maxent model is sensitive to permutation of many of the predictor variables used in the model, particularly the top 2 predictors (Figure 11).

### 2.4 Discussion

### 2.4.1 Urban Rivers Supply Many CES

Despite the sometimes-stark differences in channel typologies along the Los Angeles River, ranging from completely channelized to soft bottom and vegetated, and the extensive urbanization that borders the River, it hosts a surprising diversity of CES. For example, all reaches of the River appear to convey aesthetic and artistic information to users, despite variability in site conditions. Using both expert interviews and FlickR data, I was able to assess CES along the River. I was able to identify the same CES typologies using both photo content analysis and expert interviews. They included: 1.) aesthetic services, the sensory configuration of beauty that ecosystems communicate, 2.) activity services, the contribution of ecosystems that inspire physical activity, 3.) artistic services, the creative information that ecosystems transmit to users that they interpret into art and for cultural benefit, 4.) heritage services, historical features that shape the cultural identity and sense of place, 5.) knowledge services, the information ecosystems transmit that support the development of knowledge, and 6.) naturalist services, information that ecosystems convey that create ecological meaning and lead to human enjoyment (Havinga et al., 2020; MEA, 2005; Richards & Friess, 2015).

FlickR and expert interviews captured the same CES typologies but there were many discrepancies in specific activities and where they occurred. Expert interviews better captured the distribution of specific activities along the river (e.g., fishing), particularly for activities that are restricted or engaged in by underserved and/or unhoused communities (e.g., wading in the river is restricted as well as kayaking along certain reaches). The poor surveying of certain uses also resulted in reaches 1 and 4 being poorly characterized in terms of the diversity of activities along those reaches. FlickR captured CES in a spatially explicit manner but is likely unreliable in fully accounting for the geographic distribution of each activity. FlickR posts showed that aesthetic and artistic services were the most popular CES categories, unsurprising given the data was gathered from a photo sharing platform, while previous observational surveys of recreation along the River, which admittedly were not focused on capturing the full suite of CES, found that biking was the most popular use of the River (LARWQCB, 2014). It is important note that some activities may not be well captured by social media data because they are difficult to post (e.g., kayaking) or are restricted (e.g., swimming) and are thus likely to be underrepresented as a result. Based on expert input and previous observational surveys (LARWQCB, 2014), underrepresented activities in FlickR include kayaking, biking, wading, horseback riding, skateboarding, wildlife viewing and fishing.

Based on FlickR data alone, reaches one and five had a greatest abundance of natural activities, like wildlife watching. Reach one is a completely channelized section of the River near industrial land uses while reach five is a large open space and a soft bottom section of the river channel. Birding, a popular word that emerged across Los Angeles River posts, likely explains the high percentage of occurrence of natural services along reaches that do not cluster together based on environmental conditions. Both the Sepulveda Basin and the Lower Los Angeles River (at Willow Street) are listed in the top 20 birding hotspots for Los Angeles (eBird, n.d.). This is because reach 1 has a maritime influence and consistent flows create novel urban habitats where shorebirds are attracted to the algae present on the concrete channels of the Lower Los Angeles River (Cooper, 2006). On the other hand, Reach 5 is a large, open space with large riparian buffers and a diversity of habitats.

Previous studies have used the number of users that posted photographs as measures of recreational intensity and assigned locales with frequent posts higher recreational value (Mancini et al., 2019). This is supported by multiple studies that have found visitation rates, as assessed via social media, rival traditional visitation surveys (Wood et al., 2013). Based on the density of posts alone, areas with the highest CES value include census tracts with both naturalized sections of the River and channelized sections that are adjacent to the urban core of Los Angeles. The high CES value of both highly urban sections of the River and naturalized portions, along with the unequal distribution of CES suggests that predictors of CES will depend on CES type, as found by other studies (Richards & Friess, 2015). Some popular CES may also be adaptable, since they occur in nearly all reaches of the River, such as aesthetic and artistic services or activity services, such as walking. Others may require certain physical habitat conditions or

improved water quality, such as for fishing as found by Richards and Friess (2015). The aggregation of posts have made it difficult to specifically resolve those relationships and thus I am limited to broad generalizations about CES based on Maxent results. However, expert interviews do provide insight about the conditions that support specific activity services. These include complex habitat and low temperatures for fishing, water depth and access for boating, and habitat complexity and water area for wildlife viewing.

The geospatial model, Maxent, highlighted that environmental quality was not an important predictor of CES, broadly, and helped identify areas with high suitability for recreation. Maxent predicted the highest likelihood of occurrences along a soft bottom section of the River north of Downtown Los Angeles and moderate occurrences at the channelized section of the River at the heart of Los Angeles. Important predictors of recreational occurrence were increased river access, the presence of historical bridges, and increased levels of flow. There were no predictors related to the natural environment that explained more than 5% of recreational occurrence. These findings are similar to other studies that have found that riverine areas of high recreational value are not necessarily the most pristine and that built elements, like roads and recreational infrastructure, are more important than natural elements (Hale et al., 2019). In fact, visitors may have reduced preferences for some natural features that obscure views, like thick forests, and certain ecosystems, like wetlands and agricultural lands (Van Berkel et al., 2018). White et al. (2010), found that users value water, irrespective of the setting. Hale et al. (2019) similarly found that river reaches with more water had a higher density of CES. van Zanten (2016) found accessibility, population density, income, mountainous terrain, and proximity to water explained recreational patterns on a continental scale. In urban parks,

Donahue et al. (2018) found access, neighboring population densities, nearby water features, and amenities to be associated with higher visitation rates and acknowledged the importance of built features. When analyzing the role of trees in urban park visitation, Shanahan (2015) found that park visitation was associated with park availability and only those that had a greater orientation towards nature would travel for more vegetated parks underscoring the importance of user groups, an unexamined element in this study. Richard and Freiss (2015) noted that infrastructure appreciation was a common photograph at a nature preserve, such as a boardwalk. While Van Berkel et al. (2018) noted high number of photo content that included built features and surmised that they enhance experiences with the landscape. Of course, these relationships will vary depending on the specific CES typologies that are being examined. However, unlike Richard and Friess (2015), historic bridges appear to be more than a means to better capture the River landscape, as the total amount of bridges within a census tract was not a significant predictor. To my knowledge, few studies have found the important role of heritage infrastructure in urban CES. Photos of bridges were common. particularly along reach 2 and the most common word used in social media text. The historic nature of some bridges appears to inspire their own aesthetic appreciation that, like other heritage features, create a sense of place or of cultural distinctiveness (MEA, 2005).

Text and photo analysis added a richness to my understanding of CES along the Los Angeles River and corroborated the conclusions from other analyses. I found that by analyzing both text and photographs from social media posts I was able to identify a variety of CES that photos alone would not capture, as noted by Hale et al. (2019). For example, knowledge services, some forms of recreation (e.g., walking), and artistic services would have been harder to enumerate if not for photo descriptions and tags, such as those describing camera models (e.g., Cannon 5d). Additionally, by tallying the location from which users photographed the River, I was able to capture access across different reaches of the River. I found that very little access to the River channel occurs along reach 4 and that bridges, bike paths, and parks are important avenues for river access along reach two, four, and five, respectively. Analysis of text frequency, in this instance through the use of a word cloud, helped in capturing what visitors to the River thought was significant enough to label, as suggested by Dunkel (2015). Those categories included urban infrastructure, recreational activities, and an annual cycling event. Additionally, I found, on average, neutral or modestly positive attitudes towards the River. Despite assertions that people share their emotional experiences on social media platforms and that post analysis may be a means to capture reticent stakeholders (Do, 2019; Drijfhout et al., 2016), the River in its current form does not appear to inspire strong written sentiment among FlickR users. As park projects and amenities are installed along the River as a result of ongoing revitalization and as new users are drawn to the River, text analysis may capture public reaction towards the changing landscape and result in a stronger sentiment signal.

The trigram analysis provided more context than word frequency alone could have and brought into focus themes and, potentially, River user communities within FlickR. Those themes included text focused on flow, travel photography, wildlife viewing, and urban photography. The most popular trigrams further supported some of the CES relationships I found using Maxent. If prominent themes among posts relate to flow and urban photography, the high aesthetic/artistic value provoked by different reaches of the River and the importance of flow for predicting CES occurrence is further supported. Additionally, the prevalence of the travel related trigram supports previous studies that have found that tourist are more likely to post to social media (Becken et al., 2017). If contributions by tourist communities are indeed sizeable this, as acknowledged by Becken et al., will introduce bias to data because posts will not reflect normal conditions or may potentially capture the preferences and values of tourist, which may not reflect those of the local community.

Expert interviews added nuance that social media data could not or that was lost due to the aggregation of all CES data for geospatial modeling. Expert interviews also helped triangulate findings derived from social media data. For example, experts confirmed the aesthetic and artistic value of the River's many typologies. They noted that there was aesthetic and artistic value communicated to visitors by the "large, imposing, concrete channel" but also aesthetic value in the presence of wildlife and the conditions that support the species that are present. Experts also noted that flow made the River more picturesque and that visitors were drawn to the River to observe its extreme flows in what they termed, "flow gawking." The aesthetic qualities of water, even in urban settings, have been supported by other studies (White et al., 2010) and flow was an important predictor of recreational occurrence. The allure of large, powerful flows has not been observed by other studies but as noted by previous studies, people tend to post to social media when experiences are novel or unexpected (Becken et al., 2017; Wood et al., 2013). The prevalence of the flood trigram, the importance of flow as a predictor of CES, and the confirmation of the allure of high flows from recreational experts means that using social media data to understand preferences for the River may misrepresent preferences of the communities living along the River and weigh the preferences of flow gawkers more heavily than other users. Nevertheless, my study supports that flow is important to FlickR user communities. However,

given the aggregation of CES posts and the linear features of the final model (threshold features may have helped identify specific targets), I cannot propose flow recommendations that broadly support CES. Future studies of CES along the River may consider analyzing fair weather CES separately to understand CES relationships in the absence of extreme flows and, if possible, specific thresholds for fair weather flow.

Safety and access were common and frequent themes of discussion by experts, specifically the need for better signage, the importance of channel access and designs that ensure conditions are safe for visitors, and the need for better communication and information about the flow velocities in the channel. The concern for high flows are likely compounded by multiple reported drownings along the River (Pyle & Berger, 1992; Rocha, 2017). Other survey studies have found safety and access to be among a set of converging values related to recreation and green space across stakeholder groups (Gobster & Westphal, 2004).

There were some themes that emerged from discussions with experts but were unsupported by the geospatial model or other social media data. Experts stressed the importance of water quality for all recreational activities stressing that smell, excessive algal growth, and bio-accumulating contaminants should not cause nuisance or harm to people or wildlife. Water quality was a prominent theme, particularly when discussions focused on removing wastewater flows in the River which dilute some existing contaminants. Other studies have found that water quality is important to sustaining recreational uses because it underpins other ecosystem services (Doi et al., 2013; Hua & Chen, 2019; Sinclair et al., 2018). However, no such relationship emerged from my own geospatial analysis. I used bioindicators, specifically benthic macroinvertebrates and algal community-based metrics, specific conductivity, and chlorophyl concentrations as proxies of general water quality. The lack of significance in the current study is likely due to lack of significant variability in these constituents across a heavily urbanized River (unpublished analysis). Additionally, experts noted that many sections of the river are adjacent to populous areas and that the River becomes a de facto open space in communities that lack them. The importance of population density, whereby dense human populations translates to high demand of CES, has also been documented in previous studies (Doi et al., 2013; van Zanten, Van Berkel, et al., 2016), however neither population density nor percent green or park space was important to predicting recreational occurrence along the Los Angeles River.

Despite the large volumes of data that are easily scraped from social media platforms there are short-comings to the use of social media data that must be recognized, particularly if data is to inform management or planning efforts which are centered around equity. Different social media platforms have a different audience and culture than those of the general public. Previous studies have noted that FlickR users tend to be concentrated in urban areas, fitting for a study in an urban area but likely inappropriate for rural settings (Hecht & Stephens, 2014). Much work has identified the existence of a digital divide and the resulting demographic differences within social media platforms can create blind spots in big data whereby non-English speakers or underserved or disabled communities are not represented (Mah, 2017). Donahue et al. (2018) compared demographic characterizations of social media platforms to in person surveying of urban parks in Minneapolis and found that FlickR users tended to younger and more female than park visitors. However, other studies have characterized the average FlickR users to be 39 and male (Ignite, 2012; Quercia et al., 2018). This is not to ignore the potential bias of interview methods that make use of experts, like my own study, since the expertise may be validated based on participation within existing institutional structures, education, and job titles (Choi & Pak, 2004). In the present study, it is likely that social media and experts do not fully represent site preferences and attitudes towards the River, given the diversity of the Los Angeles region. For example, unhoused populations make use of the River, settling along shady locations under bridges and near adjacent parks and facilities (personal observation). The preferences of this community of River users and their relationship to the River are almost certainly not captured. Additionally, experts noted a large quantity of working class commuters that bike along the River during commuting hours and while these uses are captured from expert interviews, the preferences this group may have, perhaps for transit corridors, are likely underrepresented (Mashhadi et al., 2020). Fear and avoidance of parks by women and other marginalized communities has also been documented by other studies and the male bias in the FlickR dataset may further limit our understanding of how those preferences manifest themselves spatially (Madge, 1997). Additionally, aesthetic values and recreational preferences are not universal. Many studies have shown that landscape preferences vary depending on socio-cultural characteristics like education (van Zanten, Zasada, et al., 2016), demographics (Lyons, 1983; Stamps, 1999), environmental values (Kaltenborn & Bjerke, 2002), age (Stamps, 1999), familiarity, and living environment (Yu, 1995).

Understanding CES is important because of the revitalization now occurring along the River. Advocates for more ecological restoration of the River have emphasized the importance of natural elements in supporting CES. Based on FlickR data, naturalness, represented by pervious area in the riparian corridor, vegetation, and assessments of habitat quality, is not an important predictors of CES, in the aggregate. Instead, it's the designed elements and flows that occur

along the River that are important to CES occurrence. However, this is not to ignore the benefits that more naturalized sections of the River may provide (Fuller et al., 2007; Twohig-Bennett & Jones, 2018; Wood et al., 2013) or to ignore studies that have found moderate levels of CES to be associated with higher diversity of ecosystem services (Raudsepp-Hearne et al., 2010). Mapping CES demand (approximated by population density, for example) can also ensure that amenities, parks, and restoration sites align with areas with high demand of CES. The results of this study suggest planners should prioritize access, recognize the importance of heritage infrastructure, and include water features in their designs, particularly if flow along the River is to be diverted. Other studies have noted that ecosystem services appear to be bundled (Plieninger et al., 2013; Raudsepp-Hearne et al., 2010) so that tradeoffs between provisioning and regulating services, for example, may need to be managed. The revitalization offers an opportunity to understand the trade-offs between ecosystem services, the resulting bundles of CES, and how changes to the environment will shift the bundling of services. Revitalization also creates an opportunity to manage ecosystem services that have fallen below predefined thresholds, as suggested by Raudsepp-Hearn et al. (2010). As more projects are implemented along the River, social media data and expert feedback can be used to better understand changes in use, CES demand, and the response to newly implemented amenities and the rehabilitation of native ecosystems.

## 2.5 Appendix A

### 2.5.1 Focus Group Discussion Questions

The questions below were used to prompt discussion during the focus group. The responses to these questions were recorded, analyzed, and coded. Specific indicators and targets were noted on a white-board for all participants to review and respond.

- How do you or the communities you serve or engage currently use this reach of the River?
  - Does this use vary seasonally?
  - How often does this use occur?
- 2. What site characteristics or indicators do you think are important to sustaining this recreational activity?
- 3. What levels of flow or water depth targets do you need to sustain this recreational activity?
- 4. What other specific targets are important to sustaining this recreational activity?
- 5. What recreational activities do you think are most likely to occur along this reach of the River in the future?

## 2.5.2 Individual Response Worksheet

After a group discussion, the participants were asked to rank the indicators and targets the group identified on an individual worksheet. The worksheets are excerpted below.

# **Recreational Indicators**

1. Based on your experience, please score the indicators highlighted during our group discussion. Score the indicators according to their importance toward sustaining

\_\_\_\_\_ along the LA River?

Please rate each indicator starting from least important, score = 0, to most important.

Note: The score of the most important indicator is one minus the total number of indicators (n-1). For example, if the there were 5 total indicators discussed, the highest score would = 4.

Indicator	Score
	0
	1
	2
	3

4
5
6
7
8

- 2. How confident are you about the indicators you selected as most important?
  - a. Extremely
  - b. Very
  - c. Somewhat
  - d. Not very
  - e. Not at all
- 3. If you have additional comments or justifications that you would like to share, please note them here.

# **Recreational Targets**

Based on your experience, please score the numerical targets for \_\_\_\_\_\_. Score the targets according to its importance toward sustaining \_\_\_\_\_\_ along the Los Angeles River?

Please rate each target starting from least important, score = 0, to most important.

Note: The score of the most important target is one minus the total number of indicators (n-1). For example, if the there were 5 total indicators discussed, the highest score would = 4.

Indicator	Score
	0
	1
	2
	3
	4
	5
	6

7
8
0
9
10

- 2. How confident are you about the criteria you selected as most important?
  - a. Extremely
  - b. Very
  - c. Somewhat
  - d. Not very
  - e. Not at all
- 3. If you have additional comments or justifications that you would like to share, please note them here.

# 2.5.3 Detailed Focus Group Results

The results of the ranking exercise for each recreational use is detailed below. Since the sample size for the focus group and phone interviews were low and the results exhaustive, they are not included in the main body of the text.

## Wildlife Viewing

Table 8. Indicators and targets for wildlife viewing uses in soft bottom and cement bottom reaches. Indicators with the highest ranking are highlighted. For most indicators, participants gave one or no specific target.

	Indicator	Average Rank	Stdev	Target	Kendall's W
	Spring flows	2.00	1 15	Unknown, generally described as presence of	
ш	% Algae cover	2.50	1.97	Unknown Unknown	
g- Soft Botto				Both shallow (2-6 inches) and deep (24-36	0.08
Viewin	Water Depth	3.57	0.98	inches) areas	
ildlife	Flow Velocity	4.29	1.25	Unknown	
Bird and W	% Water area	5.33	0.52	Water should cover 50% of channel	

				Unknown Narratively	
				described as diversity of	
	Habitat			flow habitats (pools,	
	Complexity	6.57	0.53	riffles, fast/slow water)	
	% Algae				
ottom	Cover	2.00	0.82	Unknown	
ard Bo	Spring Flows	2.43	1.62	Unknown	
ing- Ha	Water Depth	2.90	1.18	Unknown	0.08
View				Presence of sediment	
dlife V				islands and 25-40%	
liW b				channel cover by rocky	
Bird an	Substrate	3.14	0.90	substrate.	

Wildlife viewing is a recreational use that occurs yearlong. When describing wildlife viewing, recreational experts were largely focused on bird life, particularly along the cement bottom portions of the River. Substrate and habitat complexity were the most important indicators to sustaining wildlife viewing along the River. The flow related indicators varied from soft bottom to hard bottom reaches, whereby depth was the most important along hard bottom areas, and the percent of the channel area that was composed of water was most important in the soft. The cement bottom indicators and targets are largely focused on reach 1, along sections of the River near the Willow Street Bridge that are bordered by riprap. Experts noted that along reach 2, spring flows and algae for foraging become more important to sustaining wildlife. For most

indicators, participants gave one or no specific target. There was poor agreement in the rankings among recreational experts.

## **Path Activities**

Table 9. Indicators and targets for path uses. The indicator with the highest ranking is highlighted. For most indicators, participants gave one or no specific target.

	Indicator	Average Rank	Stdev	Target	Kendall's W	Notes
ies- All River Reaches	Volume Flow Velocity	1.57 1.86	0.79 0.69	Below 150,000 CFS or flood capacity of channel 8-9 MPH	0.05	Participants noted that path activities are not associated with flow.
Path Activit	Depth	2.57	0.79	Unknown		

Recreational experts largely agreed that path activities, those that take place on the levy including biking, walking, running, scooting, and dog-walking, were not affected by flow. Flows were only important during storm events when dangerously high flows could inundate the bike

path. Many path uses also occur within the river channel, the indicators and targets for those activities are described in community uses. There was some disagreement in the rankings among recreational experts, but based on average ranking, depth was the most important indicator.

## **Aesthetic- Hard Bottom**

Table 10. Indicators and targets for aesthetic uses. Indicators with the highest ranking are highlighted. For most indicators, participants gave one or no specific target.

	Indicator	Average Rank	Stdev	Target	Kendall's W
				Aesthetic value is associated with the presence of wildlife. See wildlife viewing	
	Birding Indicators	4.20	1.60	indicators.	
ottom				Flow that ensures that there are no vector control issues, specific	0.02
ard Bo	Flow velocity	3.43	0.90	target is unknown	
etic-H				1.5 inches of water	
Aesth	Depth	3.14	0.83	in channel bottom	

				or low flow	
				channel	
	Presence of Water	2.57	1.05	Presence	
				80-90% of bank	
	Exposed Bank	1.43	0.73	exposed	
	Depth	3.67	1.03	Unknown	
	Flow velocity	3.50	1.05	Unknown	
				Aesthetic value is	
				associated with the	0.02
шо				presence of	0.02
ft Bott	Birding indicators	3.00	2.00	wildlife and birds	
ic-So:	Water Quality	2.00	0.89	Unknown	
esthet	Exposed Bank	1.83	1.17	Unknown	
A					

Aesthetic uses of the River occur year-round in both the soft bottom and cement bottom portions of the River and are tied to admiring the scale of the flood infrastructure, storm flows, and the presence of wildlife. Some aesthetic uses include photography and art. Recreational experts thought that flows were important to sustaining aesthetic uses along the River. The most important indicator in the soft bottom portions of the River is depth. The most important indicators in the hard bottom portions are the presence of wildlife and flow velocities. There was poor agreement among experts in the ranking of indicators.

# **Community Events**

Community Events and Unofficial GatheringsFlowFlowFlowNarratively described as flows that are low enough to be fully contained in the lowVelocity1.170.41flow channelUnofficial Gatherings0.14Depth target unknown. Narratively described as a depth of water that is low enough to be contained in the low0.14		Indicator	Mean	Stdev	Target	Kendall's W
	Community Events and Unofficial Gatherings	Flow Velocity Water Depth- Max	1.17	0.41	Flow target unknown. Narratively described as flows that are low enough to be fully contained in the low flow channel Depth target unknown. Narratively described as a depth of water that is low enough to be contained in the low flow channel	0.14

Table 11. Indicators and targets for community uses. Indicators with the highest ranking are highlighted. For most indicators, participants gave one or no specific target.

Community events, like the South East Los Angeles (SELA) Arts Festival, and unofficial uses (like gatherings and in-channel exercise) occur within the River channel. Unofficial uses occur year-round, except during storm events, while official community events, like SELA Arts

Festival, only take place during the summer. Recreational experts thought that reduced flows are important to sustaining these recreational activities and that water depth and flow velocities need to be fully contained within the low flow channel.

# Wading

Table 12. Indicators and targets for wading use. The indicator with the highest ranking is highlighted. For most indicators, participants gave one or no specific target.

	Indicator	Average Rank	Stdev	Target	Notes	Kendall W
	Level Surface	2.83	1.94	Unknown	Slipping hazard noted with sloped or slick surfaces	
lom	Access	3.00	1.87	Unknown	Gentle slope entering and exiting River is important	0.01
Wading- Soft Bot	Water Quality	3.50	1.05	Unknown	Smell and algae listed as concerns	
				Dominance of		
---------------	------	-------------	------------	----------------	--	
				sand and fine		
	3 67	1 07	Unknown	substrates to		
	5.07	1.97 UIKIOW	UIIKIIOWII	avoid slipping		
				and rough		
Substrate				surfaces		
	4 00	1 41	Unknown	Described as		
Flow Velocity				"gentle flows"		
				Depth of		
	4.17	1.94	18 inches	water to reach		
Depth				the knee		

Wading occurs in the spring and summer along many reaches of the Los Angeles River. According to experts, wading is rare and dangerous along the hard bottom reaches. In the soft bottom portions of the River, depth and velocity are the most important indicators for sustaining this use. Recreational experts did not differentiate between wading and swimming, particularly because swimming is rare along the River. There was poor agreement among experts in the ranking of wading indicators.

# Boating

Table 13. Indicators and targets for the kayaking/boating use. Indicators with the highest ranking are highlighted. For most indicators, participants only gave one target, and there was no disagreement within the group. However, in reach 5, one participant noted that 6 inches of water depth was conducive to good kayaking conditions. This depth is lower than the 18 inches required along the Glendale Narrows.

	Indicator	Average Rank	Standard Deviation	Target	Notes	Kendall's W
	Flow Velocity	1.50	0.84	Unknown		
	Water Quality	2.33	0.82	Unknown	Smell and algal blooms listed as principal concern	
	Access	2.67	1.21	Unknown	Sub-indicators related to safety of users in entering and exiting the River	0.06
30ating- Hard Bottom	Depth	3.50	0.84	6" poor, 18" good, 25" optimal	Depth required also depends on vessel and weight of the person. Targets are best estimates.	

	% Veg Cover	2.33	1.97	Unknown	15% poor, 30% good	
	Substrate	3.33	2.42	Unknown	Sandy substrate ensure that users to not fall or slip. Currently the river has some sharp pieces of cement along the channel bottom. These sharp substrates can create dangerous conditions for users.	0.07
Boating- Soft Bottom	Proximity to vegetation	3.60	1.82	Unknown	Boating near vegetation and a vegetative buffer important to recreational uses	

Water Quality	3.83	1.33	Unknown	Algae and smell listed as main concerns	
Flow Velocity	4.17	1.47	Unknown	According to experts, the range of flow velocities observed during the summer do not affect boating activities.	
Access	4.83	1.17	Unknown	Sub-indicators related to safety of users in entering and exiting the River	
Depth	6.40	1.95	6" poor, 18" good, 25" optimal	Given the complexity of the channel bottom, experts thought that the depth indicator should be	

		applied to the most	
		elevated sections	
		of the River. Depth	
		required also	
		depends on vessel	
		and weight of the	
		person. Targets are	
		best estimates	

Boating along the River largely occurs during the summer months (from Memorial Day to the end of September). Depth is an important indicator for sustaining boating along the Los Angeles River in both soft bottom and cement bottom sections. One expert noted that the reaches currently lack the flow that would host optimal conditions for boating.

Though experts expressed uncertainty and difficulty in defining targets, particularly given the complexity and heterogeneity of the soft bottom portions of the River, there was strong agreement regarding the targets that were selected. Experts noted that there was only a single gauge that provided real time data for the River, the USGS gauge at the Sepulveda Basin, and that estimated flow targets were educated guesses based on the limited data that is available. One expert also noted that conditions were poor for kayaking at volumes that exceeded 2,000 CFS at the Sepulveda Basin.

Experts noted that boating is best in the afternoon, when releases from Publically Owned Treatment Works (POTW) provide enough water for kayaking and worse in the mornings when POTW releases are reduced. Since the Sepulveda Basin is relatively flat compared to the

Glendale Narrows, one expert thought that 6 inches of water along this reach would be sufficient

to support kayaking. Not all experts agreed.

## Fishing

Table 14. Indicators and targets for fishing uses. The indicators with the highest ranking are highlighted. For most indicators, experts had difficulty in defining targets for the species currently found along the channelized portions of the River and thought biologists could better estimate flow targets. The targets listed are for trout, which, according to fishing experts, would suit a larger assemblage of fish species.

Indicator	Average Rank	Stdev	Target	Notes
Volume	1.86	1.07	20 CFS (trout)	
			Unknown, DO	
			and nutrients	
			identified as	
			important to	
			sustaining fish	
Water Quality	2	0.93	populations	
			Max of 6 ft/s	Suggested
			for trout,	by fishing
			2-3 ft/s for	expert after
			people to	the group
			comfortably	interview.
Flow Velocity	2	-	wade	Ranked
	Indicator Volume Water Quality Flow Velocity	IndicatorAverage RankVolume1.86Water Quality2Flow Velocity2	IndicatorAverage RankStdevVolume1.861.07Water Quality20.93Water Quality2-	IndicatorAverage RankStdevTargetVolume1.861.0720 CFS (trout)Unknown, DO and nutrients identified as important to sustaining fishUnknown, DO and nutrients identified as important to sustaining fishWater Quality20.93populationsWater Quality20.93Max of 6 ft/s for trout, 

					most
					important.
				Minimum of 12	
				inches, 36 is	
				maximum	
				depth that	
				anglers can	
				comfortably	
	Depth	2.29	1.18	wade	
	Spring Flow	2	1.15	Unknown	
	Algae Cover	2.5	1.97	Unknown	
				Minimum of 12	
				inches, 36 is	
				maximum	
				depth that	
				anglers can	
				comfortably	
	Depth	3.57	0.98	wade	
	Water Area	3.67	2.64	Unknown	
, Soft				Unknown-	
Fishing	Contaminant Level	3.67	0.82	concern is bio-	

			accumulating
			contaminants
			that cause harm
			to wildlife and
			people
			Unknown,
			nutrients and
Water Quality	4.17	3.31	DO is concern
			2-3 ft/s is safest
Flow Velocity	4.29	1.25	for anglers
%Vegetative Cover	5.33	0.52	Unknown
			60-65° F for
Temperature	6.14	1.95	trout
			Unknown-
			narratively
			described as
			varying depths,
			velocities,
			riffles, pools,
			runs, fast/slow
Habitat Complexity	6.57	0.53	water

Fishing occurs year round, except during storm events, but is more common during the recreational season that spans from Memorial Day to late September. Fishing is limited to the soft bottom portions of the Los Angeles River. According to fishing experts, fish are occasionally seen along the cement channel, but the lack of channel complexity that helps create flow refugia would make it unlikely that these areas are able to sustain fish populations and regular fishing activities. Popular locations for fishing are the Sepulveda Dam and the soft bottom portions of the River that occur from Forest Lawn (reach 4) to the Arroyo Seco (reach 3), and the soft bottom areas near Willow Street.

There were several non-flow related indicators that were important to fishing uses including habitat complexity and vegetative cover. The important flow related indicators were temperature and velocity in the soft bottom portions and depth in the cement bottom areas. Fishing experts were not present at the group interview, so the indicators varied considerably between the group interview and individual interviews. As a result, Kendall's coefficient of concordance could not be calculated. One of the fishing experts added resting pool depth, slope, and active channel width to the list of indicators along the soft-bottom areas. This expert ranked volume and depth as the most important indicators in the soft bottom sections, and ranked volume and velocity as the most important indicators along the hard bottom sections. Fishing experts noted that reduced flows would not negatively affect fishing activities but that a depth of at least 12 inches is necessary to sustain fishing activities.

Generally, experts had difficulty in identifying flow targets for this use and suggested that biologist define appropriate flow targets. The fish specific targets that are described in Table 14

are for trout and not the species that are commonly found along the main-stem of the Los

Angeles River.

# **Horseback Riding**

Table 15. Indicators and targets for horseback riding. The indicator with the highest ranking is highlighted. For most indicators, experts had difficulty in defining targets. Unlike other uses, horseback riding experts (n=2) perfectly agreed on the indicators and the ranking of those indicators.

	Average			
Indicator	Ranking	Stdev	Target	Notes
Flow				
Velocity	3	0	Unknown	
Depth	2	0	Unknown	
				Reach 3 of the river
				has reduced flood
				capacity. This target
				is for horseback
			34,700	riding that occurs
			CFS along	adjacent to the
			reach 3,	River. The volume
			unknown	target is unknown
			in other	for all other
Volume	1	0	reaches	locations.

Horseback riding along the River occurs year round except during storm events. In reach 2, the equestrian trail is on the toe of the slope of the River channel, opposite of the River. Horseback riders have no contact with the River along this reach unless they are accessing underpasses as crossings.

Originally, horseback riding was grouped with path uses because experts thought that horseback riding was largely unaffected by flows unless they were on the bike path during a large storm. However, horseback riding occurs both in-channel and adjacent to the channel along reach 3, near Griffith Park. Since some horseback riders will ride in-channel in reach 3, the targets for velocity, depth, and volume would be lower along this reach of the River.

The most important flow indicator for sustaining horseback riding activities was flow velocity. Experts could not identify a velocity target, neither along trails or in-channel. Though the experts that were interviewed for this use were most familiar with a single reach, experts were in perfect agreement regarding the rankings across reaches.

### 2.6 References

- Anderson, B. J., Armsworth, P. R., Eigenbrod, F., Thomas, C. D., Gillings, S., Heinemeyer, A., Roy, D. B., & Gaston, K. J. (2009). Spatial covariance between biodiversity and other ecosystem service priorities. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 46(4), 888–896. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2009.01666.x
- Andersson, E., Tengö, M., McPhearson, T., & Kremer, P. (2015). Cultural ecosystem services as a gateway for improving urban sustainability. *Ecosystem Services*, 12, 165–168. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.08.002
- Arslan, E. S., & Örücü, Ö. K. (2020). Maxent modelling of the potential distribution areas of cultural ecosystem services using social media data and GIS. *Environment, Development* and Sustainability, 1–13.
- Basch, C. E. (1987). Focus group interview: An underutilized research technique for improving theory and practice in health education. *Health Education Quarterly*, *14*(4), 411–448.
- Becken, S., Stantic, B., Chen, J., Alaei, A. R., & Connolly, R. M. (2017). Monitoring the environment and human sentiment on the Great Barrier Reef: Assessing the potential of collective sensing. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 203, 87–97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2017.07.007
- Bernetti, I., Chirici, G., & Sacchelli, S. (2019a). Big data and evaluation of cultural ecosystem services: An analysis based on geotagged photographs from social media in Tuscan forest (Italy). https://doi.org/10.3832/ifor2821-011

- Bernetti, I., Chirici, G., & Sacchelli, S. (2019b). Big data and evaluation of cultural ecosystem services: An analysis based on geotagged photographs from social media in Tuscan forest (Italy). *IForest-Biogeosciences and Forestry*, 12(1), 98.
- Bernhardt, E. S., Palmer, M. A., Allan, J. D., Alexander, G., Barnas, K., Brooks, S., Carr, J., Clayton, S., Dahm, C., & Follstad-Shah, J. (2005). *Synthesizing US river restoration efforts*. American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- Bing, Z., Qiu, Y., Huang, H., Chen, T., Zhong, W., & Jiang, H. (2021). Spatial distribution of cultural ecosystem services demand and supply in urban and suburban areas: A case study from Shanghai, China. *Ecological Indicators*, *127*, 107720. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2021.107720
- Botkin, D. B., & Beveridge, C. E. (1997). Cities as environments. Urban Ecosystems, 1, 3–19.
- Cairns, J., & Pratt, J. R. (1995). The Relationship Between Ecosystem Health and Delivery of Ecosystem Services. In D. J. Rapport, C. L. Gaudet, & P. Calow (Eds.), *Evaluating and Monitoring the Health of Large-Scale Ecosystems* (pp. 63–76). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Carlsen, J., & Wood, D. (2004). Assessment of the Economic Value of Recreation and Tourism in Western Australia's National Parks, Marine Parks, and Forests (Sustainable Tourism CRC).

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.471.3580&rep=rep1&type=pdf

Casalegno, S., Inger, R., DeSilvey, C., & Gaston, K. J. (2013). Spatial Covariance between Aesthetic Value & Other Ecosystem Services. *PLOS ONE*, 8(6), e68437. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0068437

- Chan, K. M., Satterfield, T., & Goldstein, J. (2012). Rethinking ecosystem services to better address and navigate cultural values. Ecological Economics, 74, 8–18.
- Charlene, G., Alexis, M., Marc, E., & Thomas, S. (2020). SDMPlay: Species Distribution Modelling Playground (1.3) [Computer software]. https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=SDMPlay
- Chen, Y., Parkins, J. R., & Sherren, K. (2018). Using geo-tagged Instagram posts to reveal landscape values around current and proposed hydroelectric dams and their reservoirs. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 170, 283–292.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2017.07.004

- Choi, B. C. K., & Pak, A. W. P. (2004). A Catalog of Biases in Questionnaires. *Preventing Chronic Disease*, 2(1), A13.
- Coombes, E., Jones, A. P., & Hillsdon, M. (2010). The relationship of physical activity and overweight to objectively measured green space accessibility and use. *Social Science & Medicine*, 70(6), 816–822. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2009.11.020
- Cooper, D. (2006). SHOREBIRD USE OF THE LOWER LOS ANGELES RIVER CHANNEL: A NOVEL WETLAND HABITAT.
- CWH. (2018). 2018 State of the Los Angeles River Watershed. Council for Watershed Health. https://c776b17b-7873-4634-9014-

b3a3f54a40e8.filesusr.com/ugd/ceb944\_7f6deab1c8c24ef6a890e89d1d92ca97.pdf

D'Arcy, B., & Frost, A. (2001). The role of best management practices in alleviating water quality problems associated with diffuse pollution. *Science of The Total Environment*, 265(1), 359–367. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0048-9697(00)00676-8

- De Longueville, B., Smith, R. S., & Luraschi, G. (2009). Omg, from here, i can see the flames!:
   A use case of mining location based social networks to acquire spatio-temporal data on forest fires. *Proceedings of the 2009 International Workshop on Location Based Social Networks*, 73–80.
- Do, Y. (2019). Valuating aesthetic benefits of cultural ecosystem services using conservation culturomics. *Ecosystem Services*, 36, 100894. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2019.100894
- Doi, H., Katano, I., Negishi, J. N., Sanada, S., & Kayaba, Y. (2013). Effects of biodiversity, habitat structure, and water quality on recreational use of rivers. *Ecosphere*, 4(8), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1890/ES12-00305.1
- Donahue, M. L., Keeler, B. L., Wood, S. A., Fisher, D. M., Hamstead, Z. A., & McPhearson, T. (2018). Using social media to understand drivers of urban park visitation in the Twin Cities, MN. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 175, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2018.02.006
- Dou, Y., Zhen, L., De Groot, R., Du, B., & Yu, X. (2017). Assessing the importance of cultural ecosystem services in urban areas of Beijing municipality. *Ecosystem Services*, 24, 79–90. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2017.02.011
- Drijfhout, M., Kendal, D., Vohl, D., & Green, P. T. (2016). Sentiment Analysis: Ready for conservation. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 14(10), 525–526. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.1435

Dunkel, A. (2015). Visualizing the perceived environment using crowdsourced photo geodata. Landscape and Urban Planning, 142, 173–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2015.02.022

Elith, J., Phillips, S. J., Hastie, T., Dudík, M., Chee, Y. E., & Yates, C. J. (2011). A statistical explanation of Maxent for ecologists. *Diversity and Distributions*, *17*(1), 43–57.

Figueroa-Alfaro, R. W., & Tang, Z. (2017). Evaluating the aesthetic value of cultural ecosystem services by mapping geo-tagged photographs from social media data on Panoramio and Flickr. *Journal of Environmental Planning and Management*, 60(2), 266–281. https://doi.org/10.1080/09640568.2016.1151772

- Fuchs, G., Andrienko, N., Andrienko, G., Bothe, S., & Stange, H. (2013). Tracing the German centennial flood in the stream of tweets: First lessons learned. *Proceedings of the Second* ACM SIGSPATIAL International Workshop on Crowdsourced and Volunteered Geographic Information, 31–38.
- Fuller, R. A., Irvine, K. N., Devine-Wright, P., Warren, P. H., & Gaston, K. J. (2007).
  Psychological benefits of greenspace increase with biodiversity. *Biology Letters*, 3(4), 390–394.
- Gobster, P. H., & Westphal, L. M. (2004). The human dimensions of urban greenways: Planning for recreation and related experiences. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 68(2–3), 147– 165. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-2046(03)00162-2
- Gómez-Baggethun, E., & Barton, D. N. (2013). Classifying and valuing ecosystem services for urban planning. *Ecological Economics*, 86, 235–245.

- Guo, Z., Zhang, L., & Li, Y. (2010). Increased Dependence of Humans on Ecosystem Services and Biodiversity. *PLOS ONE*, 5(10), e13113. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0013113
- Hale, R. L., Cook, E. M., & Beltrán, B. J. (2019). Cultural ecosystem services provided by rivers across diverse social-ecological landscapes: A social media analysis. *Ecological Indicators*, 107, 105580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.105580
- Hansen, L. K., Arvidsson, A., Nielsen, F. A., Colleoni, E., & Etter, M. (2011). Good Friends,
  Bad News—Affect and Virality in Twitter. In J. J. Park, L. T. Yang, & C. Lee (Eds.), *Future Information Technology* (Vol. 185, pp. 34–43). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-22309-9\_5
- Havinga, I., Bogaart, P. W., Hein, L., & Tuia, D. (2020). Defining and spatially modelling cultural ecosystem services using crowdsourced data. *Ecosystem Services*, 43, 101091.
- Hecht, B., & Stephens, M. (2014). A Tale of Cities: Urban Biases in Volunteered Geographic Information. *Proceedings of the International AAAI Conference on Web and Social Media*, 8(1), 197–205.
- Hein, L., van Koppen, K., de Groot, R. S., & van Ierland, E. C. (2006). Spatial scales, stakeholders and the valuation of ecosystem services. *Ecological Economics*, 57(2), 209– 228. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolecon.2005.04.005
- Hijmans, R. J., Etten, J. van, Sumner, M., Cheng, J., Baston, D., Bevan, A., Bivand, R., Busetto,
  L., Canty, M., Fasoli, B., Forrest, D., Ghosh, A., Golicher, D., Gray, J., Greenberg, J. A.,
  Hiemstra, P., Hingee, K., Geosciences, I. for M. A., Karney, C., ... Wueest, R. (2021).

*raster: Geographic Data Analysis and Modeling* (3.4-13) [Computer software]. https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=raster

- Hua, J., & Chen, W. Y. (2019). Prioritizing urban rivers' ecosystem services: An importanceperformance analysis. *Cities*, 94, 11–23. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cities.2019.05.014
- Hudson, S., & Ritchie, B. (2001). Tourist attitudes towards the environment: A critique of the contingent valuation method as a research tool for measuring willingness to pay. *Journal* of Teaching in Travel & Tourism, 1(4), 1–18.
- Hutcheson, W., Hoagland, P., & Jin, D. (2018). Valuing environmental education as a cultural ecosystem service at Hudson River Park. *Ecosystem Services*, *31*, 387–394. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2018.03.005
- Ignite. (2012, July 31). 2012 Social Network Analysis Report Demographic Geographic and Search Data Revealed. Ignite Social Media Agency. https://www.ignitesocialmedia.com

ITU. (2018). Measuring the Information Society Report. 204.

Jim, C. Y., & Chen, W. Y. (2006). Recreation–amenity use and contingent valuation of urban greenspaces in Guangzhou, China. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 75(1–2), 81–96.

Kaltenborn, B. P., & Bjerke, T. (2002). Associations between environmental value orientations and landscape preferences. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 59(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-2046(01)00243-2

Kant, S., & Lee, S. (2004). A social choice approach to sustainable forest management: An analysis of multiple forest values in Northwestern Ontario. *Forest Policy and Economics*, 6(3), 215–227. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.forpol.2004.03.005

- Kaplan, A. M., & Haenlein, M. (2010). Users of the world, unite! The challenges and opportunities of Social Media. *Business Horizons*, 53(1), 59–68. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bushor.2009.09.003
- Keeler, B. L., Wood, S. A., Polasky, S., Kling, C., Filstrup, C. T., & Downing, J. A. (2015).
  Recreational demand for clean water: Evidence from geotagged photographs by visitors to lakes. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, *13*(2), 76–81.
  https://doi.org/10.1890/140124
- Kelly, J. S. (2013). Social Choice Theory: An Introduction. Springer Science & Business Media.
- Kemp, S. (2019). Digital 2019: Global Digital Yearbook. DataReportal Global Digital Insights. https://datareportal.com/reports/digital-2019-global-digital-yearbook
- Ken Cordell, H., Bergstrom, J. C., Ashley, G. A., & Karish, J. (1990). ECONOMIC EFFECTS OF RIVER RECREATION ON LOCAL ECONOMIES. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 26(1), 53–60.
- Krueger, R. A., & Casey, M. A. (2014). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research. Sage publications.
- Kuo, F. E., Sullivan, W. C., Coley, R. L., & Brunson, L. (1998). Fertile Ground for Community: Inner-City Neighborhood Common Spaces. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 26(6), 823–851. https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1022294028903
- Langemeyer, J., Baró, F., Roebeling, P., & Gómez-Baggethun, E. (2015). Contrasting values of cultural ecosystem services in urban areas: The case of park Montjuïc in Barcelona. *Ecosystem Services*, 12, 178–186. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2014.11.016

- LARWQCB. (2014). Recreational use Reassessmemt (RECUR) of the Engineered Channels of the Los Angels River Watershed [Technical Report]. Los Angeles Regional Water Quality Control Board.
- Laukkanen, S., Palander, T., & Kangas, J. (2004). Applying voting theory in participatory decision support for sustainable timber harvesting. *Canadian Journal of Forest Research*, 34(7), 1511–1524. https://doi.org/10.1139/x04-044
- Lindsey, G., & Knaap, G. (1999). Willingness to Pay for Urban Greenway Projects. Journal of the American Planning Association, 65(3), 297–313. https://doi.org/10.1080/01944369908976059
- Lobo, J. M., Jiménez-Valverde, A., & Real, R. (2008). AUC: A misleading measure of the performance of predictive distribution models. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 17(2), 145–151. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2007.00358.x
- Lyons, E. (1983). Demographic Correlates of Landscape Preference. *Environment and Behavior*, *15*(4), 487–511. https://doi.org/10.1177/0013916583154005
- Maas, J., Verheij, R. A., Groenewegen, P. P., Vries, S. de, & Spreeuwenberg, P. (2006). Green space, urbanity, and health: How strong is the relation? *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 60(7), 587–592. https://doi.org/10.1136/jech.2005.043125
- Mah, A. (2017). Environmental justice in the age of big data: Challenging toxic blind spots of voice, speed, and expertise. *Environmental Sociology*, 3(2), 122–133.
- Majumdar, S., Deng, J., Zhang, Y., & Pierskalla, C. (2011). Using contingent valuation to estimate the willingness of tourists to pay for urban forests: A study in Savannah,

Georgia. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 10(4), 275–280. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2011.07.006

- Mancini, F., Coghill, G. M., & Lusseau, D. (2019). Quantifying wildlife watchers' preferences to investigate the overlap between recreational and conservation value of natural areas. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 56(2), 387–397. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2664.13274
- Manikonda, L., Hu, Y., & Kambhampati, S. (2014). Analyzing User Activities, Demographics, Social Network Structure and User-Generated Content on Instagram. ArXiv:1410.8099 [Physics]. http://arxiv.org/abs/1410.8099
- Mashhadi, A., Winder, S. G., Lia, E. H., & Wood, S. A. (2020). Quantifying Biases in Social Media Analysis of Recreation in Urban Parks. 2020 IEEE International Conference on Pervasive Computing and Communications Workshops (PerCom Workshops), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1109/PerComWorkshops48775.2020.9156262
- Mazor, R. D. (2015). Bioassessment of Perennial Streams in Southern California: A Report on the First Five Years of the Stormwater Monitoring Coalition's Regional Stream Survey. SCCWRP.
- MEA. (2005). Assessment: Ecosystems and human well-being—Google Scholar. World Health Organization.

https://scholar.google.com/scholar\_lookup?title=Ecosystems%20and%20Human%20Wel l-

Being%3A%20Synthesis&publication\_year=2005&author=Millennium%20Ecosystem% 20Assessment Millenium Ecosystem Assessment. (2005). Ecosystems and human well-being: Wetland and water. Synthesis. Available Online: Http://Www. Millenniumassessment. Org/Proxy/Document, 358.

http://millenniumassessment.org/documents/MA\_wetlands%26water-Chinese.pdf

- Muscarella, R., Galante, P. J., Soley-Guardia, M., Boria, R. A., Kass, J., Uriarte, M., &
  Anderson, R. P. (2014). ENMeval: An R package for conducting spatially independent evaluations and estimating optimal model complexity for ecological niche models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*.
- Nielsen, A. F. (2011). AFINN. Informatics and Mathematical Modelling, Technical University of Denmark. http://www2.imm.dtu.dk/pubdb/pubs/6010-full.html
- Nielsen, F. Å. (2011). A new ANEW: Evaluation of a word list for sentiment analysis in microblogs. ArXiv:1103.2903 [Cs]. http://arxiv.org/abs/1103.2903
- Norton, L. R., Inwood, H., Crowe, A., & Baker, A. (2012). Trialling a method to quantify the 'cultural services' of the English landscape using Countryside Survey data. *Land Use Policy*, 29(2), 449–455.
- O'Connor, B., Ramnath, B., Routledge, B. R., & Smith, N. A. (2010). From Tweets to Polls: Linking Text Sentiment to Public Opinion Time Series. *Proceedings of the Fourth International AAAI Conference on Weblogs and Social Media*, 8.
- Pebesma, E. (2018). Simple Features for R: Standardized Support for Spatial Vector Data. *The R Journal*, *10*(1), 439–446.

Pebesma, E., & Bivand, R. S. (2005). Classes and methods for spatial data in R. R News, 5(2).

- Phillips, S. J., Anderson, R. P., & Schapire, R. E. (2006). Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic distributions. *Ecological Modelling*, 190(3–4), 231–259.
- Plieninger, T., Dijks, S., Oteros-Rozas, E., & Bieling, C. (2013). Assessing, mapping, and quantifying cultural ecosystem services at community level. *Land Use Policy*, 33, 118– 129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landusepol.2012.12.013
- Polizzi, C., Simonetto, M., Barausse, A., Chaniotou, N., Känkänen, R., Keränen, S., Manzardo,
  A., Mustajärvi, K., Palmeri, L., & Scipioni, A. (2015). Is ecosystem restoration worth the effort? The rehabilitation of a Finnish river affects recreational ecosystem services. *Ecosystem Services*, 14, 158–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2015.01.001
- Powell, R. A., & Single, H. M. (1996). Focus groups. *International Journal for Quality in Health Care*, 8(5), 499–504.
- Pyle, A., & Berger, L. (1992, February 15). Boy's Death Prompts Calls for Changes:
  Emergencies: Adam Bischoff's drowning has police considering water-rescue classes and other measures to prevent a repeat occurrence. *Los Angeles Times*.
  https://www.latimes.com/archives/la-xpm-1992-02-15-me-1781-story.html
- Quercia, D., Aiello, L. M., & Schifanella, R. (2018). Diversity of indoor activities and economic development of neighborhoods. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(6), e0198441. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0198441
- R. Core Team. (2017). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. (4.0.3) [Computer software]. https://www.R-project.org/
- Rabiee, F. (2004). Focus-group interview and data analysis. *Proceedings of the Nutrition Society*, 63(04), 655–660. https://doi.org/10.1079/PNS2004399

- Raes, N., & ter Steege, H. (2007). A Null-Model for Significance Testing of Presence-Only Species Distribution Models. *Ecography*, 30(5), 727–736.
- Raudsepp-Hearne, C., Peterson, G. D., & Bennett, E. M. (2010). Ecosystem service bundles for analyzing tradeoffs in diverse landscapes. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 107(11), 5242–5247. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0907284107
- Richards, D. R., & Friess, D. A. (2015). A rapid indicator of cultural ecosystem service usage at a fine spatial scale: Content analysis of social media photographs. *Ecological Indicators*, 53, 187–195. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2015.01.034
- Richards, D. R., Warren, P. H., Maltby, L., & Moggridge, H. L. (2017). Awareness of greater numbers of ecosystem services affects preferences for floodplain management. *Ecosystem Services*, 24, 138–146.
- Rocha, V. (2017, February 28). Death of 14-year-old boy found in L.A. River is ruled accidental drowning. *Los Angeles Times*. https://www.latimes.com/local/lanow/la-me-ln-missingboy-accidental-drowning-20170228-story.html
- Rodríguez, J. P., Beard, T. D., Bennett, E. M., Cumming, G. S., Cork, S. J., Agard, J., Dobson,
  A. P., & Peterson, G. D. (2006). Trade-offs across Space, Time, and Ecosystem Services. *Ecology and Society*, 11(1). https://www.jstor.org/stable/26267786

SentiStrength. (n.d.). CyberEmotions Project. http://sentistrength.wlv.ac.uk/

Shanahan, D. F., Lin, B. B., Gaston, K. J., Bush, R., & Fuller, R. A. (2015). What is the role of trees and remnant vegetation in attracting people to urban parks? *Landscape Ecology*, 30(1), 153–165. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-014-0113-0

- Shrestha, R. K., Stein, T. V., & Clark, J. (2007). Valuing nature-based recreation in public natural areas of the Apalachicola River region, Florida. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 85(4), 977–985.
- Silge, J., & Robinson, D. (2016). 1 The tidy text format | Text Mining with R. JOSS, 1(3). https://doi.org/10.21105/joss.00037
- Sinclair, M., Ghermandi, A., & Sheela, A. M. (2018). A crowdsourced valuation of recreational ecosystem services using social media data: An application to a tropical wetland in India. *Science of The Total Environment*, 642, 356–365.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.06.056

- Smithson, J. (2000). Using and analysing focus groups: Limitations and possibilities. International Journal of Social Research Methodology, 3(2), 103–119. https://doi.org/10.1080/136455700405172
- Srdjevic, B. (2007). Linking analytic hierarchy process and social choice methods to support group decision-making in water management. *Decision Support Systems*, 42(4), 2261– 2273. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dss.2006.08.001
- Stamps, A. E. (1999). Demographic Effects in Environmental Aesthetics: A Meta-Analysis. Journal of Planning Literature, 14(2), 155–175.

https://doi.org/10.1177/08854129922092630

Stigsdotter, U. K., Ekholm, O., Schipperijn, J., Toftager, M., Kamper-Jørgensen, F., & Randrup,
T. B. (2010). Health promoting outdoor environments—Associations between green
space, and health, health-related quality of life and stress based on a Danish national

representative survey. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, *38*(4), 411–417. https://doi.org/10.1177/1403494810367468

- Thiele, J., Albert, C., Hermes, J., & von Haaren, C. (2020). Assessing and quantifying offered cultural ecosystem services of German river landscapes. *Ecosystem Services*, 42, 101080. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2020.101080
- Thorp, J. H., Flotemersch, J. E., Delong, M. D., Casper, A. F., Thoms, M. C., Ballantyne, F.,
  Williams, B. S., O'neill, B. J., & Haase, S. C. (2010). Linking Ecosystems Services,
  Rehabilitation, and River Hydrogeomorphology. *Bioscience*, 60(1), 67–74.
- Twohig-Bennett, C., & Jones, A. (2018). The health benefits of the great outdoors: A systematic review and meta-analysis of greenspace exposure and health outcomes. *Environmental Research*, 166, 628–637. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2018.06.030
- Tyrväinen, L., & Väänänen, H. (1998). The economic value of urban forest amenities: An application of the contingent valuation method. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 43(1), 105–118. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-2046(98)00103-0
- Van Berkel, D. B., Tabrizian, P., Dorning, M. A., Smart, L., Newcomb, D., Mehaffey, M., Neale, A., & Meentemeyer, R. K. (2018). Quantifying the visual-sensory landscape qualities that contribute to cultural ecosystem services using social media and LiDAR. *Ecosystem Services*, *31*, 326–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2018.03.022
- van Zanten, B. T., Van Berkel, D. B., Meentemeyer, R. K., Smith, J. W., Tieskens, K. F., & Verburg, P. H. (2016). Continental-scale quantification of landscape values using social media data. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(46), 12974–12979. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1614158113

- van Zanten, B. T., Zasada, I., Koetse, M. J., Ungaro, F., Häfner, K., & Verburg, P. H. (2016). A comparative approach to assess the contribution of landscape features to aesthetic and recreational values in agricultural landscapes. *Ecosystem Services*, 17, 87–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoser.2015.11.011
- Walsh, C. J., Roy, A. H., Feminella, J. W., Cottingham, P. D., Groffman, P. M., & Morgan, R. P. (2005). The urban stream syndrome: Current knowledge and the search for a cure. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 24(3), 706–723. https://doi.org/10.1899/04-028.1
- Westcott, F., & Andrew, M. E. (2015). Spatial and environmental patterns of off-road vehicle recreation in a semi-arid woodland. *Applied Geography*, 62, 97–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apgeog.2015.04.011
- White, M., Smith, A., Humphryes, K., Pahl, S., Snelling, D., & Depledge, M. (2010). Blue space: The importance of water for preference, affect, and restorativeness ratings of natural and built scenes. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 30(4), 482–493.
- Wood, S. A., Guerry, A. D., Silver, J. M., & Lacayo, M. (2013). Using social media to quantify nature-based tourism and recreation. *Scientific Reports*, 3, 2976.
- Yu, K. (1995). Cultural variations in landscape preference: Comparisons among Chinese subgroups and Western design experts. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 32(2), 107–126. https://doi.org/10.1016/0169-2046(94)00188-9

# **3** Understanding the relationship between species presence and site characteristics in Southern California Streams using citizen science.

### 3.1 Introduction

Riparian areas are the narrow mesic corridors along streams, rivers, and lakes where hydrophytic species, in a patchwork of upland and unvegetated areas, experience moist soil conditions due to flooding or shallow groundwater. In the Mediterranean climate of the southwest United States, riparian areas provide food, shelter, nesting and breeding grounds, and a movement corridor for about 80 percent of all wildlife due to the availability of water and the dense, complex habitat structure that is often otherwise missing in dry upland areas (Krueper, 1995). Today, many of these corridors are biologically impoverished due to habitat loss, invasive species, overexploitation, pollution, and climate change (Allan & Flecker, 1993). The urban areas that lie adjacent to many streams and rivers host cosmopolitan species that exploit or adapt to external inputs and the simplified physical environments and food webs common across cities resulting in biological homogenization (McKinney, 2006; Olden & Poff, 2003; Rebele, 1994). However, cities can host heightened levels of biodiversity. Studies have found that gardens, depending on the taxa of interest, size, and garden features, contribute to urban biodiversity (Schwartz et al., 2002). Declining biodiversity threatens the loss of valued societal services and products (Cardinale et al., 2012) due to the role organisms play in the formation of ecosystems (Jones et al., 1996), the maintenance of biogeochemical cycles (Beare et al., 1995; Braeckman et

al., 2014; Silver et al., 1996), and ecosystem productivity (Isbell et al., 2015; Tilman & Downing, 1994; van der Heijden et al., 1998). As cities in the region focus on building sustainable cities, revitalizing waterfronts, and designing and managing cities and their rivers to increase ecosystem services, ecologist need to better understand biodiversity and the opportunities for restoration along urbanized rivers. This study will focus on better understanding species habitat relationships for target avian species found along urban rivers so as to inform urban habitat restoration and conservation.

Rehabilitating and restoring riparian areas, particularly those centered among urban land uses, will be an immense challenge, in part because of recurring anthropogenic disturbance, fundamental shifts in function and composition (Hobbs et al., 2009) of urban ecosystems, and previous restoration efforts that poorly inform future work (Grayson et al., 1999). However, restoration is a critical strategy for the repair and sustainable management of our lands, particularly in areas where land is so altered that conservation is no longer a feasible option (Hobbs & Harris, 2001). However, restoration is still in many ways a nascent science and analysis of past restoration efforts have identified that there are no agreed upon criteria, a lack of long term data, and overtly starry eyed assessments of restoration success that are largely anchored in public opinion (Bernhardt et al., 2007; Palmer et al., 2005; Woolsey et al., 2007). Hobbs and Norton (1996) describe a favored restoration framework by which managers identify causes of degradation, determine realistic remedies, goals, and metrics, monitor project success, and develop processes for implementing goals into planning and land management. Systematic approaches, like those advocated by Hobbs and Norton, are still relatively rare. This is especially true because realistic goal setting can be a difficult exercise (Ehrenfeld, 2000), particularly in the absence of guidance for restoration prioritization or of the environmental variables that govern species distributions so as to inform remediation and goal setting.

Species distribution models (SDMs) make use of computer algorithms, along with species observations and a gridded landscape of environmental predictors, to predict species occurrence in geographic space and identify predictors important to habitat suitability. They can be important tool for restoration by identifying restoration hotspots and the variables that govern species distributions (Asadalla et al., 2021), and can thus inform goal development, management, and planning. SDMs are particularly helpful when selection of the environmental variables is based on capturing disturbances, resources, and the regulating factors that control ecophysiology (Guisan & Thuiller, 2005). SDMs have been used to understand the ecological requirements of species (Hirzel et al., 2002), barriers to dispersal (Guisan & Hofer, 2003), select target species for more climate resilient restoration projects (Gelviz-Gelvez et al., 2015), model habitat overlap for invasive Tamarisk and the native Southwestern Willow Flycatcher (York et al., 2011), identify sites for recovery and restoration (ElsäBer et al., 2013), and aid conservation planning and reserve design (Araújo et al., 2002; Howard et al., 1998). Traditionally, distribution models made use of presence/absence and abundance data and were reliant on regression and discriminant analysis (Elith & Leathwick, 2009). More recently, the lack of comprehensive multi-species biological survey data and extensive species presence records has led to the popularization and refinement of methods that make use of presence-only data, such as Maxent. Maxent is a type of SDM that estimates probability densities of species in covariate space using presence-only data by correlating species presence with the pattern in environmental variables where species occur (Elith et al., 2011; Phillips et al., 2006a). Presence only species distribution models have proven useful for making use of radiotelemetry, citizen science, and decades of

presence-only data from museum and herbarium collections. However, as with most models, there are many critiques of standard use and model assumptions.

Criticism of Maxent, in particular of the typical use of Maxent by the user community, and the use of citizen science data are plentiful. Bias in the data has been the principal concern among researchers, particularly in instances where a small number of species observations makes it difficult to identify signal from random noise due to model overfitting (R. P. Anderson & Gonzalez, 2011). There are key assumptions for the use of presence only models that are not always met in the published literature, which include random sampling or sampling that captures the range of covariates in the study area, in the least having made corrections for variation in sampling intensity (Yackulic et al., 2013). Another criticism is the packaged and automated nature of software packages that do not allow for model validation and assessment of model performance, particularly since the use of standard modeling parameters can significantly effect model performance (Elith & Leathwick, 2009; Phillips et al., 2009). Additionally, the standard model validation in Maxent, as provided by the guided user interface, usually occurs through splitting the data into test and training groups and assessing performance using a performance metric, such as area under the curve from receiver operating curves (AUC-ROC or AUC). This model validation approach can result in overly generous assessment of model performance for presence only or biased data (Olden et al., 2002).

However, the presence-only statistical conundrum appears to be less vexing as published work has strengthened arguments for the use of Maxent, since presence-only data also creates the imprints that reveal habitat suitability (Elith et al., 2011; Jiménez-Valverde et al., 2019) and investigations of model performance reveal that Maxent models can perform comparably to presence/absence distribution models (Elith et al., 2006). There has also been some focus on approaches for correcting spatial bias of data used for Maxent. The use of Thiessen polygons, for example, can also help visualize spatial bias, aid in correcting estimations about the likelihood of occurrence, as well as help focus future sampling efforts (Schulman et al., 2007). The target group background method is also a promising approach for reducing sampling bias but is not foolproof and can overcompensate and lead to false positives in under-sampled locales (Barber et al., 2022). Despite citizen science data reducing model vigor due to sampling bias and user classification error (Dickinson et al., 2010), correcting for these errors, using accurate data, and using ecologically appropriate predictor variables can produce reliable distribution models (Elith et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2018). The use of the Akaike Information Criterion (AIC) has also been discussed as an approach for refining model features and regularization parameters, since AIC penalizes models that overfit data, a likelier scenario in instances of biased data (Phillips et al., 2009; Warren & Seifert, 2011).

In Southern California, efforts to rehabilitate highly urbanized rivers are underway and provide an opportunity to better understand the biodiversity value and the opportunities for improving the ecology of urban Rivers. For example, many reaches of the Los Angeles River are currently subject to extensive hydro-modification, high temperatures, altered habitat, and nutrient inputs. The Los Angeles River also tends to host invasive aquatic species that are tolerant to the suite of stressors found in urban environments (The Nature Conservancy, 2016). However, considerable species diversity remains in soft-bottom portions of the River (The Nature Conservancy, 2016) and in the upper watershed, particularly within the large, open spaces within the Angeles National Forest. The urbanized rivers to the south, which face similar constraints, are also being re-imagined as amenities, habitat, and open space (City of San Diego, 2013). The ongoing efforts focused on the rehabilitation of urban streams can be supported by better

understanding the select native species that flourish along urban streams of the South Coast region and the environmental variables associated with habitat suitability. I will explore avian species habitat relationships at the catchment scale using Maxent. I will make use of publicly available data sources, in particular data freely available from eBird to answer: 1.) What is the relationship between bird species occurrence and habitat characteristics in California's South Coast streams; 2.) How can these relationships help guide restoration and management efforts in heavily urbanized streams; and 3.) What is the utility of Maxent and citizen science data to planners and project practitioners seeking to better inform actions focused on ecological rehabilitation?

#### **3.2 Methods**

I will examine the relationship between species presence and environmental variables at the catchment scale using Maxent species distribution models. The study area includes streams of coastal Southern California watersheds from Ventura to San Diego Counties. The area encompasses major metropolitan areas which have a diversity of stream typologies ranging from completely channelized areas, soft bottom, and completely natural streams, many at higher elevations further from population centers or in protected areas.

### 3.2.1 Biodiversity Data

Several million species observations records, many collected from applications that facilitate data collection by citizen scientist, are freely available online and have facilitated conservation and biodiversity research (Chandler et al., 2017.; Cooper et al., 2007; Shirey et al., 2019). A user friendly observation network and web application launched by the Cornell Lab of Ornithology and the National Audubon Society, eBird allows community members, ranging from the amateur to the sophisticated birder, to contribute observations using standardized protocols (Sullivan et al., 2009). I solely used eBird data since users provide metadata about sampling strategy and data that can estimate effort so as to enhance data quality (Johnston et al., 2020). The basic eBird dataset was downloaded in January 2021 for the entire state of California via ebird.org/data/download for the period between 2009 to 2018 time. Observations were clipped in R using a polygon of Southern California coastal watersheds, resulting in a data set of more than 105 million bird species observations. I further limited observations to those that had taken place in streams and river corridors by removing observations that occurred outside of a 250m buffer of known water bodies, which included stream/river, artificial path, and canal ditches, according to the National Hydrography Dataset.

Citizen science data present challenges for statistical analysis because observations can be clustered, non-random, and novice collectors can misidentify species (Dickinson et al., 2010). As a result, I implemented quality control measures for the use of eBird data and care in selecting appropriate species. I selected a subset of bird species for Maxent modeling by consulting three expert ornithologist for suggestions of species commonly observed in heavily urbanized and semi-natural streams/rivers and refined final species list based on overlapping recommendations, removing any species for consideration that had less than 1000 observations across the study area. Small sample sizes and under sampling of the landscape can effect model performance, despite Maxent outperforming many models in this respect (Wisz et al., 2008; Yackulic et al., 2013). Furthermore, to enhance data quality and reduce instances of erroneous species occurrences, I selected bird species for Maxent modeling that would not be easily confused for conspecifics by novice birders based on expert knowledge. The species selected for semi-natural streams included the cinnamon teal (*Spatula cyanoptera*) and yellow warbler (Setophaga petechia) and, in heavily urbanized streams, the black phoebe (Sayornis nigricans) and black-necked stilt (Himantopus mexicanus). Additionally, groups of highly urban and seminatural species were also modeled together to broadly understand species habitat relationships across the two stream typologies. The highly urban species list included the barn swallow (Hirundo rustica), black phoebe (Sayornis nigricans), black-necked stilt (Himantopus mexicanus), and cliff swallow (Petrochelidon pyrrhonota). The semi-natural species list included the cinnamon teal (Spatula cyanoptera), great blue heron (Ardea herodias), pied-billed grebe (Podilymbus podiceps), red-winged blackbird (Agelaius phoeniceus), and yellow warbler (Setophaga petechia). Species are briefly described in Table 16. Since some urban or suburban species may be common and, as a result, underreported, I removed incidental observations and incomplete checklist from analysis, a recommended step for enhancing model performance that allows species absence to be better inferred (Johnston et al., 2020). Since each species had a more than generous sample size (1000+) and because spatial autocorrelation can inflate measures of model accuracy (Veloz, 2009), I attempted to reduce spatial autocorrelation by removing repeat observations, which may have also represented multiple individuals of the same species at a location. Specifically, records by multiple users of the same species on the same day within the same area were deleted.

Category	Species	Common Name	Range	Description
Semi-natural	Spatula cyanoptera	Cinnamon Teal	Widespread	Common year round and found in marshes or ponds
	Setaphaga petechia	Yellow Warbler	Widespread	Breeding populations, found streamside in thickets
	Semi-natural group	Great Blue Heron, Pied- billed Grebe, Cinnamon Teal, Yellow Warbler, Red- wingled blackbird		
Urban	Himantopus mexicanus	Black-necked Stilt	Common year round along coastal CA	Make use of artifical habitats, wetlands, open grassy areas. Bare ground needed for nesting.
	Sayornis nigricans	Black Phoebe	Common year round along coastal CA	Variety of semi-open habitats near water. Need mud for nests.
	Urban group	Black-necked Stilt, Black Phoebe, Barn Swallow, Cliff Swallow		

Table 16 Brief description of species and general habitat requirements for selected species.

### 3.2.2 Maxent Species Distribution Modeling

To better understand the relationship and environmental conditions at a catchment scale, I used Maxent. Maxent is a species distribution model that estimates probability densities of species in covariate space using presence-only observations. The model correlates species presence with patterns in environmental variables where species occur (Elith et al., 2011; Phillips et al., 2006a). The environmental predictor for the Maxent model included only freely available environmental datasets that could be summarized to the HUC-14 sub-watershed scale (Table 17). As much as possible the selected predictors attempted to capture factors that limit species distributions, disturbances, and resources per Guisan and Zimmermann (2000). Predictors and data sources are described in Table 17. Raster files of each predictor (R>0.75) were removed from the models with a preference for removing predictors that were highly correlated with several variables (e.g., population density was high correlated with population density in the
riparian zone, road density, and runoff). Model performance was iteratively tested following removal of each predictor, specifically variable contributions and AUC values.

The ENMeval (Muscarella et al., 2014) package was used to run and optimize each Maxent model run in R (version 4.0.3). Occurrence data was split into 30% test and 70% training data, as is standard practice. All models were run with training data with a regularization parameter ranging from one to three, a k-fold cross validation of 5, and using all model feature types (linear, quadratic, product, hinge). In k-fold partitioning the data is divided into bins, in this instance 5, of equal size and models are built iteratively using (k-1) bins and evaluated using a withheld bin (Fielding & Bell, 1997). AUC values were averaged across validation data. The feature types and regularization value were selected using Akaike's Information Criterion (Warren & Seifert, 2011). Regularization controls model complexity and other authors have experimented with random partitions in regularization values ranging from 0.25 to 10 and found model-overfitting rapidly decreases as regularization values approach one, the default value, and that higher values can sometimes further reduce overfitting (R. P. Anderson & Gonzalez, 2011; Phillips & Dudík, 2008; Warren & Seifert, 2011). Background data is used in SDMs to better characterize the full range of environmental predictors and to provide some measure of model predictive performance, when compared to known species occurrences. I used both a target background and pseudo-background approach since eBird, like much citizen science data, is presence-only data. As in Phillips et al. (2006b) I generated 1000 pseudoabsences randomly across the study extent. Since the background can impact modelling predictive performance and to better account of sampling bias, which if unaccounted for results in models that reflect survey effort, I re-ran all models using 1000 randomly selected data points from a targeted background, or eBird data that captures the same sampling bias as the occurrence data (Phillips et al., 2009).

Other efforts have found that spatial filtering of observation, in this instance observations were reduced to one per catchment, can improve model performance (Kramer-Schadt et al., 2013; Phillips et al., 2009). In this is instance, filtering resulted in negligible changes in AUC and larger differences between test and training AUC values (Table 18). However, occurrences were uniformly reduced to one occurrence per catchment across all catchments instead of in heavily sampled ones. Additionally, filtering data by effort (Johnston et al., 2020) by removing records that covered an area of more than 5km similarly did not improve model performance, as assessed by differences between training and test model runs (Table 18).

Several strategies were used to evaluate model performance and the importance of predictors to relative habitat suitability. The importance of predictors was estimated using the standard Maxent analysis features in which increases in regularized gain are added to the corresponding predictor to estimate percent contribution. While percent permutation importance values result from the percent drop of a model's training AUC when a predictor is randomly permutated (Phillips & Dudík, 2008). The AUC-ROC curve is used in many presence-absence species distribution models as a measure of model performance, specifically the probability that a model correctly classifies random occurrences and absences. Phillips et al. (2006b) re-defined the AUC, for presence only models, as the probability of the correct classification of species presence and random data. AUC values are usually interpreted so that a value of 0.5 indicates the model performs no better than random, 0.5-0.7 indicate poor performance, 0.7-0.9 reasonable performance, and values greater than 0.9 indicate high performance. However, this standard model validation approach for presence-only data can result in overly generous assessment of model performance that results in inflated AUC values (Olden et al., 2002). Raes and ter Steege (2007) detail the use of the null model for evaluating model performance in which a random

distribution of AUC values are used to derive a probability value, similar to traditional hypothesis testing. I generated null models in R using the SDMPlay (Charlene et al., 2020) package and compared each model's AUC value to a distribution of AUC values generated by chance using a null model (Raes & ter Steege, 2007). Nulls models sample randomly from the study extent and in instances where data collection is biased, the randomly drawn data will capture environmental conditions not represented in the SDM and will thus be more likely to significantly differ from random. As a result, to correct for bias, null models randomly drew data from areas that had already been sampled as recommended by Raes and ter Steege (2007).

Additionally, I made us the continuous Boyce Index, which roughly evaluates how much a model differs from random. The Boyce Index calculations partition habitat suitability values into bins and calculates the predicted frequency of suitability values within evaluation data based on model predictions and the expected frequencies based on a random distribution (P/E) (Hirzel et al., 2006). The Boyce index is the correlation between the predicted to expected ratios and habitat suitability values. Boyce index values range from -1 to 1, whereby values close to zero denote that a model is not different from chance, negative values denote an incorrect model, and positive values denote a strongly performing model with predictions that align with the presence distribution. I used the "moving window" approach for binning data and a bin width of 0.1 as suggested by Hirzet et al. 2006. I calculated the continuous Boyce Index in R using the enmSdm package (Smith, 2022). The habitat suitability predictions for withheld test data was used for Boyce Index calculation. Table 17 Predictors used in Maxent models. Predictors that are grayed were highly correlated with others variables and were removed .

Environmental Predictor	Description	Source			
Aspect	Directionality of slopes that impact microclimate and vegetation	usgs.gov			
Canopy Cover	The average percent canopy cover by tree canopies.	forestobservatory.com			
Canopy Layer	The number of vertical canopy layers and proxy for canopy complexity	forestobservatory.com			
Dam Density	Density of dams within catchment based on the National Inventory of Dams	EPA StreamCat, Hill et al. (2015)			
Elevation	Mean catchment elevation (m)	EPA StreamCat, Hill et al. (2015)			
ICI	Index of catchment integrity	EPA StreamCat, Hill et al. (2015)			
CCON	Hydrologic connectivity component score	EPA StreamCat, Hill et al. (2015)			
CHABT	Habitat provision component score	EPA StreamCat, Hill et al. (2015)			
CHYD	Hydrologic regulation component score	EPA StreamCat, Hill et al. (2015)			
CCHEM	Regulation of water chemistry component score	EPA StreamCat, Hill et al. (2015)			
Census_PopRip	Population density within riparian area	EPA StreamCat, Hill et al. (2015)			
Census_Pop	Catchment Population Density	EPA StreamCat, Hill et al. (2015)			
Impervious Area	The percent of total land within each catchment that is impervious for 2011. Impervious surfaces include buildings, roads, and sidewalks.	NLCD, 2016; EPA StreamCat			
Percent Grassland	Areas dominated (greater than 80%) by gramanoid or herbaceous vegetation.	NLCD, 2016; EPA StreamCat			
Percent Herbaceous Wetland	The percent of land comprised of emergent herbaceous wetlands	NLCD, 2016; EPA StreamCat			
Percent Mixed Forest	Areas dominated by trees greater than 5 meters tall, and greater than 20% of total vegetation cover	NLCD, 2016; EPA StreamCat			
Percent Shrub	Areas dominated by shrubs (defined as less than 5 meters tall) with shrub canopy typically greater than 20% of total vegetation.	NLCD, 2016; EPA StreamCat			
Percent High Density Urban	High Intensity and highly developed, impervious surfaces are upwards of 80% of total cover, areas where people reside or work in high numbers (apartment complexes, row houses and commercial/industrial).	NLCD, 2016; EPA StreamCat			
Percent Wooden Wetland	Areas that are covered by trees and forest or woody wetlands for 2011.	NLCD, 2016; EPA StreamCat			
Percent Protected Area	California Protected Area Network	https://gis.data.ca.gov/, CNRA			
Road Density	Road density of catchment	EPA StreamCat, Hill et al. (2015)			
Stream SCAPE	Model results for the California Stream Condition Index, a benthic macroinvertabrate index.	(Beck, 2018) (Mazor et al., 2016)			
KffactCat	Mean soil erodibility (Kf) factor (unitless) of soils within catchment. The Kf factor represents a relative index of susceptibility of bare, cultivated soil to particle detachment and transport by rainfall	EPA StreamCat, Hill et al. (2015)			
Wetness Index	Mean composite topographic index	EPA StreamCat, Hill et al. (2015)			
NPDES	Density of permitted NPDES	EPA StreamCat, Hill et al. (2015)			

Table 18 Summary of exploratory Maxent model runs using occurrence data that had filtered out low effort observations and reduced observations through spatial filtering. Note, null models were only run for models with AUC values > 0.7.

Model	Filter	Out Low Ef	fort Data, Ra	ndom Back	ground Top predictores	Spatial Filtering-One Sample per Catchment Data, Random Background AUC Top n Training AUC Test p predictore					
Black Necked Stilt	1631	0.73	0.70	>0.20	Water Index, Percent Shrub, Elevation, Percent Mixed Forest	182	0.80	0.68	>0.2	Percent shrub, percent protected area, percent mixed forest, runoff	
Urban Species	14445	0.57	0.53		Impervious, Percent Protected area, canopy cover	1567	0.60	0.76	>0.2	Elevation, Percent herbaceous wetland, canopy cover	
Cinnamon Teal	1168	0.67	0.70		Percent protected area, Streamscape, and percent mixed forest	171	0.61	0.62		Percent protected area	
Yellow Warbler	1166	0.59	0.56		Canopy cover, sttreamscape, percent wooded wetland	1567	0.60	0.72		Percent herbaceous wetland, impervious, runoff, canopy cover	

# 3.3 Results

Four species were selected for species distribution modeling: black-necked stilt, black phoebe, cinnamon teal, and yellow warbler as well as combinations of urban and semi-natural species. The majority of observations, across all species, are at low and intermediate elevations, with few occurring above 2380 feet and observations appeared to be biased spatially around coastal population centers (Figure 12). black phoebe and yellow warbler observations appear to be particularly widespread across the Southern California study region. black phoebe observations were the most numerous of all sampled species.



Figure 12 All observations of black-necked stilt, black phoebe, cinnamon teal, and yellow warbler within 250 meters of a stream or river in coastal watersheds of Southern California

Despite the large sample sizes for each species and predictors that capture broad

stressors, albeit not all stressors to stream habitats, Maxent models for selected species did not

significantly differ from random based on a comparisons to a null model (

Table 19). Models that made use of a random background tended to have inflated AUC values and generally more complex model features (

Table 19). Meanwhile, models that accounted for bias, through a target background approach, had lower AUC values and not one significantly differed from random compared to the AUC distributions of targeted null models. Additionally, there were stark differences in significance for null models depending on whether random samples were taken from sampled locations (I will refer to these as targeted null models) or the entire study area, revealing the bias in occurrence data and the appropriateness of a target null model for deciphering model significance as discussed by Raes and ter Steege (2007). The only models that were significant using a targeted null were those for cinnamon teal and grouped semi-natural species that made use of a random background ( Table 19).

Predictors across models shifted, sometimes considerably, based on whether the model was run with a random or target background. Interestingly, the dominance of elevation as a top predictor in models that made use of a random background, half the models had elevation as the most important predictor, shifted as models better accounted for sampling bias ( Table 19). The top 3 predictors for models that used a random versus target background varied considerably for semi-natural species. While for urban species, predictor order shifted and new predictors, such as canopy cover, impervious area, and hydrological connectivity (CCON) were introduced as important predictors for black-necked stilt, black phoebe, and urban group of species, respectively.

Table 19 Summary of model performance for each species and species groups using a random background or target background for model runs. Significant models are highlighted in green. All models were evaluated using the Continuous Boyce Index and using a null model. The null models were targeted and drew random samples from the sampled area. Null models that used the entire study extent have p values in parenthesis. The listed top predictors are the three predictors that contributed the most to model performance based on model gain. In the random background yellow warbler model, dam density had a model contribution of 80% and was thus the only listed predictor. Model type denotes the model features (L= linear, Q= quadratic, H = hinge, P = product, T = threshold) and regularization values (1 to 3) that were selected based on AIC.

	All Species Observation Data. Random Background						All Stream Data, Target Background				
Model	n	AUC	Model Type	D	Top predictores	Boyce Index	AUC	Model Type	p	Top predictores	Boyce Index
Black Necked Stilt	3362	0.93	L_1	>0.20	Elevation, CCON, Percent Protected Area	0.55	0.75	L_1	>0.20 (0.02)	CCON, Canopy Cover, Elevation	0.85
Black Phoebe	16169	0.81	LQHPT_3	0.20	Dam density, Elevation, Percent Protected Area	0.87	0.58	L_2	>0.20	Percent Protected Areas, Dam Density, Impervious Area	0.93
Urban Species	26084	0.89	LQHPT_3	0.17	Elevation, Aspect, Percent Protected Area	0.98	0.57	L_1	>0.20	Elevation, CCON, Percent Protected Area	0.97
Cinnamon Teal	2142	0.96	LQHPT_3	0.01	Elevation, Streamscape, Percent Protected Area	0.79	0.82	LQHPT_3	>0.20 (<0.01)	Streamscape, Aspect, Canopy Cover	0.96
Yellow Warbler	2362	0.86	LQHPT_3	0.17	Dam density	0.97	0.62	L_l	>0.20	Water index, Streamscape, Dam Density	0.89
Semi- natural species	19406	0.92	LQHPT_1	<0.01	Aspect, Elevation, Percent Protected Area	0.93	0.64	L_l	>0.20	Canopy Cover, CCON, Water Index	0.97

The Boyce Index was not useful in deciphering model performance despite the index also making use of a null model approach that compares modeled predictions to random or background points. Except for the black-necked stilt random background model ( Table 19), values were high across all models. Boyce index values range from -1 to 1 with negative values denoting an incorrect model, 0 a model that does not differ from random, and 1 indicating a model that can predict species distributions of the dataset accurately. The Boyce Index requires predicted habitat suitability values for test data, occurrence data that was not used in model training, and for background points. Despite the background, and the associated habitat suitability values, shifting from a random to a targeted background, Boyce Index values remained consistently high. Additionally, Boyce Index values did not appear to correspond to the results of the null model in any way. For example, the significant random background model for cinnamon teal had the second to lowest Boyce Index value (

Table 19). While the Boyce Index values by themselves are uninformative, the predicted/expected ratio plots do provide information about how model performance varies by species across habitat suitability values (Figure 13). P/E curves show the black-necked stilt, black phoebe, and yellow warbler models had considerable variability in performance across habitat suitability values. The yellow warbler and black phoebe model, in particular, were unable to discern appropriately low habitat suitability values for background data. Models that perform strongly produce a monotonically increasing P/E curve. Some models, like those for cinnamon teal and the urban species group, were able to predict low suitability values with a high resolution for random data but showed more variability in predicting habitat suitability values for species presences, albeit most are above 1. The linearity of the urban species model over the entire habitat suitability range, except the highest values, demonstrates that this model predicts suitability with a finer resolution.



Figure 13 Predicted/expected curves from the continuous Boyce Index for each species and species group modeled in Maxent using a target background. Numbers are the bins numbered from lowest to highest based on mean habitat suitability prediction in that bin. Occurrence data should have P/E ratios larger than 1 and well performing models should produce a monotonic, increasing curve.

## 3.4 Discussion

Maxent has shown promise for predicting species distribution and habitat suitability in

instances where resources for more structured data collection are few (Rhoden et al., 2017;

Sharma et al., 2018; West et al., 2016). There has, in particular, been excitement for making use

of presence only data, such us herbarium, citizen science, or museum records, that is otherwise

unusable with traditional statistical approaches (Graham et al., 2004; Phillips et al., 2006b). However, Maxent has assumptions for its use that are often unmet by these type of data (Yackulic et al., 2013) but there are published strategies for meeting assumptions that do not require additional data collection (Phillips et al., 2009; Raes & ter Steege, 2007). In this study, I explored the potential to use Maxent and citizen science data to better inform ongoing urban river rehabilitation as governments in the region continue to invest in revitalizing and restoring their riverine waterfronts (City of San Diego, 2013; LADPW, 2021). I also wanted to explore whether Maxent was a practical tool in urban river revitalization for resource limited planners or practitioners. Recognizing that many rivers in the region are limited in the extent to which they can be restored, due to, among other reasons, a heavily populated floodplain, I selected species that were, in the least, urban tolerant and employed several strategies for improving model performance through tuning (Radosavljevic & Anderson, 2014), filtering (Johnston et al., 2020), and bias correction (Phillips et al., 2009). Since many traditional approaches for model evaluation were invalid for presence only models, such as AUC and the true skills statistic (Lobo et al., 2008), and without the benefit of structured field data or complementary data to support model interpretation and validation (Holder et al., 2020; West et al., 2016), I made use of techniques that compared model results to random data to gauge model significance and performance (Hirzel et al., 2006; Raes & ter Steege, 2007).

Using eBird data and environmental data at the catchment scale, I was not able to determine with certainty the predictors that are important to habitat suitability for selected species. I used both a random ("pseudoabsences") and a targeted background approach and found that Maxent models that make use of a random background are considerably different from models that corrected for bias using a target background. This is evident by drops in AUC

values and statistical significance once bias is corrected using the target background approach. Background data is important to characterizing the full range of environmental predictors and will inflate a model's predictive performance, particularly when the background differs from occurrence locales (Phillips et al., 2009). Therefore, the significance of the cinnamon teal and semi-natural models are likely an artifact of uncorrected bias in occurrence data and may suggest that environmental covariates captured from a random background are different than those captured by occurrence data. The recurring importance of elevation in uncorrected models and the limited number of samples at higher elevations suggest that models that used a random background are likely reflecting sampling and not species distributions (Phillips et al., 2009).

The evaluation approaches employed for Maxent model runs confused interpretation despite both approaches making use of null model approach in model evaluation. Boyce index values were unhelpful since they were nearly uniformly high across all models (they are based on Pearson's rank correlation and relationships are roughly linear). However, the P/E ratio curves were useful for understanding model performance over the range of habitat suitability values, insight that no single evaluation metric can provide. The variability in the prediction of presences by Maxent at high suitability values, as shown by all P/E ratio curves, may indicate that appropriate environmental predictors for many species are missing. Additionally, the noisy fluctuations in model predictions may indicate a need for a more structure dataset (Hirzel et al., 2006). The cause and remedy to the mismatch between these evaluation methods is unknown.

Model evaluation, or a model's ability to make predictions using independent data, is still a thorny subject in the Maxent literature (Araújo & Guisan, 2006). Null models have been the subject of plenty of criticism, peaking in the 1970s, because it can be difficult to parameterize a model that definitively captures a null hypothesis and because null models that are too

constrained can increase false negatives, or type II errors (see review by Gotelli and Ulrich (2012). Null models can also be affected by spatial autocorrelation, matrix size and heterogeneity, sample sizes, and can be more likely to produce Type I or Type II errors if null distributions are non-normal (Gotelli & Ulrich, 2012; Veech, 2012). Raes and ter Steege's (2007) asserted that a targeted null model can correct for collector bias. However, in the present study, there are considerable inconsistencies in model performance depending on the approach used for bias correction, whether a targeted background or a target null model. However, the criticisms about the biologically uninformative nature of null models ring particularly true in the present study as the lack of congruence between these evaluation approaches and specific model weaknesses cannot be further explored given that outputs strictly speak to deviation of a Maxent model from random (D. R. Anderson et al., 2000).

Araújo and Guisan make the case for three model evaluation strategies: descriptive, whereby the strength of relationships is measured, understanding, hypothesis about relationships are tested, and prediction, whereby hypothesized relationships are projected onto independent situations. In this instance, I sought to understand species habitat relationships and tested the strength of these relationships by testing how well the model could predict habitat suitability for a withheld set of data. However, this approach, though commonly used, has been called into question since the withheld "test" data are not truly independent, particularly if data is spatially autocorrelated (Araújo et al., 2005). Araújo and Guisan (2006) suggests model evaluation occur using data from a different region or time and this recommendation could have been implemented by withholding certain watersheds for model evaluation. Nevertheless, the mismatch between model evaluation metrics highlights the challenging nature of model evaluation amidst pointed and active discussion about assumptions and techniques.

Maxent and the selected predictors were not effective in determining the broad scaled environmental relationships for species that are common in urban areas. The constraints of identifying species for Maxent modeling in highly urban environments led to the selection of generalists species, making the identification of a set of environmental predictors difficult. For example, Evangelista (2008) applied SDM to generalist and specialist invasive plant species and found models for the generalist species to perform worse, attributed to generalist habitat preferences not being easily captured by environmental predictors. However, other studies have successfully identified predictors for generalist invasive species (West et al., 2016), albeit at finer resolutions. In a study examining whether certain species traits make species more amenable to being modeled, McPherson et al. (2004) found traits like range size, habitats visited, trophic level, and endemism to have a small but negative impact on model performance. Urban species may also make use of the urban matrix in a way that is poorly accounted for in the selected model or their distributions may be governed by a heterogeneous predictor that is too coarsened at the catchment scale to provide predictive power (discussed below in further detail). SDM modeling with more fine-grained predictors may also be required to better understand what resources may be more plentiful in degraded streams for these generalist species or the inclusion of species interactions that favor their occurrence.

Studies of bird species in urban areas have documented a set of recurring findings that not only point to the importance of the urban matrix but also of the environmental predictors that may better capture the niche of these urban, generalist species. Patch size, urbanization, and vertical heterogeneity of patches have been found to be important in explaining patterns in urban bird species richness (Saunders et al., 1991; Suarez-Rubio & Thomlinson, 2009; Watson et al., 2005). In the present study, some of those predictors, or in the least closely related predictors, were included in models for urban stream species. Those closely related predictors included canopy layer, impervious area, and percent protected area, respectively. These predictors were among top predictors, specifically impervious area percent protected area, of habitat suitability for all species except the yellow warbler. Lacking among predictors of urban species habitat suitability were measures of connectivity and disturbance, important predictor in urban biodiversity studies, but for which data was not readily available with the exception of fire area within each catchment (Beninde et al., 2015; Faeth et al., 2011; Kang et al., 2015). Additionally, as other studies have noted, urban biodiversity and the vulnerability of a bird species to urbanization and the resulting fragmentation will depend on whether species can make use of matrix habitat (Ganzhorn & Eisenbeiß, 2001). The matrix, particularly the structure, disturbance, and composition, is important to species vulnerability, area sensitivity, and dispersal (Watson et al., 2005). Measures of matrix quality were not explicitly included as predictors.

The difficulty with selecting appropriate environmental predictors, aside from the ease of data availability and quality, for species distribution models is determining the scale at which organisms interact and respond to their environment. In published Maxent models the use of the 1km grain size is ubiquitous, particularly with many studies focusing on the impact of climate change to species distributions and the roughly grained climatic data available through BIOCLIM (www.worldclim.org) being limited to the 1 km scale (Manzoor et al., 2018). However, recent research has critiqued the standard use of courser scales since habitat features are lost and coarse grain size can affect model transferability and accuracy (Manzoor et al., 2018; Roach et al., 2017). It is important to note that this relationships is also not a rule, upscaling of grain size does not necessarily worsen model performance, and will also depend on species, sample size, the intrinsic error associated with observation data, and the importance of model

transferability (Guisan et al., 2007; Manzoor et al., 2018). Gottschalk (2011) used different grain sizes, ranging from 1m to 1000 m grain size, to understand how grain size impacts model performance for bird species in Germany and found that explained variation decreased with courser grained data for both specialist and generalist bird species; he ultimately suggested that the observation technique grain match those of the predictors. Other studies of bird distributions have found that predictors are hierarchical, different predictors will be important at different scales, with vegetative cover and species interactions emerging as important in determining species distributions at finer resolutions (Luoto et al., 2007; Menke et al., 2009). Gottschalk et al. (2011) found that a 2-3 meter resolution explained the most variability in SDMs. These small scaled habitat features may be more fully within the realm of control of project practitioners when seeking to enhance biodiversity along urban rivers and streams. However, land cover and vegetation data at these resolutions are not readily publicly available and would require high resolution imagery and land use classification based on spectral signatures or textural analysis as in Gottschalk et al. (2011). Additionally, it is also important to note the limitations of citizen science data at finer scales. A subset of eBird observations, such as traveling counts, do not have standardized locations (e.g., coordinates are not necessarily from the middle of a transect as is recommended) and may not reflect the immediate habitat conditions of a species observation (Sullivan et al., 2009).

I made use of freely available environmental data found via EPA's StreamCat database. These datasets have been important in ecological research because they characterize the environmental conditions of stream segments across entire regions; they have also been previously employed in Maxent fish species distribution studies (Holder et al., 2020; McGarvey et al., 2021). In the present study, I selected catchments as the grain size because the study was focused on bird species utilizing river/stream corridors and because upstream conditions will impact local conditions (Hunsaker & Levine, 1995). Furthermore, Pickett et al. (1997) suggested that the watershed scale can be useful in urban ecological studies because catchments integrate human impacts on water quality and hydrology, connection aquatic and terrestrial systems, and integrate impact of human activities on catchment functioning. However, for SDM, multiple studies have found that a finer resolution will more accurately represent the environment in which a species was found and that habitat variables, in particular, lose explanatory power at course resolutions (Gottschalk et al., 2011; Luoto et al., 2007; Menke et al., 2009).

### 3.4.1 Can Maxent be Applied to Urban Areas?

It is useful to examine the assumptions of SDM to understand the complexities that SDMs cannot or have not accommodated and whether these assumptions apply to urban areas. One of the simplifications that many SDM have made, particularly because most raster data is only able to capture a moment in time, is assuming that species are in pseudo-equilibrium with their environment (Guisan & Thuiller, 2005). Disequilibrium may result from disturbance, particularly the intensity, timing, duration, of disturbance events and the succession that follows (Connel and Slatyer, 1977) because disturbance is a force structuring ecological communities (Intermediate Disturbance Hypothesis -Connell's, 1978; Huston, 1979; 1994). Disturbance can alter stream geomorphology, opens up space or resources that a different set of species can utilize, shifting species richness, composition, and life histories (Nilsson and Svedmark, 2002; Townsend et al., 1997a). Ecosystems in equilibrium, as is the theory, exhibit no long term change in structure or function because of disturbance. However debates about whether ecosystems are ever in equilibrium is decades long (Kéfi et al., 2019; May, 1972; Pennekamp et al., 2018; Pimm, 1984). Urban ecosystems would largely be considered in disequilibrium given higher levels and more frequent disturbances and the continuous need for maintenance for stability of habitats (Rebele, 1994).

Several studies have made the case for including people in urban ecological studies. Several researchers have documented the ecological and societal response to disturbance in urban areas and the manner in which these responses interact, reinforcing the dynamic nature of urban ecosystems and the need to include humans in all models of urban systems (Carreiro & Zipperer, 2011; McPhearson & Tidball, 2013). Rodriguez-Pastor et al. (2012), for example, found that the distributions of invasive monk parakeets was linked to high tree densities and populations over the age of 65, which were likely feeding the parakeets. Alberti and Marzluff (2004) proposed that the resilience of urban ecosystems is linked to patterns of human activities. This is particularly important given research linking economics and cultural background to biodiversity at the neighborhood scale (Kinzig et al., 2005). These approaches are well ingrained within socioecological frameworks (S. T. Pickett et al., 1997) but the how of incorporating people into SDMs is still unexplored and limited by data availability. While much socioeconomic and demographic data is readily available there is the unaddressed difficulty in reconciling scales of study since humans play an outsized role in ecosystems and institutional boundaries can very much differ from the ecological gradients in which they are nested.

Another limitation is that many SDMs assume a niche to be Grinellian, species occur where the environment is suitable, or a realized Hutchinson niche, whereby species are excluded by interspecies dynamics. However, species distributions are also controlled by source/sink dynamics and species dispersal that sustain bird densities in locations that may have poor habitat quality, such as highly urbanized areas (Marzluff, 2008). The model presented herein assumed a Grinellian niche and I did not include predictors that would capture interspecies dynamics that may limit species distributions due to competition or predation. Aside from percent protected areas and measures of imperviousness, no other predictors associated with ease of dispersal, connectivity, or that would capture source sink dynamics were included in understanding species habitat relationships and the lack of predictors that capture important dynamics in urban areas may further limit model transferability (Randin et al., 2006).

#### 3.4.2 Maxent Use: Lessons Learned

Maxent is an attractive approach for urban ecologist and practitioners to better understand a species niche and predict species distributions. It is among a few approaches that does not require absence data, others include Ecological Niche Factor Analysis (Hirzel et al., 2002) and the Genetic Algorithm for Rule-Set Prediction (GARP) (Stockwell, 1999), and thus can make use of data that may be unusable with other methods (Guisan & Thuiller, 2005). However, the utility of the approach can be limited by the iterative nature of modeling in which the predictors, their availability at the appropriate scale, and model validation and evaluation will need to be trialed in finding the best performing model for a given context. In this study, I implemented many recommendations for the use of Maxent that were not always fruitful in enhancing model performance. The use of 4 different modeling strategies, each supported by the literature, led to a shuffling of top predictors, varying model performance, and model evaluation approaches that confused model interpretation and, ultimately, did not result in recommendations for enhancing biodiversity along urban streams. Some common recommendations to include multiple analysis techniques to aid comparison, targeting a few locales to collect presence/absence data to truth model performance, and limiting data to structured datasets collected by experts or trained

volunteers (Boyce et al., 2002; Phillips et al., 2009; Préau et al., 2018; Raes & ter Steege, 2007) further limit the more broadscale use of this model by practitioners. I will review some of the common recommendations of Maxent, caveats, and disagreements that have emerged about common practices.

Firstly, the use of citizen science data in SDM introduces challenges in assessing and correcting bias but model performance can be improved through filtering, the selection of appropriate species, and a target background approach. Accuracy rates for species identification by citizen scientist can range between 70-95% and accuracy can wane considerably in instances where rare species identifications are used (Swanson et al., 2016). Filtering by time spent or distance traveled, to account for effort, can increase probabilities of detection, may be critical for longitudinal efforts, and can account for differences between methodologies (Link & Sauer, 1999; Sullivan et al., 2009). In models that suffer from sample selection bias, spatial filtering can reduce occurrences in oversampled locations (Phillips et al., 2009; Veloz, 2009). Spatial filtering of observation can improve model performance but, if sample sizes are greatly reduced, can reduce statistical power and model rigor (Kramer-Schadt et al., 2013; Phillips et al., 2009). However, since there is too much heterogeneity in model performance depending on the species and species traits there are thus no universal recommendations for optimizing model performance using filtering (Steen et al., 2019).

Another common bias of citizen science data is spatial bias of data collection toward areas with better accessibility and near population centers (Zhang, 2020). This pattern in my own data appeared to be confirmed by a high density of observations near urban centers, such as Los Angeles and San Diego. The clustering of observations can mean that the dataset used in model training does not fully capture variations in predictor variables across the study extent limiting model transferability (Menke et al., 2009). However, there are statistical approaches to ameliorate error and bias in citizen science data. (see Bird et al. 2014 for a review of approaches). A commonly used strategy is the target group background method, the use of a random sample from the same sampling distribution as a target species, so that species presence and background are biased in the same way (Phillips & Dudík, 2008). Additionally, some citizen science platforms, like eBird, have systems in place to ensure better quality data including data quality filters, encouragement to report common birds, additional metadata requirements for unusual reports, and the submission of proxy absence data through the submission of complete checklist (Sullivan et al., 2009).

Bias is generally a topic of much discussion for SDM since bias can lead to overfitting and noise that impact transferability or falsely inflate model performance (Radosavljevic & Anderson, 2014). Model parameterization, specifically the selection of model features and regularization values can reduce overfitting and improve model performance (D. R. Anderson et al., 2000). A common method for reducing model complexity, and thus overfitting, and to select an appropriate model among alternatives is to select a model using the principle of parsimony, making using AIC or the Bayesian information Criteria (BIC) in model selection (Boyce et al., 2002). However, it is important to note recommendations to eliminate certain features, such as quadratic, hinge, and threshold, for very small sample sizes (Merow et al., 2013). If model transferability is not a priority and instead the objective is to understand predictor relationship and minimize false positives, model overfitting will not be a critical consideration in model selection (Araújo & Guisan, 2006).

A common model validation and model selection approach is the use of discriminant analysis, a measure of whether a model assigns higher habitat suitability to presence location compared to random locations. Model validation splits data into a training and test datasets using several methods (e.g., K-fold partitioning or jackknife) by which model performance is based on the ability to predict habitat suitability of occurrence data that the model has not previously "seen". Methods that randomly split the data can create large variabilities in test statistics (Raes & ter Steege, 2007). Several studies have favored the use of k-fold partitioning in model validation (Boyce et al., 2002; Phillips & Dudík, 2008). However, many have more broadly questioned the approach because the withheld data is drawn from the same biased and potentially spatially auto-correlated sampling distributions that would inflate a model's discriminatory accuracy (Warren et al., 2020). Additionally, the complex model algorithms may produce intermediate habitat suitability values that are indistinguishable across models, thus making model selection based on discriminant strength unwise. This phenomenon is worsened by a large number of collinear predictors (Warren et al., 2020). Warren et al. (2020) further notes that model selection based on discriminant analysis is a widely adopted best practice that at best has negligible effects and at worst is detrimental to selecting the most functionally accurate model.

Traditionally, many SDM evaluate model performance based on AUC (Hanley & McNeil, 1982). AUC is a measure of how well a model can discriminate between species presences and absences and thus whether a model can discern habitat from the background (Hanley and McNeil, 1982). Phillips et al. (2006b) re-defined the AUC, for presence only models, as the probability of the correct classification of species presence and random data. Generally, researchers have noted that metrics related to a confusion matrix, such as AUC and Kappa, are inappropriate for presence/available species distribution models since the distribution of used sites and available sites are not exclusive, being drawn from the same distribution of sites, and thus cannot be categorized (Boyce et al., 2002; Lobo et al., 2008). Pseudoabsences,

which are commonly generated with presence-only data, require a downward adjustment of the AUC value based on the proportion of the geographic area covered by a species, a value which is rarely known (Merow and Silander, 2014). However, some recent studies that have made use of presence-only data have recognized that AUC is inflated by sampling density but have nevertheless advocated for the metric because of its widespread use and consistent results, whether presence-only or ground-truth data (Konowalik & Nosol, 2021).

Since many long-term and voluminous data sets, like citizen science data, do not have absence data, there have been two approaches for model evaluation: generating pseudoabsences and evaluating a model using traditional techniques (Zaniewski et al., 2002) and methods that aim to understand how predictions differ from random (Hirzel et al., 2002). There are several indices that compare how model predictions differ from random. These include some threshold based approaches, whereby a threshold is usually defined arbitrarily, such as the absolute validation index (AVI), a proportion of occurrence points that are above a given habitat suitability value, and contrast validation index (CVI), the AVI of a selected model minus the AVI of a random model (Hirzel & Arlettaz, 2003). Raes and Steege (2007) also detail the use of null model to assess model significance by comparing AUC values derived from presence-only models to a distribution of AUC values from models generated using random data, in a manner similar to hypothesis testing. Since biased presence-only dataset will often significantly differ from an unbiased null model, Raes and Steege recommend bias correction by drawing null models from the biased distributions captured in presence-only data. However, as others have pointed out, statistical significance compared to random is not a measure of how well a model performs in predicting distributions and thresholds of significance based on p<0.05 are arbitrary (Yoccoz, 1991).

Hirzel et al. (2002) proposed an evaluation measure that is threshold independent, the continuous Boyce Index. The continuous Boyce Index is the predicted versus expected frequencies of presences in selected versus random null models correlated against the mean habitat suitability value of binned groups. The Boyce Index is insensitive to species prevalence and provides additional information about model quality, including deviation from random and measures of robustness. In the present study, these two model evaluation metrics were markedly different for each model and there can be dizzying amount of model evaluation metrics. Konowalik and Nosol (2021), for example, found that a subset of model evaluation metrics were correlated, by varying degrees, to each other. Some metrics were poorly correlated with ground-truthed data. Konowalik and Nosol (2021) ultimately recommended that several non-correlated metrics be used in model selection in addition to expert judgement and comparisons to known species distributions.

### 3.4.3 Recommendations

Species distribution models and citizen science data can and have informed restoration efforts. However, after considerable investment in finding data, formatting and scaling data for use in Maxent, parameterizing the model, reducing the bias of occurrence data, and model evaluation approaches, I was not able to identify the predictors important to habitat suitability for urban and semi-natural avian species. This may have been due to the coarsened scale of predictors, missing predictors (such as those that account for connectivity or urban matrix quality), the use of generalist species, or Maxent model assumptions that are more poorly met in urban areas. Future efforts to make use of citizen science and Maxent in urban areas should consider the use of fine scaled predictors to determine whether the challenges described above can be remedied by a finer scale analysis. However, these challenges suggest that the resource limited practitioner may be better served by review of the ecological literature and discussions with fellow experts to inform project design. Sometimes, however, presence-only SDMs and citizen science data are useful to seasoned practitioners because the scale of citizen science sampling cannot be replicated. In these instances, practitioners should consider targeted sampling that capture covariates that are under-sampled by citizen science efforts and the use of finer scaled predictors that may better predict habitat suitability for generalists species (McPherson et al., 2004; Yackulic et al., 2013). Additionally, as restoration projects are implemented along the River there is the opportunity to collect better quality data that informs future restoration efforts, a proposed framework is discussed in the following chapter.

## 3.5 References

- Alberti, M., & Marzluff, J. M. (2004). Ecological resilience in urban ecosystems: Linking urban patterns to human and ecological functions. *Urban Ecosystems*, 7(3), 241–265. https://doi.org/10.1023/B:UECO.0000044038.90173.c6
- Allan, J. D., & Flecker, A. S. (1993). Biodiversity Conservation in Running Waters. *BioScience*, 43(1), 32–43. https://doi.org/10.2307/1312104
- Anderson, D. R., Burnham, K. P., & Thompson, W. L. (2000). Null Hypothesis Testing:
  Problems, Prevalence, and an Alternative. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 64(4), 912–923. https://doi.org/10.2307/3803199
- Anderson, R. P., & Gonzalez, I. (2011). Species-specific tuning increases robustness to sampling bias in models of species distributions: An implementation with Maxent. *Ecological Modelling*, 222(15), 2796–2811. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.04.011
- Araújo, M. B., & Guisan, A. (2006). Five (or so) challenges for species distribution modelling. Journal of Biogeography, 33(10), 1677–1688. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2006.01584.x
- Araújo, M. B., Pearson, R. G., Thuiller, W., & Erhard, M. (2005). Validation of species–climate impact models under climate change. *Global Change Biology*, 11(9), 1504–1513.
- Araújo, M. B., Williams, P. H., & Fuller, R. J. (2002). Dynamics of extinction and the selection of nature reserves. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 269(1504), 1971–1980.

- Asadalla, N., Abdullah, M. M., Al-Ali, Z. M., & Abdullah, M. T. (2021). Vegetation restoration targeting approach to identify the optimum environmental conditions for the restoration of native desert plants using remote sensing and Maxent modeling. *Restoration Ecology*, 29(6), e13425. https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.13425
- Barber, R. A., Ball, S. G., Morris, R. K. A., & Gilbert, F. (2022). Target-group backgrounds prove effective at correcting sampling bias in Maxent models. *Diversity and Distributions*, 28(1), 128–141. https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.13442

Beare, M. H., Coleman, D. C., Crossley, D. A., Hendrix, P. F., & Odum, E. P. (1995). A Hierarchical approach to evaluating the significance of soil biodiversity to biogeochemical cycling. In H. P. Collins, G. P. Robertson, & M. J. Klug (Eds.), *The Significance and Regulation of Soil Biodiversity: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Soil Biodiversity, held at Michigan State University, East Lansing, May 3–6, 1993* (pp. 5–22). Springer Netherlands. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-011-0479-1\_1

- Beninde, J., Veith, M., & Hochkirch, A. (2015). Biodiversity in cities needs space: A metaanalysis of factors determining intra-urban biodiversity variation. *Ecology Letters*, 18, 581–592.
- Bernhardt, E. S., Sudduth, E. B., Palmer, M. A., Allan, J. D., Meyer, J. L., Alexander, G.,
  Follastad-Shah, J., Hassett, B., Jenkinson, R., Lave, R., Rumps, J., & Pagano, L. (2007).
  Restoring Rivers One Reach at a Time: Results from a Survey of U.S. River Restoration
  Practitioners. *Restoration Ecology*, *15*(3), 482–493. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1526100X.2007.00244.x

- Boyce, M. S., Vernier, P. R., Nielsen, S. E., & Schmiegelow, F. K. A. (2002). Evaluating resource selection functions. *Ecological Modelling*, 157(2), 281–300. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0304-3800(02)00200-4
- Braeckman, U., Foshtomi, M. Y., Van Gansbeke, D., Meysman, F., Soetaert, K., Vincx, M., & Vanaverbeke, J. (2014). Variable importance of macrofaunal functional biodiversity for biogeochemical cycling in temperate coastal sediments. *Ecosystems*, 17(4), 720–737.
- Cardinale, B. J., Duffy, J. E., Gonzalez, A., Hooper, D. U., Perrings, C., Venail, P., Narwani, A., Mace, G. M., Tilman, D., Wardle, D. A., Kinzig, A. P., Daily, G. C., Loreau, M., Grace, J. B., Larigauderie, A., Srivastava, D. S., & Naeem, S. (2012). Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature*, 486(7401), 59–67. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature11148
- Carreiro, M. M., & Zipperer, W. C. (2011). Co-adapting societal and ecological interactions following large disturbances in urban park woodlands. *Austral Ecology*, *36*(8), 904–915. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1442-9993.2010.02237.x
- Chandler, M., See, L., Copas, K., & M.Z. Bonde, A. (n.d.). Contribution of citizen science towards international biodiversity monitoring. Retrieved August 16, 2017, from http://pure.iiasa.ac.at/13923/1/Contribution%20of%20citizen%20science%20towards%2 Ointernational%20biodiversity%20monitoring.pdf
- Charlene, G., Alexis, M., Marc, E., & Thomas, S. (2020). SDMPlay: Species Distribution Modelling Playground (1.3) [Computer software]. https://CRAN.Rproject.org/package=SDMPlay
- City of San Diego. (2013). San Diego River Park Master Plan. https://www.sandiego.gov/sites/default/files/sdrp\_master\_plan\_full.pdf

- Cooper, C., Dickinson, J., Phillips, T., & Bonney, R. (2007). Citizen Science as a Tool for Conservation in Residential Ecosystems. *Ecology and Society*, 12(2). https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-02197-120211
- Council for Watershed Health. (2018). 2018 State of the Los Angeles River Watershed. Council for Watershed Health. https://c776b17b-7873-4634-9014b3a3f54a40e8.filesusr.com/ugd/ceb944\_7f6deab1c8c24ef6a890e89d1d92ca97.pdf
- Dickinson, J. L., Zuckerberg, B., & Bonter, D. N. (2010). Citizen science as an ecological research tool: Challenges and benefits. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 41, 149–172.
- Ehrenfeld, J. G. (2000). Defining the Limits of Restoration: The Need for Realistic Goals. *Restoration Ecology*, 8(1), 2–9. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1526-100x.2000.80002.x
- Elith, J., H. Graham, C., P. Anderson, R., Dudík, M., Ferrier, S., Guisan, A., J. Hijmans, R., Huettmann, F., R. Leathwick, J., & Lehmann, A. (2006). Novel methods improve prediction of species' distributions from occurrence data. *Ecography*, 29(2), 129–151.
- Elith, J., & Leathwick, J. R. (2009). Species Distribution Models: Ecological Explanation and Prediction Across Space and Time. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 40(1), 677–697. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.ecolsys.110308.120159
- Elith, J., Phillips, S. J., Hastie, T., Dudík, M., Chee, Y. E., & Yates, C. J. (2011). A statistical explanation of Maxent for ecologists. *Diversity and Distributions*, *17*(1), 43–57.
- ElsäBer, B., Fariñas-Franco, J. M., Wilson, C. D., Kregting, L., & Roberts, D. (2013).
  Identifying optimal sites for natural recovery and restoration of impacted biogenic habitats in a special area of conservation using hydrodynamic and habitat suitability modelling. *Journal of Sea Research*, 77, 11–21.

- Evangelista, P. H., Kumar, S., Stohlgren, T. J., Jarnevich, C. S., Crall, A. W., Norman III, J. B.,
  & Barnett, D. T. (2008). Modelling invasion for a habitat generalist and a specialist plant
  species. *Diversity and Distributions*, *14*(5), 808–817. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2008.00486.x
- Faeth, S. H., Bang, C., & Saari, S. (2011). Urban biodiversity: Patterns and mechanisms: Urban biodiversity. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1223(1), 69–81. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05925.x
- Fielding, A. H., & Bell, J. F. (1997). A review of methods for the assessment of prediction errors in conservation presence/absence models. *Environmental Conservation*, 24(1), 38–49.
- Ganzhorn, J. U., & Eisenbeiß, B. (2001). The the concept of nested species assemblages and its utility for understanding effects of habitat fragmentation. *Basic and Applied Ecology*, 2(1), 87–99. https://doi.org/10.1078/1439-1791-00040
- Gelviz-Gelvez, S. M., Pavón, N. P., Illoldi-Rangel, P., & Ballesteros-Barrera, C. (2015).
   Ecological niche modeling under climate change to select shrubs for ecological restoration in Central Mexico. *Ecological Engineering*, 74, 302–309.
- Goddard, M. A., Dougill, A. J., & Benton, T. G. (2010). Scaling up from gardens: Biodiversity conservation in urban environments. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 25(2), 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.07.016
- Gotelli, N. J., & Ulrich, W. (2012). Statistical challenges in null model analysis. *Oikos*, *121*(2), 171–180. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0706.2011.20301.x
- Gottschalk, T. K., Aue, B., Hotes, S., & Ekschmitt, K. (2011). Influence of grain size on species– habitat models. *Ecological Modelling*, 222(18), 3403–3412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.07.008

Graham, C. H., Ferrier, S., Huettman, F., Moritz, C., & Peterson, A. T. (2004). New developments in museum-based informatics and applications in biodiversity analysis. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, *19*(9), 497–503. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2004.07.006

- Grayson, J. E., Chapman, M. G., & Underwood, A. J. (1999). The assessment of restoration of habitat in urban wetlands. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 43(4), 227–236. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0169-2046(98)00108-X
- Guisan, A., Graham, C. H., Elith, J., Huettmann, F., & Group, the N. S. D. M. (2007).
  Sensitivity of predictive species distribution models to change in grain size. *Diversity and Distributions*, 13(3), 332–340. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2007.00342.x
- Guisan, A., & Hofer, U. (2003). Predicting reptile distributions at the mesoscale: Relation to climate and topography. *Journal of Biogeography*, 30(8), 1233–1243. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2699.2003.00914.x
- Guisan, A., & Thuiller, W. (2005). Predicting species distribution: Offering more than simple habitat models. *Ecology Letters*, 8(9), 993–1009. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00792.x
- Hanley, J. A., & McNeil, B. J. (1982). The meaning and use of the area under a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. | Radiology. *Radiology*, 143(1). https://pubs.rsna.org/doi/abs/10.1148/radiology.143.1.7063747
- Hirzel, A. H., & Arlettaz, R. (2003). Modeling Habitat Suitability for Complex Species Distributions by Environmental-Distance Geometric Mean. *Environmental Management*, 32(5), 614–623. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-003-0040-3

- Hirzel, A. H., Hausser, J., Chessel, D., & Perrin, N. (2002). Ecological-niche factor analysis:
  How to compute habitat-suitability maps without absence data? *Ecology*, 83(7), 2027–2036.
- Hirzel, A. H., Le Lay, G., Helfer, V., Randin, C., & Guisan, A. (2006). Evaluating the ability of habitat suitability models to predict species presences. *Ecological Modelling*, 199(2), 142–152. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2006.05.017
- Hobbs, R. J., & Harris, J. A. (2001, June 1). Restoration Ecology: Repairing the Earth's Ecosystems in the New Millennium. Restoration Ecology. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1526-100x.2001.009002239.x
- Hobbs, R. J., Higgs, E., & Harris, J. A. (2009). Novel ecosystems: Implications for conservation and restoration. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 24(11), 599–605. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.05.012
- Hobbs, R. J., & Norton, D. A. (1996). Towards a Conceptual Framework for Restoration Ecology. *Restoration Ecology*. http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/j.1526-100X.1996.tb00112.x/full
- Holder, A. M., Markarian, A., Doyle, J. M., & Olson, J. R. (2020). Predicting geographic distributions of fishes in remote stream networks using maximum entropy modeling and landscape characterizations. *Ecological Modelling*, 433, 109231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2020.109231
- Howard, P. C., Viskanic, P., Davenport, T. R. B., Kigenyi, F. W., Baltzer, M., Dickinson, C. J., Lwanga, J. S., Matthews, R. A., & Balmford, A. (1998). Complementarity and the use of indicator groups for reserve selection in Uganda. *Nature*, 394(6692), 472–475. https://doi.org/10.1038/28843
- Hunsaker, C. T., & Levine, D. A. (1995). Hierarchical approaches to the study of water quality in rivers. *BioScience*, *45*(3), 193–203.
- Isbell, F., Craven, D., Connolly, J., Loreau, M., Schmid, B., Beierkuhnlein, C., Bezemer, T. M., Bonin, C., Bruelheide, H., & De Luca, E. (2015). Biodiversity increases the resistance of ecosystem productivity to climate extremes. *Nature*, 526(7574), 574.
- Jiménez-Valverde, A., Lobo, J. M., & Hortal, J. (2019). Not as good as they seem: The importance of concepts in species distribution modelling. *Diversity and Distributions*, 885–890. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2008.00496.x@10.1111/(ISSN)1472-4642.species-distribution-models-in-conservation-biogeography
- Johnston, A., Hochachka, W. M., Strimas-Mackey, M. E., Gutierrez, V. R., Robinson, O. J., Miller, E. T., Auer, T., Kelling, S. T., & Fink, D. (2020). Analytical guidelines to increase the value of citizen science data: Using eBird data to estimate species occurrence. *BioRxiv*, 574392. https://doi.org/10.1101/574392
- Jones, C. G., Lawton, J. H., & Shachak, M. (1996). Organisms as Ecosystem Engineers. In F. B. Samson & F. L. Knopf (Eds.), *Ecosystem Management: Selected Readings* (pp. 130– 147). Springer New York. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4612-4018-1\_14
- Kang, W., Minor, E. S., Park, C.-R., & Lee, D. (2015). Effects of habitat structure, human disturbance, and habitat connectivity on urban forest bird communities. *Urban Ecosystems*, 18(3), 857–870. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11252-014-0433-5
- Kéfi, S., Domínguez-García, V., Donohue, I., Fontaine, C., Thébault, E., & Dakos, V. (2019).
  Advancing our understanding of ecological stability. *Ecology Letters*, 22(9), 1349–1356.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/ele.13340

- Kinzig, A. P., Warren, P., Martin, C., Hope, D., & Katti, M. (2005). The Effects of Human Socioeconomic Status and Cultural Characteristics on Urban Patterns of Biodiversity. *Ecology and Society*, 10(1). https://www.jstor.org/stable/26267712
- Konowalik, K., & Nosol, A. (2021). Evaluation metrics and validation of presence-only species distribution models based on distributional maps with varying coverage. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 1482. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-80062-1
- Kramer-Schadt, S., Niedballa, J., Pilgrim, J. D., Schröder, B., Lindenborn, J., Reinfelder, V.,
  Stillfried, M., Heckmann, I., Scharf, A. K., Augeri, D. M., Cheyne, S. M., Hearn, A. J.,
  Ross, J., Macdonald, D. W., Mathai, J., Eaton, J., Marshall, A. J., Semiadi, G., Rustam,
  R., ... Wilting, A. (2013). The importance of correcting for sampling bias in Maxent
  species distribution models. *Diversity and Distributions*, *19*(11), 1366–1379.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/ddi.12096
- Krueper, D. J. (1995). Conservation priorities in naturally fragmented and human-altered riparian habitats of the arid West. US Bureau of Land Management.
- LADPW. (2021). Los Angeles River Master Plan. Los Angeles County Department of Public Works. https://www.larivermasterplan.org/larmp\_document
- Link, W. A., & Sauer, J. R. (1999). Controlling for varying effort in count surveys: An analysis of Christmas Bird Count data. *Journal of Agricultural, Biological, and Environmental Statistics*, 116–125.
- Lobo, J. M., Jiménez-Valverde, A., & Real, R. (2008). AUC: A misleading measure of the performance of predictive distribution models. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 17(2), 145–151. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2007.00358.x

- Loram, A., Thompson, K., Warren, P. H., & Gaston, K. J. (2008). Urban domestic gardens (XII): The richness and composition of the flora in five UK cities. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, 19(3), 321–330.
- Luoto, M., Virkkala, R., & Heikkinen, R. K. (2007). The role of land cover in bioclimatic models depends on spatial resolution. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 16(1), 34–42. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2006.00262.x
- Manzoor, S. A., Griffiths, G., & Lukac, M. (2018). Species distribution model transferability and model grain size–finer may not always be better. *Scientific Reports*, 8(1), 1–9.
- Marzluff, J. M. (2008). Island Biogeography for an Urbanizing World How Extinction and Colonization May Determine Biological Diversity in Human-Dominated Landscapes. In J. M. Marzluff, E. Shulenberger, W. Endlicher, M. Alberti, G. Bradley, C. Ryan, U. Simon, & C. ZumBrunnen (Eds.), *Urban Ecology* (pp. 355–371). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-73412-5\_23
- May, R. M. (1972). Will a Large Complex System be Stable? *Nature*, 238(5364), 413–414. https://doi.org/10.1038/238413a0
- McGarvey, D. J., Brown, A. L., Chen, E. B., Viverette, C. B., Tuley, P. A., Latham, O. C.,
  Gibbs, P. M., Richins, A. E., Deadwyler, M. C., Lin, B., & Kaseloo, E. A. (2021). Do
  fishes enjoy the view? A Maxent assessment of fish habitat suitability within scenic
  rivers. *Biological Conservation*, 263, 109357.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2021.109357
- McKinney, M. L. (2006). Urbanization as a major cause of biotic homogenization. *Biological Conservation*, *127*(3), 247–260. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2005.09.005

McPhearson, T., & Tidball, K. G. (2013). Disturbances in urban social-ecological systems:
Niche opportunities for environmental education. *Trading Zones in Environmental Education: Creating Transdisciplinary Dialogue (Re Thinking Environmental Education), Ed. M. Krasny and J. Dillon, 193230.*

- McPHERSON, J. M., Jetz, W., & Rogers, D. J. (2004). The effects of species' range sizes on the accuracy of distribution models: Ecological phenomenon or statistical artefact? *Journal* of Applied Ecology, 41(5), 811–823. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0021-8901.2004.00943.x
- Menke, S. B., Holway, D. A., Fisher, R. N., & Jetz, W. (2009). Characterizing and predicting species distributions across environments and scales: Argentine ant occurrences in the eye of the beholder. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 18(1), 50–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2008.00420.x
- Merow, C., Smith, M. J., & Silander, J. A. (2013). A practical guide to Maxent for modeling species' distributions: What it does, and why inputs and settings matter. *Ecography*, 36(10), 1058–1069. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0587.2013.07872.x
- Muscarella, R., Galante, P. J., Soley-Guardia, M., Boria, R. A., Kass, J., Uriarte, M., &
  Anderson, R. P. (2014). ENMeval: An R package for conducting spatially independent evaluations and estimating optimal model complexity for ecological niche models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*.
- Olden, J. D., Jackson, D. A., & Peres-Neto, P. R. (2002). Predictive Models of Fish Species
  Distributions: A Note on Proper Validation and Chance Predictions. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, *131*(2), 329–336. https://doi.org/10.1577/1548-8659(2002)131<0329:PMOFSD>2.0.CO;2

- Olden, J. D., & Poff, N. L. (2003). Toward a mechanistic understanding and prediction of biotic homogenization. *The American Naturalist*, *162*(4), 442–460.
- Palmer, M. A., Bernhardt, E. S., Allan, J. D., Lake, P. S., Alexander, G., Brooks, S., Carr, J., Clayton, S., Dahm, C. N., & Shah, J. F. (2005). Standards for ecologically successful river restoration. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 42(2), 208–217.
- Pennekamp, F., Pontarp, M., Tabi, A., Altermatt, F., Alther, R., Choffat, Y., Fronhofer, E. A.,
  Ganesanandamoorthy, P., Garnier, A., Griffiths, J. I., Greene, S., Horgan, K., Massie, T.
  M., Mächler, E., Palamara, G. M., Seymour, M., & Petchey, O. L. (2018). Biodiversity
  increases and decreases ecosystem stability. *Nature*, *563*(7729), 109–112.
  https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-018-0627-8
- Phillips, S. J., Anderson, R. P., & Schapire, R. E. (2006a). Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic distributions. *Ecological Modelling*, 190(3–4), 231–259.
- Phillips, S. J., Anderson, R. P., & Schapire, R. E. (2006b). Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic distributions. *Ecological Modelling*, 190(3–4), 231–259.
- Phillips, S. J., & Dudík, M. (2008). Modeling of species distributions with Maxent: New extensions and a comprehensive evaluation. *Ecography*, 31(2), 161–175. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0906-7590.2008.5203.x
- Phillips, S. J., Dudik, M., Elith, J., Graham, C. H., Lehmann, A., Leathwick, J., & Ferrier, S.
  (2009). Sample Selection Bias and Presence-Only Distribution Models: Implications for Background and Pseudo-Absence Data. *Ecological Applications*, 19(1), 181–197.
  JSTOR.

- Pickett, S. T., Burch, W. R., Dalton, S. E., Foresman, T. W., Grove, J. M., & Rowntree, R. (1997). A conceptual framework for the study of human ecosystems in urban areas. *Urban Ecosystems*, 1(4), 185–199.
- Pimm, S. L. (1984). The complexity and stability of ecosystems. Nature, 307(5949), 321-326.
- Préau, C., Trochet, A., Bertrand, R., & Isselin-Nondedeu, F. (2018). Modeling potential distributions of three European amphibian species comparing ENFA and Maxent. *Herpetological Conservation and Biology*, 13.
- Radosavljevic, A., & Anderson, R. P. (2014). Making better Maxent models of species
  distributions: Complexity, overfitting and evaluation. *Journal of Biogeography*, 41(4),
  629–643. https://doi.org/10.1111/jbi.12227
- Raes, N., & ter Steege, H. (2007). A Null-Model for Significance Testing of Presence-Only Species Distribution Models. *Ecography*, 30(5), 727–736.
- Randin, C. F., Dirnböck, T., Dullinger, S., Zimmermann, N. E., Zappa, M., & Guisan, A. (2006).
  Are niche-based species distribution models transferable in space? *Journal of Biogeography*, *33*(10), 1689–1703. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2006.01466.x
- Rebele, F. (1994). Urban Ecology and Special Features of Urban Ecosystems. *Global Ecology* and Biogeography Letters, 4(6), 173–187. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/2997649
- Rhoden, C. M., Peterman, W. E., & Taylor, C. A. (2017). Maxent-directed field surveys identify new populations of narrowly endemic habitat specialists. *PeerJ*, 5, e3632. https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3632
- Roach, N. S., Hunter, E. A., Nibbelink, N. P., & Barrett, K. (2017). Poor transferability of a distribution model for a widespread coastal marsh bird in the southeastern United States. *Ecosphere*, 8(3), e01715. https://doi.org/10.1002/ecs2.1715

- Rodríguez-Pastor, R., Senar, J. C., Ortega, A., Faus, J., Uribe, F., & Montalvo, T. (2012).
  Distribution patterns of invasive Monk parakeets(Myiopsitta monachus) in an urban habitat. *Animal Biodiversity and Conservation*, 35(1), 107–117.
- Saunders, D. A., Hobbs, R. J., & Margules, C. R. (1991). Biological Consequences of Ecosystem Fragmentation: A Review. *Conservation Biology*, 5(1), 18–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1523-1739.1991.tb00384.x
- Schulman, L., Toivonen, T., & Ruokolainen, K. (2007). Analysing botanical collecting effort in Amazonia and correcting for it in species range estimation. *Journal of Biogeography*, 34(8), 1388–1399. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2007.01716.x
- Sharma, S., Arunachalam, K., Bhavsar, D., & Kala, R. (2018). Modeling habitat suitability of Perilla frutescens with Maxent in Uttarakhand—A conservation approach. *Journal of Applied Research on Medicinal and Aromatic Plants*, 10, 99–105. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jarmap.2018.02.003
- Shirey, V., Seppälä, S., Branco, V. V., & Cardoso, P. (2019). Current GBIF occurrence data demonstrates both promise and limitations for potential red listing of spiders. *Biodiversity Data Journal*, 7, e47369. https://doi.org/10.3897/BDJ.7.e47369
- Silver, W. L., Brown, S., & Lugo, A. E. (1996). Biodiversity and Biogeochemical Cycles. In G.
  H. Orians, R. Dirzo, & J. H. Cushman (Eds.), *Biodiversity and Ecosystem Processes in Tropical Forests* (pp. 49–67). Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Smith, A. B. (2022). enmSdm: Tools for Modeling Niches and Distributions of Species. http://github.com/adamlilith/enmSdm

- Steen, V. A., Elphick, C. S., & Tingley, M. W. (2019). An evaluation of stringent filtering to improve species distribution models from citizen science data. *Diversity and Distributions*, 25(12), 1857–1869.
- Stockwell, D. (1999). The GARP modelling system: Problems and solutions to automated spatial prediction. *International Journal of Geographical Information Science*, *13*(2), 143–158.
- Suarez-Rubio, M., & Thomlinson, J. R. (2009). Landscape and patch-level factors influence bird communities in an urbanized tropical island. *Biological Conservation*, 142(7), 1311– 1321. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2008.12.035
- Sullivan, B. L., Wood, C. L., Iliff, M. J., Bonney, R. E., Fink, D., & Kelling, S. (2009). eBird: A citizen-based bird observation network in the biological sciences. *Biological Conservation*, 142(10), 2282–2292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2009.05.006
- Swanson, A., Kosmala, M., Lintott, C., & Packer, C. (2016). A generalized approach for producing, quantifying, and validating citizen science data from wildlife images. *Conservation Biology*, 30(3), 520–531. https://doi.org/10.1111/cobi.12695
- The Nature Conservancy. (2016). Los Angeles River Habitat Enhancement Study and Opportunities Assessment.
- Tilman, D., & Downing, J. A. (1994). Biodiversity and stability in grasslands. *Nature*, 367(6461), 363.
- van der Heijden, M. G. A., Klironomos, J. N., Ursic, M., Moutoglis, P., Streitwolf-Engel, R.,
  Boller, T., Wiemken, A., & Sanders, I. R. (1998). Mycorrhizal fungal diversity
  determines plant biodiversity, ecosystem variability and productivity. *Nature*, *396*(6706),
  69–72. https://doi.org/10.1038/23932

- van Heezik, Y., Freeman, C., Porter, S., & Dickinson, K. J. M. (2013). Garden Size, Householder Knowledge, and Socio-Economic Status Influence Plant and Bird Diversity at the Scale of Individual Gardens. *Ecosystems*, 16(8), 1442–1454. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-013-9694-8
- Veech, J. A. (2012). Significance testing in ecological null models. *Theoretical Ecology*, 5(4), 611–616. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12080-012-0159-z
- Veloz, S. (2009). Veloz: Spatially autocorrelated sampling falsely inflates measures of accuracy for presence-only niche models. *Journal of Biogeography*, 36(12). https://scholar.google.com/scholar\_lookup?hl=en&volume=36&publication\_year=2009& pages=2290-

2299&journal=Journal+of+Biogeography&author=S.D.+Veloz&title=Spatially+autocorr elated+sampling+falsely+inflates+measures+of+accuracy+for+presence%E2%80%90onl y+niche+models

- Wang, Y., Casajus, N., Buddle, C., Berteaux, D., & Larrivée, M. (2018). Predicting the distribution of poorly-documented species, Northern black widow (Latrodectus variolus) and Black purse-web spider (Sphodros niger), using museum specimens and citizen science data. *PLOS ONE*, *13*(8), e0201094. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0201094
- Warren, D. L., Matzke, N. J., & Iglesias, T. L. (2020). Evaluating presence-only species distribution models with discrimination accuracy is uninformative for many applications. *Journal of Biogeography*, 47(1), 167–180.
- Warren, D. L., & Seifert, S. N. (2011). Ecological niche modeling in Maxent: The importance of model complexity and the performance of model selection criteria. *Ecological Applications*, 21(2), 335–342.

- Watson, J. E. M., Whittaker, R. J., & Freudenberger, D. (2005). Bird community responses to habitat fragmentation: How consistent are they across landscapes? *Journal of Biogeography*, 32(8), 1353–1370. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2699.2005.01256.x
- West, A. M., Kumar, S., Brown, C. S., Stohlgren, T. J., & Bromberg, J. (2016). Field validation of an invasive species Maxent model. *Ecological Informatics*, 36, 126–134. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoinf.2016.11.001
- Wisz, M. S., Hijmans, R. J., Li, J., Peterson, A. T., Graham, C. H., Guisan, A., & Group, N. P. S.
  D. W. (2008). Effects of sample size on the performance of species distribution models. *Diversity and Distributions*, 14(5), 763–773. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2008.00482.x
- Woolsey, S., Capelli, F., Gonser, T., Hoehn, E., Hostmann, M., Junker, B., Paetzold, A., Roulier, C., Schweizer, S., Tiegs, S. D., Tockner, K., Weber, C., & Peter, A. (2007). A strategy to assess river restoration success. *Freshwater Biology*, 52(4), 752–769. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2007.01740.x
- Yackulic, C. B., Chandler, R., Zipkin, E. F., Royle, J. A., Nichols, J. D., Campbell Grant, E. H., & Veran, S. (2013). Presence-only modelling using MAXENT: When can we trust the inferences? *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 4(3), 236–243. https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210x.12004

<sup>Yoccoz, N. (1991). Use, overuse, and misuse of signifiance tests in evolutionary biology and ecology.</sup> *Bulletin of the Ecological Society of America*, 72(2).
https://scholar.google.com/scholar\_lookup?title=Use%2C%20overuse%2C%20and%20 misuse%20of%20significance%20tests%20in%20evolutionary%20biology%20and%20e cology&publication\_year=1991&author=N.G.%20Yoccoz

- York, P., Evangelista, P., Kumar, S., Graham, J., Flather, C., & Stohlgren, T. (2011). A habitat overlap analysis derived from Maxent for tamarisk and the south-western willow flycatcher. *Frontiers of Earth Science; Dordrecht*, 5(2), 120–129. http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11707-011-0154-5
- Zaniewski, A. E., Lehmann, A., & Overton, J. M. (2002). Predicting species spatial distributions using presence-only data: A case study of native New Zealand ferns. *Ecological Modelling*, 157(2–3), 261–280.
- Zhang, G. (2020). Spatial and temporal patterns in volunteer data contribution activities: A case study of eBird. *ISPRS International Journal of Geo-Information*, 9(10), 597.

# 4 Better Capturing the Biodiversity Benefits of Green Infrastructure: Using a Delphi Process and Expert Insight to Identify Habitat Metrics for Green Infrastructure in Urban Areas

## 4.1 Introduction

Today, the majority of people live in cities and that number is expected to grow by 2.5 billion by 2050 (UN, 2014). Increased urbanization will undoubtedly have impacts on local ecosystems through the increased growth of impervious area, natural resource demand, land development, and habitat loss (Booth et al., 2004). Chief among the impacts of urbanization is the loss of biodiversity, the variety of life on earth, which is already rapidly declining throughout the planet (Millenium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005; Singh, 2002). Urban areas, however, can have a role in enhancing biodiversity through the use of gardens, green networks, abandoned lots, etc., and can enhance ecosystem services, such as provisioning (Sandifer et al., 2015) and supporting services (Bolund & Hunhammar, 1999; Goddard et al., 2010; Mathey & Rink, 2010). Intra-city meta-analysis have highlighted key strategies for supporting urban biodiversity, such as increasing the area of habitat patches, corridor networks, and heterogeneous vegetation structures (Beninde et al., 2015). One strategy less rigorously documented in the academic literature is the widespread implementation of green infrastructure (National Academies of Sciences, 2017).

Green infrastructure is a low impact development strategy that can reduce the flow of stormwater to stream networks, enhance the infiltration of stormwater into groundwater, and

treat and capture stormwater using physical and biological processes. These strategies can range in size and the extent of naturalness, ranging from permeable pavement and dry wells to rain gardens, detention ponds, and bioswales (US EPA, 2015). The strategies encompassed within green infrastructure overlap considerably with the recently coined term, nature based solutions (NBS). However, opposed to the stormwater focus of green infrastructure (Grabowski et al., 2022), NBS is a transdisciplinary concept that emphasizes solutions that are nature based and can solve vexing urban environmental problems, like climate change (Escobedo et al., 2019; Raymond et al., 2017). In this study, we define green infrastructure similarly to the EPA, "the range of measures that use plant or soil systems, permeable pavement or other permeable surfaces or substrates, stormwater harvest and reuse, or landscaping to store, infiltrate, or evapotranspirate stormwater and reduce flows to sewer systems or to surface waters." This study specifically focuses on vegetated, stormwater management strategies that range in scale but can be embedded within urban land uses.

There are a few studies that have documented the ecological benefits of green infrastructure While some studies have questioned the performance and reliability of green infrastructure systems (Bernhardt et al., 2005; Tetra tech, n.d.), watersheds with a greater number of green infrastructure projects have a less flashy hydrograph, reduced peak runoff, and a reduction in the export of nitrate and total nitrogen (Pennino et al., 2016). Detention and retention ponds have been particularly well studied. Retention and detention ponds can mitigate common stressors to aquatic ecosystems by reducing the variability of flows and allowing salts, sediments, and contaminants to settle out, lessening the impact of stormwater to nearby streams (Wu et al., 1996). As a result, some practitioners view green infrastructure as the remedy to save the stream (Walsh et al., 2005), while also mitigating urban heat, water resource limitations, and flooding (Gill et al., 2007; Ignatieva & Manaaki Whenua, 2008; Palta et al., 2017).

While design criteria of green infrastructure projects have largely focused on hydrology and pollutant removal and not on habitat, wildlife have been shown to use green infrastructure and other urban features as habitat (Palta et al., 2017; Scher & Thièry, 2005). Stormwater ponds in urban and suburban areas with a low density of natural wetlands have been documented breeding sites for amphibian species (Brand & Snodgrass, 2010). However, some of these aquatic habitats may be of poor quality because they expose species to sub-lethal toxicity due to the presence of oils, grease, metals, and PAH in stormwater (Bishop et al., 2000; Simon et al., 2009). As a result, biodiversity can be limited to generalist and stress tolerant species, reflective of marginal habitats (Bishop et al., 2000). Habitat condition can, however, depend on setting. For example, under conditions of low impervious cover (<20%) and high forest cover (>40%), detention ponds can have species diversity comparable to natural ponds (Simon et al., 2009). While the breadth of studies are still limited and largely focused on stormwater ponds, where aquatic toxicity may be of particular concern, green infrastructure projects can serve as experiments in designing, monitoring, and hosting multiple benefits in urban areas, much like existing urban forests and gardens (Borysiak et al., 2017). Their ease of integration in the urban landscape, in easements, roadways, alleys, parks, and neighborhoods, would potentially allow for the connection of larger habitat areas across multiple scales that create a network by which species can move, migrate, and become more resilient to climate change (Green, 2010). The role green infrastructure can play toward increasing habitat and urban biodiversity merits further research, particularly given the value of small habitat patches (Wintle et al., 2019) and rapidly

declining global diversity. After all, as noted by Rodrigues et al. (2004), reserves are too few, too isolated, and too degraded to depend on large open areas by themselves to sustain biodiversity.

Ecological theory supports managing and designing green infrastructure projects for biodiversity because such designs would not only increase habitat value but, also, reduce management needs and enhance ecosystem functioning. The biodiversity-ecosystem functioning theory, for example, surmises that more biodiverse systems create greater opportunities for the niche specializations that allow species to better capture resources (van der Heijden et al., 1998). Though the subject of an ongoing decades-long debate (Goodman, 1975; McCann, 2000; Murdoch, 1975), the complexity-stability theory states that biodiversity helps create more stable systems that are resilient to disturbance and invasion, further incentivizing designing green infrastructure systems that host complex species assemblages. Ecological theory provides ample incentive for designing green infrastructure systems that enhance biodiversity due to reduced maintenance needs, increased stability, and improved regulating services that maximize contaminant removal and, potentially, other ecosystem functions important to communities (Levin & Mehring, 2015).

While many municipalities have integrated green infrastructure into sustainability efforts and projects are increasingly located within the urban footprint, the relative novelty of green infrastructure projects has meant that there is no clear consensus on the habitat goals green infrastructure can achieve nor the associated metrics, particularly for non-water resource focused benefits, by which to measure habitat benefits. Metrics, defined herein as a measure of system performance, can, through agreed upon measures of a system's attributes of interest, create the foundation for monitoring programs that assess project success. The success of certain habitat goals and the metrics of interest will, undoubtedly, be project specific and depend on local context. However, by first standardizing a global set of goals and metrics, we can better inform project practitioners about key design and management strategies (Baggett et al., 2015; SER, 2004). The field of restoration ecology has provided many examples of metric frameworks, metric selection processes, and documented the purpose and value of standard metrics. For example, metrics related to river restoration and benthic macroinvertebrate communities have been used to understand recovery in restored sites (Leps et al., 2016) and stressor heterogeneity metrics for filtering candidate sites for restoration (Neeson et al., 2016). Indicator and metric frameworks have been used to facilitate communication about natural resources, characterize ecosystems, measure restoration success, and assess trends and status of natural resources (James et al., 2020; Luckenbach, 2011; NOAA, 2021; UNEP/CBD/COP, 2011). Metrics can support developing knowledge of a system, determining appropriate management action, and understanding the effect of actions on project and system performance (Convertino et al., 2013; McKay et al., 2012).

Many ecological goals can be monitored using a multitude of metrics. Standardizing metrics can support comparison between projects and accommodate the constraints managers may face in completing those measurements, (e.g. cost and difficulty). Others have described a few approaches for metric selection, these include the use of best professional judgment and historical precedence (Convertino et al., 2013; McKay et al., 2012). Each approach for metric selection has its associated strengths and weaknesses. Metrics based on best professional judgment, for example, are inexpensive but may bias metric selection based on included stakeholders. While historical comparisons allow for comparability between previous projects but may overlook better suited metrics for those that are familiar. Furthermore, methods that guide group decision making on the selection of goals, indicators, or metrics have their own

associated strength and weaknesses, can lead to biased outcomes, and can range in the degree of structure for eliciting responses and reaching consensus (Bourrée et al., 2008; Humphrey-Murto et al., 2017). For example, multi-dimension criteria analysis, a highly structured consensus method, has been used in ecology to select appropriate metrics for monitoring restoration, using explicit utility criteria, and for selecting urban tree species based on aesthetics and maintenance criteria, among others (Convertino et al., 2013; Ghafari et al., 2020). The Delphi approach consists of a series of structured, anonymous, and iterative surveys and is a useful method for reaching group consensus in the absence of empirical evidence by making use of expert insight (Mukherjee et al., 2015). The approach has been employed in ecology to identify connectivity indicators (Eycott et al., 2011), water resource decisions focused on identifying water levels for fisheries (J. G. Taylor & Ryder, 2003), and has supported conservation decisions (Murphy et al., 1998).

In this study I will elicit the professional judgement of experts to develop and refine a set of goals and objectives for green infrastructure projects in urban areas using the Delphi approach. I will then identify plausible metrics for each objective based on expert suggestions and review of the academic literature.

# 4.2 Methods

Habitat goals and objectives for green infrastructure projects were identified using a Delphi approach. The Delphi is an iterative survey approach with successive rounds of feedback for participants after each round. Its iterative nature, which includes at least one round of feedback, ensures that there is more credibility than other consensus methods (Eycott et al., 2011; Mukherjee et al., 2015). However, it is important to recognize the associated weaknesses of the

Delphi technique, which has been criticized for the lack of accountability associated with anonymous response (Powell, 2003). Another criticism of the Delphi is that reporting between each round of surveys pushes participants to consensus under a mistaken view that the majority is correct (Sinead et al., 2011). However, other non-anonymous group methods have their own inherent weaknesses due to the social dynamics of groups, including "group think", "egocentrism", "halo effect", and "dominance", that can impact the prioritization of ideas (Mukherjee et al., 2015). The weaknesses associated with the approach were counterbalanced by selecting experts and practitioners with relevant experience and by comparing responses to academic literature, when available.

A list of potential participants was developed based on personal knowledge and a literature review of published literature from the region. Participants were vetted by ensuring they met at least two of the following criteria:

- Have implemented, or consulted on the implementation of, a green infrastructure projects in the Southwestern region;
- Have implemented, or consulted on, habitat restoration projects in the Southwestern region;
- Have expertise in urban ecology, riparian ecosystems, freshwater and wildlife biology, or conservation;
- Have made design and plant palette recommendations for restoration or green infrastructure projects;

• Have designed, made recommendation, or engaged in applied research to enhance ecosystem services in restoration, green infrastructure, or, generally, urban greening projects.

Those selected for participation were asked to recommend colleagues for participation, who were subjected to the same selection criteria. Since varied perspectives, personalities, and backgrounds have been associated with stronger outcomes (Murphy et al., 1998), participants were balanced to include experts from universities, government agencies, non-profit organizations, and project practitioners. Two to three experts were then selected from each field that was represented in the initial list of participants and invited to participate, so as to, as much as possible, balance representation within the fields represented. Represented fields included urban ecology, conservation biology, aquatic ecology, general biology, landscape architecture, and planning. A total of 15 experts were selected for project participation. Of the 15 experts invited to participate, 12 of the experts agreed to participate.

All potential participants were sent information about the study objectives, process, and context for the research. Previous work has suggested that the amount of knowledge on a topic, perceptions about the accuracy required, and willingness to participate influence survey non-response (Beatty & Herrmann, 2002). Efforts to reduce non-response have focused on cognitive, motivational, and design considerations. Since non-response or drop-out can introduce considerable error and add additional complexity to data analysis (Fowler, 2009), a short description of the Delphi's goals, the value of respondent feedback, the selection of knowledgeable respondents, and narrative ensuring the anonymity of survey responses were included with introductory materials.

The Delphi was planned as 3-4 round iterative survey. The objective of each survey round is summarized in Table 20. After an initial brainstorming survey, whereby experts were queried about broad goals applicable to green infrastructure, nested objectives, and applicable metrics, goals and objectives were queried separately to make the survey more manageable. Goals were queried for two survey rounds using a ranking and then a scoring method. A scoring method, whereby experts could assign points to each goal, was used on the second round because experts had noted that some goals were deemed of equal importance. Two survey rounds focused of refining the list of goals because there was considerable editing and reorganization of goals between survey rounds and additional rationale. In an attempt to reduce expert fatigue, given there were more than 23 objectives to review, and to stay within 3-4 survey rounds, the final survey requested that experts categorize objectives into one of five categories. These categories were developed based on themes in responses from previous survey iterations. They included disagreement with a given recommendation because it was not feasible, not easily measured, or unachievable using/in green infrastructure. Specifically, the 5 categories that were used to categorize a list of 23 objectives were: important and achievable, important but only achievable in certain conditions, important and unachievable using green infrastructure, important but cannot be practically measured, and unimportant. Since expert participation dropped considerably on the fourth survey and introductory documents described 3-4 survey rounds, the study was concluded on the fourth survey round. Given fatigue from expert participants, I selected metrics for each objective based on cost, feasibility for practitioners, expert recommendations, and scientific support for a given metric, making use, as much as possible, of data and reporting from existing and funded programs.

Before each successive survey, participants were provided a summary of survey responses from the previous round. Survey summaries also highlighted items with considerable disagreement and answered lingering expert questions (e.g. better defining green infrastructure). As the facilitator for the Delphi approach, I also summarized rationale in favor and in opposition to each goal or objective to facilitate ranking or scoring. I played the role of a critical evaluator, noting instances where expert critiques were missing or unbalanced and provided counterarguments when they were missing. The summaries that were shared with experts also included measures of central tendency. These measured included the extent of agreement between participants, captured using Kendall's W (Schucany & Frawley, 1973) and variability in scores/ranks. A commonly used metric for within-subject stability across survey rounds, calculated using the Kappa statistic (Viera & Garrett, 2005), could not be calculated for the second and third surveys because goals varied between rounds due to re-wording and reorganization (i.e. goals like enhance water quality became an objective within the increase biotic integrity goal) and because scoring method changed between rounds.

Round	Objective	Expert Directions	Participation Rate
Survey 1	Brainstorm biodiversity goals, objectives, and metrics for green infrastructure projects	List goals, objectives, metrics and provide rationale for the inclusion of each	91%
Survey 2	Refine list of goals through ranking exercise and share rationale from experts that suggested each goal	Rank each goal and provide rationale for rankings	100%
Survey 3	Refine reorganized list of goals, given poor agreement in previous round, and share rationale in support or opposition of each goal.	Distribute 100 points among 5 goals and provide rationale for point distribution	100%
Survey 4	Score and refine objectives by categorizing each into one of five categories: 1.) Important and achievable; 2.) Important and sometimes achievable; 3.) Important but not easily measured; 4.) Important but not achieavable in/using GI; 5.) Unimportant	Categorize each objective and provide comment or rationale	67%

Table 20. Objectives of each survey round, requested response from experts, and response rate for each survey round. Green infrastructure is abbreviated as GI.

Ranks and scores for each survey were analyzed along with the themes in rationale. In the first survey, to better quantify alignment in priorities among experts and because there were often disagreements about what qualified as an objective versus a goal, I tallied the common themes across all question types (e.g. the improving habitat quality theme may have been mentioned within rationale or explicitly listed as a goal or objective) (Ryan & Bernard, n.d.). Common ecological themes were tallied based on the repetition of words or phrases in submitted responses. In order to not inflate counts from experts that were more preoccupied with a particular theme or had a lengthier response, repetition of the same theme within a single expert's responses were not counted. Themes in rationale for the third survey were similarly tallied.

For surveys that involved ranking or scoring, I used hierarchical cluster dendrograms to identify clusters, whether goals, objectives, or experts, that were closely grouped or distant based on Ward's linkage. Ward's linkage minimizes the distance in sum of squares between clusters (Milligan & Cooper, 1988). I also used a one-way ANOVA to identify goals or objectives that received significantly lower scores from experts and boxplots to visualize the average and spread of scores or ranks. Both strategies were used to understand groupings and to support the removal of a goal or objective.

In the final categorization survey, categories were converted to numerical values so that "important and achievable" received the highest point value of 5, "important and sometimes achievable" a 4, "important but not easily measured" a 3, "important but not easily achievable" a 2, and "unimportant" a score of 1. These converted numerical values were used in determining the Kendall's W value of concordance. Based on the categories associated with each numerical value, average assigned scores above 4.6 were considered objectives that were important and well supported by experts, scores between 4.1-4.5 were important and considered moderately supported, scores between 3.6-4.0 were considered plausible for some projects but not widely supported, and any objective with a score less than 3.6 was considered poorly supported and proposed for removal.

# 4.3 Results

The Delphi approach is an iterative survey approach that, in this research, facilitated building consensus over the goals and objectives that apply to green infrastructure projects over several rounds. The first survey asked experts, "what goals and objectives should we have for habitat/biodiversity when developing green infrastructure projects?" The most popular of themes that emerged from the first brainstorming survey focused on habitat quality and increasing native plant species cover (Table 21). Experts suggested a total of 11 goals (Table 22), each with 2 to 9 associated objectives. Experts responses ranged from goals and objectives that strictly focused on the physical conditions that supported species, practical concerns about the feasibility of hosting biodiversity in urban spaces or measuring it, the practical and socioecological aspects of biodiversity, and the role of citizen scientists in supporting data collection. These themes continued to emerge and be a prominent point of discussion in subsequent survey rounds

Table 21 Most common themes across expert responses, based on counts of keywords and phrases, following the brainstorm survey.

Themes	Count
Enhancing habitat quality	6
Increasing native species cover	5
Enhancing habitat connectivity	4
Need for species inventories and additional	
research	4
Measures of species performance	4
Increasing habitat complexity	4
Enhancing permeability and water capture	3
Increasing plant and tree canopy cover	3
Role of citizen science in education and	
quantification of biodiversity	3

Table 22. Habitat goals identified by experts during brainstorming survey and ranked in the second survey round.

#	Goals
1	Improve biotic integrity of streams at a watershed scale
2	Increase habitat connectivity and access to nature
	Gather data for further meaningful study on complex factors
3	affecting species richness and diversity.
	Expand habitat knowledge and appreciation by local
4	communities
	Increase habitat quality in urban areas to encourage more
5	diverse taxa, particularly native taxa
	Preserve and acquire open space, with a focus in South Los
	Angeles, along the LA River and adjacent areas to benefit
6	recreation, residents, and wildlife.
7	Increase permeability of urban areas
8	Provide refugia for native species
	Encourage specific habitats or resources for locally
9	threatened/endangered species and or migrators
10	Increase vegetation within and along the River
11	Enhance water quality to support biodiversity

The second surveys focused on refining the lists of goals through a ranking exercise (a rank of one denotes that the goal was the most important). Goals with the highest average rank were "improving habitat quality" and "preserving and acquiring open space" (Figure 14). The goals that were deemed less important based on rank, in decreasing order, were "enhancing habitat knowledge", "enhancing water quality", and "data gathering". Using an ANOVA, I determined that there were no significant differences between goal ranks, with the exception of

habitat quality, which was highly ranked, and data gathering (p=0.05). Overall, expert rankings did not differ significantly from random and there was poor agreement (a Kendall's W of 1 denotes perfect agreement and 0 denotes no agreement) between experts (Kendall's W = 0.14, p = 0.19). Using a hierarchical cluster analysis (Figure 15), I found that there was no single goal that was very dissimilar, based on Ward's distance. Instead there were two distinct groupings of which open space and data gathering were distinct from creating refugia, improving habitat quality, and creating habitat for threatened and endangered species. Since the goal of gathering

more data was ranked significantly more poorly than the habitat quality goal and because experts pointed out that data gathering was an underlying objective driving all goals, it was removed.



Figure 14 Box plot of survey two rankings for each goal. Note that goals with a lower numerical value are more important than goals with a higher numerical value (i.e. a goal ranked as 1 was deemed the most important). Stars denote significant differences in expert rankings. Goals were shortened for readability and are fully described in Table 22.



Distance

Figure 15 Dendrogram of the hierarchical cluster analysis using Ward's method, based on reducing within group sum of squares, for goals ranked in the second survey.

 Table 23. Summary of changes to goals following input from experts in the second survey round.

Initial Goals	Changes			
Improve biotic integrity of streams at a watershed scale	No change			
Increase habitat connectivity and access to nature	Changed to increase habitat connectivity and access to nature made made an objective within, "improve opportunities for human interaction and access to nature" capture more sociecological aspects of			
Gather data for further meaningful study on complex				
factors affecting species richness and diversity.	Removed			
Expand habitat knowledge and appreciation by local communities	Changed to objective within "improve opportunities for human interaction and access to nature"			
Increase habitat quality in urban areas to encourage				
more diverse taxa, particularly native taxa	No change			
Preserve and acquire open space, with a focus in South Los Angeles, along the LA River and adjacent areas to benefit recreation, residents, and wildlife.	Changed to objective within "improve opportunities for human interaction and access to nature"			
Increase permeability of urban areas	Now an objective under improving biotic integrity of streams recognizing that increased permeability improves hydrology and biotic integrity of streams			
Provide refugia for native species	Now an objective under increase habitat quality because the availability of refugia is closely related to other attributes of quality habitats.			
Encourage specific habitats or resources for locally threatened/endangered species and or migrators	Now an objective under increase habitat quality since threatened and endangered species are encompassed within diverse taxa			
Increase vegetation within and along the River	Now an objective under improving biotic integrity of streams recognizing that adjacent vegetation can buffer streams from stress			
Enhance water quality to support biodiversity	Now an objective under improving biotic integrity of streams recognizing that water quality is important to aquatic species			
Improve opportunities for human interaction and access to nature	Added to capture socioecological aspects biodiversity and expert focus on access to nature			

The third survey was used to further refine and finalize a list of goals that had undergone considerable reorganizing based on expert input from the previous survey round (Table 23). Despite experts having to read the rationale of other experts immediately prior to point assignment, agreement among experts on scoring did not significantly differ from random and Kendall's W values were similar to those from the previous survey round (Kendall's W = 0.16, p

= 0.19). An additional round of surveying and the opportunity to share additional rationale for remaining goals did not improve agreement among experts. Hierarchical cluster analysis identified habitat quality as the goal with scores that were the most dissimilar to other scored goals, this goal had the highest average score at the end of the survey round but also a large range in assigned scores (Figure 16; Figure 17). Human connection, another goal with a large range in expert scores, had a nearly significantly lower score than habitat quality (p=0.09; Figure 17). Given that there was not strong support for removing any additional goals, querying of goals concluded after the third survey. The final set of biodiversity goals are broadly focused on the physical features or attributes that better host biodiversity, capture the humans elements of biodiversity, and the integrated aspect of ecosystems health that sustain functional biotic communities. The goals were largely unchanged between survey rounds, as only the goal of collecting additional data was dropped, but instead the most substantial changes resulted from the reorganization of goals.



Figure 17 Hierarchical cluster analysis dendogram of the goals surveyed during the third survey round. Clustering method is based on Ward's distance.



Figure 16 Box plot of expert scores for green infrastructure goal from survey 3. Higher scores denote a higher importance.

To better understand similarities and dissimilarities between experts that might reveal whether a subset of experts were driving a lack of agreement, I did hierarchical clustering for participants (Figure 18). Participants were categorized by expertise including aquatic ecology (AE), urban ecology (UE), conservation biology (CB), specialized biology (SB, used for experts that specialized in specific species), landscape architecture (LA), and planner (P). The HCA showed that experts with similar expertise did not necessarily score goals similarly. Additionally, several experts had scores that were similar to each other but distinct from those of other participants (P2, SB1, and CB2). This clustering suggests that differences in scoring during the goal setting exercise are not necessarily grounded in expertise and that no single expert, but instead a small and diverse subset, are responsible for the lack of concordance in the final round of goal surveying. Rationale that experts offered, albeit submitting a rationale was not required in the third survey and was often terse (e.g. "timeliness and feasibility"), for scoring provides some insight for the lack of concordance and is summarized in (Table 24). The stated reasons for goal ranks could be largely categorized into feasibility of measurement (e.g. whether connectivity can be measured at the project scale), relevance, and likelihood of success, which was the most frequently cited reason for a low score.



Distance

Figure 18 Dendrogram of hierarchical clustering of expert scores following third survey. Experts are identified by their expertise and they include planner (P), specialist biologist (SB), conservation biologist (SB), aquatic ecologist (AE), urban ecologist (UE), planner (P), and landscape architect (LA). Clusters are based on Ward's distance.

Table 24 Category of rationale for goal ranking provided by experts, frequency by which this rationale appeared in expert responses, along with an excerpted rationale from the third survey.

Scoring Rationale	Frequency	Goal	Excerpted Response
Feasibility (measurement)	3	General, connectivity	"I also acknowledge that impacts of connectivity are not always unequivocal, particularly as conditions and species habits/needs/mobility, etc. vary so widely. That said, while this seems important for larger goals and prioritization, I think there are singular remote sensing measures that can probably capture this effectively relative to other needs and so may not be a leading focus."
Relavence to biodiversity	4	Human connection	"I appreciate the point that this is not focused on biodiversity specifically, but I also accept that people only learn what they care about and only care about what they understand. Direct experience are very important for a wider population to realize conservation goals and are rightfully considerations for prioritization, planning, education/study, and resource allocations connected with these efforts."
	f 6	Connectivity, biotic integrity, habitat quality	"Connectivity is important, but may be difficult to achieve in an urban matrix"
Likelihood of			Biotic Integrity-"While I can agree with concern over stresses to waterbodies in our region, I would also hold that experts must continue to weigh in and prioritize these areas if we are to prevent circumstances getting worse, let alone to realize positive change."
SUCCESS			"I really think that going after habitat quality in an urban area is extremely challenging - by habitat quality, I think in terms of the quality of a habitat in supporting populations. For the taxa I study, birds, this would equate to high breeding success, which is extremely difficult to obtain in urban areas for species of concern."

Finally, in the concluding survey I asked experts to categorize each objective that had been submitted during the initial brainstorm survey into one of five categories, objectives and categories are described in Table 25. The participation from experts in the final survey was 33% lower than in previous surveys but the final survey was also the longest survey with a total of 46 questions, 23 of which required a response. Of the objectives that were submitted by experts, the most strongly supported included increasing the permeability of urban areas and tree canopy cover followed by training and educating workers in maintenance, and expanding educational knowledge of biodiversity. Connectivity objectives were combined after one expert noted the need for simplicity and overlap. Generally, agreement among a diverse set of experts across all survey rounds had poor agreement despite survey and summary documents highlighting rationale each expert made for or against the inclusion of specific goals or objectives. The categorization of objectives was no exception. Despite categories that already captured themes in expert objections to previously surveyed goals, that is feasibility, likelihood of success, and relevance, the categorization of objectives across all experts did not significantly differ from random and agreement between experts was very low (Kendall's W = 0.10, p = 0.42). Except for a single expert ranking one objective as unimportant, all experts agreed that all surveyed objectives are important. However, categorization that does not differ from random suggest that experts disagree about feasibility, likelihood of success, and the relevance of several objectives.

Table 25 Categorization of green infrastructure objectives. Categories were converted to numerical values (important and achievable =5 and unimportant = 1). The average score was used as the basis for categorizing the importance of objectives and that breakdown is as follows: objectives with scores  $\geq$  4.6 are important and well supported;  $4.5 \geq x \geq 4.1$  are moderately important and supported;  $4.0 \geq x \geq 3.6$  are plausible for some projects but not widely supported; scores <3.6 are proposed for removal.

Goals	Objectives	Important and achievable	Important and sometimes achieavable	Important but not practically measured	Important but not achievable with GI	Unimportant	Average	SD
	Increase permeability of urban areas so as to increase infiltration and reduce runoff	75%	13%	13%	0%	0%	4.6	0.7
Tuunuuu biatia intomitu	Increase vegetation within and along local streams	50%	38%	13%	0%	0%	4.4	0.7
of streams	Enhance water quality	63%	13%	25%	0%	0%	4.4	0.9
	Improve physical condition of streams	38%	25%	38%	0%	0%	4.0	0.9
	Provide suitable habitat for cold water species	38%	50%	13%	0%	0%	4.3	0.7
	Increase native plant cover	63%	25%	0%	0%	13%	4.3	1.4
	Enhance habitat complexity	38%	25%	25%	13%	0%	3.9	1.1
	Increase plant species diversity	63%	25%	13%	0%	0%	4.5	0.8
	Increase tree canopy cover	75%	25%	0%	0%	0%	4.8	0.5
	Support ecosystem functions	50%	0%	50%	0%	0%	4.0	1.1
	Increase area of high quality, native habitat	50%	13%	13%	25%	0%	3.9	1.4
	Provide refugia for native species	50%	25%	25%	0%	0%	4.3	0.9
Improve habitat quality	Support regional meta- populations to maintain genetic diversity	13%	13%	75%	0%	0%	3.4	0.7
	Ensure habitat is sustainable through inter- annual climate cycles	25%	25%	38%	13%	0%	3.6	1.1
	Minimize opportunities for invasive species to propagate	25%	13%	0%	50%	0%	3.1	1.4
	Create habitats for threatened and endangered species	38%	25%	13%	25%	0%	3.8	1.3
	Train and educate workers in maintenance	63%	38%	0%	0%	0%	4.6	0.5
	Asses and support reproduction and establishment of native or desired species in green infrastructure areas	38%	25%	38%	0%	0%	4.0	0.9
Increase habitat connectivity	Increase connectivity and permeability between areas of high quality habitat using green infrastructure as stepping stones	38%	25%	38%	0%	0%	4.0	0.9
	Create connectivity between green infrastructure projects	38%	63%	0%	0%	0%	4.4	0.5
	Expand educational knowledge	63%	38%	0%	0%	0%	4.6	0.5
Enhance access, cultural benefits of and connection to green space	Improve access to nature by restoring empty lots, preserving and acquiring open soace	38%	50%	0%	13%	0%	4.1	1.0
	Support locan citizen science and research	63%	13%	25%	0%	0%	4.4	0.9

#### 4.4 Discussion

## 4.4.1 The Delphi Process for Identifying Goals and Objectives for Green Infrastructure

The Delphi approach supported expert identification of a set of biodiversity focused goals and objectives for green infrastructure that largely align with academic literature and previous frameworks for understanding biodiversity change. The outcomes are a first step toward better measuring the habitat value of projects that are being implemented across the region to mitigate ongoing drought. However, the outcomes are imperfect given the desire to include the diverse perspectives of experts that may be limited in the breadth of ecological expertise or in familiarity with the practical challenges of incorporating biodiversity into design goals as well as city and agency practices. This diversity of expertise did not make the goals and objectives any less rigorous, all are supported by academic literature, but instead, may have prolonged initial Delphi survey rounds as experts established a common vocabulary or made the case for more applied aspects of biodiversity. The diversity of experts however brought thoughtful discussions about cost, expertise, equity, and feasibility to the forefront of the goal and objective selection process, instead of being an afterthought. This is a unique aspect of this framework, the goals are sensitive to the resources that practitioners have available and suggested tools are resources were highlighted in rationale. In fact, the feasibility of measurements, to a lesser extent, and the probability of success were major concerns for experts in ranking and scoring. However, participation of unpaid experts did take a toll on the process, as many invited experts noted they needed compensation to participate and there was considerable drop-off on the final round of the survey. While the Delphi process is supposed to facilitate group consensus, there was no consensus, as measured by Kendall's W, in any of the four survey rounds. The reason is
unknown, in that there was no single expert or expertise driving non-consensus and may have been a byproduct of the terse rationale many of the unpaid experts provided. Based on the final categorization exercise, there seemed to be fundamental disagreements about feasibility and the probabilities of success and not necessarily about the importance of a particular objective to the goal of enhancing biodiversity. This may be based on a technical versus applied backgrounds of experts, lived success with green infrastructure projects, and familiarity with existing resources and partnerships that may facilitate measurement. Additionally, nuanced discussions about whether certain goals or objectives were achievable within certain landscape versus others (e.g. connectivity in highly urban areas, increased native vegetation along rivers and streams in land restricted locales that are highly altered) may have created entrenched disagreement as to whether a particular goal or objective could be "globally" achieved and was thus worth keeping.

# 4.4.2 A Review of the Outcome from the Delphi: Goals and Objectives for Green Infrastructure

The list of goals, objectives, and suggested metrics are presented below in Table 26. I will review the selected goals, a sub-set of objectives, and provide context for selection based on expert rationale and supporting literature.

Table 26 Biodiversity framework for green infrastructure projects organized by broad goals, specific objectives, and potential metrics.

Goals	Objectives	Metrics	Rationale
Improve Biotic Integrity of Streams	Increase permeability of urban areas	Volume of water captured or retained	Impervious surfaces alter the hydrology of a catchment, can act as a corridor for invasive species and pollution, and can limit landscape connectivity (Jha and Kremen, 2013; Vietz et al., 2016).
	Increase vegetation within and along local streams and rivers	% plant cover within 50 m of river/streams	Riparian buffers are important to sustaining ecosystem functions and can often reduce nutrient loads to streams (Osborne & Kovacic, 1993)
	Enhance water quality leaving urban surfaces in order to enhance downstream conditions	TSS, conductivity, metals, nutrients, pesticides	Poor water quality can have far reaching effects via food webs and direct effects on species health and reproduction.
	Improve physical conditon of streams so at to benefit aquatic species	Phab scores	The physical condition of streams, are important to plant establishment and for supporting aquatic species and their various life stages
	Provide suitable habitat for cold water species	water temperature, habitat complexity score	Urban streams can provide refugia for native species that provide opportunities for future recovery and migration to upstream habitats

Improve habitat quality	Improve quality of habitat for native taxa through native plant selection	Native plant cover	Native animal species are likely to use the resources of native plants. Native species are also extremely important for educating the general public about their benefits and provide a sense of place.
	Enhance habitat complexity and provide variable vegetative structure	Vegetative layer count	Habitat complexity has been identified as an important driver of biodiversity in many urban ecology studies. Habitat complexity is necessary for diverse flora and fauna.
	Plant diverse species, particularly climate adapted plants, to increase species and functional diversity	Growth form richness (trees, shrubs, sedges, rushes, grasses, herbs).	High diversity of traits leads to more effective use of available niches and resources, indicating improved ecosystem functioning(Hooper et al., 2005; Rao, 1982). High diversity of species also increases ecosystem resilience (Naeem et al., 1994; Tilman 1994; Tilman, 1996).
	Increase tree canopy cover to benefit urban wildlife and people	%increase in tree canopy	Increasing tree canopies has been shown to reduce local area temperatures. This will benefit people and wildlife and protect vulnerable communities from urban heat.
	Support ecosystem functions, particularly those that sequester or degrade contaminants and support healthy trophic structures	Tea bag index	A wide range of beneficial uses in the river and in downstream areas will benefit by reduced nutrient and contaminant levels often associated with healthy natural habitats
	Increase area of high quality, native habitat	Project area with 80% native species cover.	Larger patch sizes provide more benefits to the flora and fauna that reside within them. Smaller patches are subject to "edge effects".
	Provide refugia for native species	Habitat complexity checklist	Juveniles often require places to hide from predators during migrations and/or to grow prior to migration to their adult habitats. Sufficient refuge areas will support this function.
	Support regional metapopulations to maintain genetic diversity	Presence of native species that co-occur in adjacent watersheds	Many native S CA species exist as metapopulations in adjacent watersheds. Cross-breeding with nearby populations helps maintain genetic diversity and resiliency in the population
	Ensure habitat is sustainable through interannual climate cycles	Plant diversity	Resilience in ecosystems is related to species heterogeneity and habitat complexity (Estevo et al., 2017). Native species have specific tolerances for physical conditions that allow them to persist across naturally variable conditions
	Minimize opportunities for invasive species to propogate	% invasive plant cover	Invasive species often outcompete native species. Reducing suitable habitat for invasives will promote persistence of native species.
	Encourage specific habitats or resources for migrators and locally threatened or endangered species	Presence of habitat features important to T and E species	For many T&E species habitat loss is the main driver of species loss. Basic habitat across taxa is comprised of required resources - food, resting, and places to reproduce.
	Train and educate workers in maintenance	Hours of training	Many of the objectives related to habitat complexity will be challenged by existing maintenance practices and aesthetic preferences. Need training and education about the value of "messy" landscapes as refugia and food sources.
	Asses and support reproduction and establish of native or desired species in green infrastructure areas	Count of species (christae/juveniles) establishment at green infrastructure areas, native plant cover	Recruitment is a sign of healthy resilient communities that can sustain themselves over time. It also indicates that suitable processes are in place to support multiple life stages.

Goals	Objectives	Metrics	Rationale
Increase habitat connectivity	Increase connectivity and permeability between areas of high habitat quality using green infrastructure as stepping stones	Presence of habitat with connectivity potential	Large and connected areas of high habitat quality are important for supporting species. Connectivity allows species to move away from unfavorable conditions, connect isolated habitats, increase gene flow, and buffer populations from extinction (Bilton et al., 2001; Epps et al., 2005; Mech and Hallett, 2001; Taylor et al., 1993).
	Endeavor to create connectivity between green infrastructure projects (by their proximity to each other) to allow resilience for species living there, population growth, and greater likelihood of population establishment	% species shared between projects,	Connectivity between green infrastructure projects (by their proximity to each other) is essential for healthy and genetically diverse populations.
Enhance access, cultural benefits of and connection to biodiversity	Expand educational access and appreciation of native habitats to local communities	Number of visitation by local communities, presence of signage	Exposure to local biodiversity can reconnect communities to the local ecology and enhance stewardship and support for the conservation actions that sustain local and regional biodiversity (Cilliers, 2010; Coldwell and Evans, 2017).
	Improve access to nature by restoring empty lots, preserving and acquiring open space, and vegetating municipally owned facilities/parcels.	# people within 1/2 mile radius of a project	The LA region is notoriously underserved by parks and natural open spaces. Natural habitats enhance these opportunities and promote more awareness and stewardship
	Support local citizen science and research	Number of science projects by local community groups and schools	Local communities and youth understand and support habitat protection and management only through interaction and knowledge, which will be increased by promoting citizen and youth science projects/investigations.

## 4.4.2.1 Biotic Integrity of Streams

Improving the condition of streams, from the peri urban to highly urban, is one of the motivating goal for green infrastructure projects (Walsh et al., 2005; Yang & Li, 2013). As experts noted when discussing feasibility of this goal, measurement associated with biotic integrity benefit from water quality monitoring requirements for state funded green infrastructure projects, a comprehensive regional stream monitoring program that has established methods and already collects many of the identified metrics, and from the ongoing development of a regional monitoring network for BMPs (CNRA, 2019; SCCWRP, n.d., 2021). Numerous studies support the objectives captured within this goal although the success may, to some extent, be dependent

on the context and scale. Objectives that were widely supported and poorly supported within this goal are reviewed below along with the rationale in expert scoring or categorization.

The goal of increasing permeability was one of the few objectives categorized, on average, as important and achievable. It is well known that urban rivers have highly altered hydrographs, due to impermeable surfaces, that impact riverine ecology (Vietz et al., 2016). Studies have shown that carefully designed and integrated green infrastructure that increase infiltration can reduce stream flows, particularly in small catchments (Burns et al., 2012; Cockerill et al., 2017; Mika et al., 2017; Vietz et al., 2014). However, as many experts noted, the most urbanized of watersheds will be challenged with fully ameliorating hydromodification without substantive changes, particularly due to limited floodplain space and reduced sediment supplies that exacerbate erosion downstream of dams and basins (Tillinghast et al., 2012; Vietz et al., 2014, 2016). Success will depend on the surrounding landscape, existing site conditions (e.g. geomorphology), and the combined impact of green infrastructure projects across a catchment. However, as Booth (2005) asserted, incremental improvements can have some impact and there is a need to not renunciate the possibility that urban streams will someday benefit from long-term, catchment wide action. One expert similarly noted, "while I can agree with concern over [the numerous and seemingly intractable] stresses to waterbodies in our region, I would also hold that experts must continue to weigh in and prioritize these areas if we are to prevent circumstances from getting worse, let alone to realize positive change." Wide agreement with this rationale, which was provided prior to the final survey, may have motivated wide-ranging support for this objective. However, some experts still expressed concerns over the feasibility and technical nature of measurements that capture permeability and reduced flows. As a result,

the annual runoff captured or diverted, for example, was selected as a suggested metric. This measurement is commonly estimated in initial project design. However, while known for the majority of projects, this information is not yet widely reported or publicly available via existing databases.

The only objective experts scored as achievable under certain conditions was improving the physical conditions of streams. This was a curious result given more wide ranging support for the "providing suitable habitat for cold water species" objective, which would in some instances require the same design or management interventions. The support for providing suitable habitat for cold water species is not surprising given that stressors that degrade biotic integrity similarly impact cold water species habitat, these include hydromodification, particularly sedimentation, habitat degradation, and dams and other obstacles to movement (Kocher et al., 2008). Interestingly, several physical habitat attributes also enhance and create habitat for cold water species, such as the presence of plunge pools, riffle-pool sequences, course wooded debris, boulders, overhangs, root wads, backwater pools, overhanging and nearby vegetation, tree canopy, and, in more managed settings, deflectors, weirs, and cover structures (Kocher et al., 2008; Whiteway et al., 2010). Another expert noted the inter-related nature of this objectives with increasing vegetation, "This has direct overlap with the more simple objective to increase vegetation. Increasing vegetation would necessarily include many of the elements in this objective, and would be simpler to evaluate. That said, on a site-scale, designing for specific elements and having a reference for experts and lay people to implement would be a great tool that could also be improved over time." Given the diversity of fields that participated, it is not surprising that non-aquatic ecologist either did not recognize these objectives as being closely

related or recognized that this objective could be more simply captured by other metrics and objectives. Additionally, a definition of physical condition, or the specific physical attributes was not explicit. The need to conclude the Delphi in four rounds meant that experts were not able to share and question the rationale of other experts or establish a shared definition for terms. While the need to keep each survey concise and short to maximize participation meant that I elected for rationale to be optional and thus the insight about how widespread this reasoning is unknown.

#### 4.4.2.2 Habitat Quality

Improving habitat quality was a consistently a top ranked goal and the thirteen associated objectives capture the broad needs of species. While this goal was popular, there was doubt among experts about whether creating high quality habitat within urban areas was plausible, particularly for specific species. Objectives that would require large scale, coordinated and integrated action to ensure success (e.g. eradication of invasive species, supporting regional metapopulations) or customized approaches depending on landscape context and nearby species (e.g. creating habitats for threatened and endangered species) were generally less well supported. I will review the highly supported objective, of training and educating workers in maintenance, and the objective proposed for removal, minimizing opportunities for invasive species to propagate, to provide context for expert decisions.

Maintenance practices, and the aesthetic preferences that drive them, impact biodiversity. As one expert noted, "[The habitat value of projects can depend on maintenance practices such as:] not mowing down grasses (medium or taller) or forbs in the dry season to create hiding and resting spaces, leaving seed heads for wildlife to forage, keeping dead limbs/trees around for critters to burrow into (i.e., cavity nesters) or use as perches." Gobster (1995) and others have noted that public park users have a distaste of features such as downed wood, dead material, and scattered clear cuts, and generally favor features which reduce habitat complexity, biodiversity, and increase habitat edge. Recognizing that maintenance practices, and the underlying aesthetic values that drive maintenance can impact habitat value, a subset of experts more familiar with the practical aspects of project implementation and management steadfastly discussed the need for training of city and agency staff in maintaining the habitat value of a project. This practical objective is not, to the author's knowledge, part of existing frameworks for biodiversity. The need to balance the unkept nature of high value habitats and the aesthetic preferences for verdant spaces and clean lines is something landscape architects are attuned to. Landscape architects have found techniques to provide "cues to care" by co-designing less appreciated ecologically beneficial features with features that are more widely valued, such as open water (Gobster, 1995; Nassauer et al., 2001). As others have argued, this balancing is key because projects are unlikely to garner support or receive the maintenance projects depend on if they are not aesthetically pleasing, even if they enhance ecological value (Gobster et al., 2007). On the practicality of implementing training programs and measuring their efficacy another expert noted, "this is a critical need but how would you measure it? This does feel like another goal that would require more discrete actionable objectives to achieve, such as a standardized set of practices that are tested/measured in populations through an established and consistent training and certification program." A certification programs for maintenance staff, particularly agency and city staff, to the authors knowledge, have not yet been conceived but there are many existing templates to scale up that can, with enough support, enhance the habitat value of publicly managed parks, green infrastructure projects, and easements (Theodore Payne Foundation, n.d.).

Invasive species are drivers of ecological change and the second leading cause of species loss (Wilcove et al., 1998). Invasive species can alter physical habitat structure and entirely shift an ecosystem's species composition, insofar as making it difficult for native species to reestablish, through their impact on fire regime (Simberloff, 1998), water chemistry, hydrology, shading, predation, biogeochemistry and competition (D'Antonio and Vitousek, 1992; Richardson et al., 2007; Simberloff, 1998; Tickner et al., n.d.). Thus the negative impacts of invasive species are well established. This objective, however, was the most poorly scored objective because half the experts believed it was important but unachievable. As experts noted, human activities (such as trade and agricultural) as well as the attenuation of natural disturbance, such as the loss of scouring flows (Scott et al., 1997), can allow for invasive species to establish, thrive, and spread. Thus the complete eradication of some invasive species may not be successful until ecosystem processes that have been impaired are restored and invasive dispersal ceases (Holmes et al., 2005). Experts noted, "I think it is nearly impossible to stop invasive plants, like Arundo donax, from spreading without a big investment and constant management. There may be other objectives that are more discretely achievable/measurable (e.g. protect soil; support native cover; improve permeability; prioritize large, contiguous spaces in project planning; support a cat neutering program)." However, there is an interconnectedness to objectives. For example the sustainability of urban habitat (Gordon, 1998; Heneghan et al., 2009) or increased plant species diversity may prove difficult without invasive control (Hejda et al., 2009). Thus control or eradication of invasive species is tied to other biodiversity objectives and can thus explain why invasive management is a goal of many biodiversity efforts (City of LA, 2020; EEA, 2007; UNEP/CBD/COP, 2011). However, in this effort experts have identified that the

objective, as written, is not feasible in green infrastructure. Perhaps, as suggested, future iterations of this objective should instead focus on the removal of a subset of invasive species or on site or practices that promote soil health, for example. Previous authors have established frameworks for managing invasive species in urban areas so as to consider the negative effects of the species and ecosystem services provided by the species in management decisions (Gaertner et al., 2016). In California, the Invasive Species Council has developed prioritized weed lists (https://www.cal-ipc.org/plants/inventory/) that can guide practitioners in invasive management. As experts noted, success of this objective, will prove difficult without a better understanding of the effect of invasive species, tools for prioritization, widespread management and amelioration of the processes and conditions that allow invasive species to spread and thrive.

#### 4.4.2.3 Connectivity

Connectivity of the landscape is a touchstone of many conservation efforts. The role of habitat corridors in fragmented landscapes have received much attention as a means to encourage the movement of species from unfavorable conditions, connect isolated habitats, increase gene flow, and thus buffer populations from extinction (Bilton et al., 2001; Epps et al., 2005; Mech & Hallett, 2001; P. D. Taylor et al., 1993). Their importance is particularly resonant to urban practitioners given findings that corridors do not need to provide high quality habitat to encourage movement (Haddad & Tewksbury, 2005). However, researchers have asserted the need for nuance, since the need for corridors may be species dependent, species movement does not necessarily depend on the presence of suitable vegetation, and because corridors can also allow for the movement of pests (Mann & Plummer, 1995; Resasco et al., 2014). Connectivity studies that have been completed in urban areas have found that gaps in vegetation reduce

permeability and corridors are effective in supporting species movement when patch distances are short (Beninde et al., 2015; Tremblay & St. Clair, 2011; Vergnes et al., 2012).

The challenges of enhancing connectivity and the inherent difficulties in quantifying connectivity at the scale of green infrastructure, was a theme in every survey round. The majority of comments and rationale were about connectivity and the inherent challenge of incorporating such a goal. One experts noted, "achieving connectivity within the urban landscape is a planning goal rather than a performance goal and success may prove difficult depending on the surrounding landscape." Another noted, "Individual projects should not be penalized if they are located in dense, urban cores and thus unable to easily promote connectivity." Apart from discussion focused on the feasibility of promoting connectivity, particularly for small scale projects, and in the most densified of landscapes, experts also noted the difficulty of measuring connectivity. Some measurements of connectivity, particularly functional connectivity, may indeed be an impractical and technical task, requiring extensive data collection, remote sensing data to assess common physical connectivity metrics, and/or geospatial modeling (LaPoint et al., 2015; Mann & Plummer, 1995; Michels et al., 2001). Facilitating ecological traps was another concern the experts raised about green infrastructure projects and, in two occasions, a reason for ranking the goal poorly. Dispersal can certainly have cost, particularly with the use of valuable energy compromises reproductive success and when suitable habitat and stepping stones to habitat are absent (Roff, 1977). There are many examples of ecological traps and sinks in urban areas but a less refined understanding of how to avoid designing them or the mechanisms by which they occur, though there is evidence that they are more likely in highly urban and fragmented landscapes (Bates et al., 2014; Bonnington et al., 2015; Lepczyk et al., 2017;

Robertson & Hutto, 2006). Since studies of functional connectivity in the urban environment are few, so are the recommendations to inform management and planning strategies (LaPoint et al., 2015). Without management strategies, it follows that the majority of experts expressed concerns about the feasibility of enhancing habitat connectivity and permeability using green infrastructure projects. Nevertheless, support for connectivity was consistent, even after expert critiques related to feasibility.

Given the constraints of monitoring green infrastructure, I selected connectivity metrics that would instead capture the physical connectivity potential of a project based on habitat quality. This approach is an oversimplification since habitat quality will vary by species and will need to be tailored to the local area (in the most urbanized areas highly mobile, native generalist or species that deliver important ecosystem services may be the most appropriate target species). If more monitoring resources are made available for understanding connectivity in urban areas, for example, academic partners could lead data collection for resource intensive methods, such as genetic distance, practitioners could ensure species appropriate habitat types for the area are installed to enhance permeability within the urban matrix, and citizen scientists collect or confirm the species presence data than can inform fine scaled modeling (Beninde et al., 2016; Cooper et al., 2007; Fournier et al., 2017; LaPoint et al., 2015).

#### 4.4.2.4 Enhance access, cultural benefits of and connection to biodiversity

There was consistent uncertainty among the experts about the inclusion of people focused goals and objectives in a biodiversity framework, as evidenced by low scores for people focused goals across survey rounds. However, other frameworks and researchers have acknowledged that efforts to understand and improve biodiversity of urban areas cannot ignore people since institutional, socioeconomic, and cultural factors influence valuation, preference and success of conservation projects (CNT, 2010; Grimm et al., 2008; Kinzig et al., 2005; Turpie, 2003; Tzoulas et al., 2007; UNEP/CBD/COP, 2011; van Heezik et al., 2013). This is particularly important because biodiversity has wide-ranging benefits to humans, albeit some are weakly supported, including pathogen control, and the enhancement of immune, psychological, and physiological aspects of health (Brown & Grant, 2005; Costanza & Limburg, n.d.; Lovell et al., 2014; Millenium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005; Wall et al., 2015).

After initial debate about the inclusion of a people focused biodiversity goal, the objectives related to education, access, and citizen science were overall well supported. As experts recognized and noted in their rationale, exposure to local biodiversity can reconnect communities to the local ecology and enhance support for the conservation actions. One expert noted, "I appreciate the point that this is not focused on biodiversity specifically but people only learn what they care about and only care about what they understand. Introduction and direct experience are very important for a wider population to realize conservation goals and I think are rightful considerations for prioritization, planning, education/study, and resource allocations connected with these efforts." Concerns with access to habitats and biodiversity were frequent and consistent themes of discussion, ultimately embedded within objectives, and their necessity supported by both experts and published studies (Hope et al., 2003).

Citizen science as a means to collect more cost-effective data and to engage communities about habitat was a theme of discussion across surveys, as well as the concern about data quality and sustainability of the volunteer efforts. As others have noted, there are not enough resources nor professionals to monitor important dimensions of biodiversity at needed resolutions and citizen scientists can greatly help (Chandler et al., 2017). Additionally, citizen science has a long history of supporting conservation efforts (Kobori, 2016). However, as experts noted, despite the breadth of programs and locations captured by citizen science, data is not a perfect (Chandler et al., 2017). There is, however, statistical and data processing guidance as to overcoming such challenges (Bird et al., 2014; Link & Sauer, 1999). Chandler et al. (2017) noted the characteristics of the most prolific citizen and community based monitoring programs, mainly these are programs that serve hobbyist and expert amateurs, programs linked to well-funded institutions, and programs with expert verification. However, as experts noted, the regional entities that can support and create the monitoring infrastructure necessary to support monitoring green infrastructure projects, including facilitating partnership, trainings, resources, and data processing and sharing, are largely non-existent. However, the resources and training of some regional entities with closely aligned missions may be leveraged (Natural History Museum, n.d.). Given the benefits of biodiversity, the individual decisions that support or further degrade biodiversity, and the role yards, gardens, and parks can play (Goddard et al., 2010), the inclusion of goals focused on people and objectives related to education, access, and the elevation of citizen science may support biodiversity efforts as much as goals more narrowly focused on the environmental and physical factors that enhance biodiversity.

### **4.4.3** Comparison to Other Biodiversity Efforts

Global and regional scale efforts to better understand biodiversity and how it is changing can guide metric development and provide a model for the infrastructure necessary to support wide scale monitoring. One such effort is the United Nation's global treaty on the Convention on Biological Diversity (CBD). The CBD is one of the most comprehensive biodiversity frameworks and a global commitment to reduce biodiversity decline (<u>UNEP/CBD/COP, 2011</u>). However, an emphasis on the considerable data gaps have resulted in efforts mum to the role urban areas can have in sustaining biodiversity. The challenges of more comprehensive data collection that the CBD has encountered are relevant for many efforts and include the lack of comparability between methods, the infrastructure to support data storage, workflow development and data sharing. To facilitate data collection as part of the CBD, Biodiversity Observation Networks, have focused on capacity building to ensure the sustainability of projects, for example assessment phases that include making use of existing infrastructure and monitoring, engagement, and the development of toolkits (Navarro et al., 2017; Proença et al., 2017).

Locally, California's statewide and local efforts have acknowledged the role of urban areas in benefitting both people and species. Governor Newsom (Executive Order N-82-20, 2020) initiated California's 30 by 30 effort to preserve 30% of California lands and coastal waters by 2030. The initiative includes efforts to inventory biodiversity efforts, highlight opportunities for action, and expand indicators and tools to monitor, track, and protect biodiversity. The 30 by 30 initiative explicitly recognizes the role urban areas and multi-benefit approaches, like green infrastructure, have in enhancing biodiversity. More locally, the City of Los Angeles' Biodiversity Index and frameworks, initiated by a biodiversity motion passed by the city council (CF#15-0499), supports tracking multiple aspects of biodiversity to ensure no net loss of biodiversity and, through management and stewardship practices, improvement of biodiversity. Local efforts are in nascent stages, though the City of Los Angeles Biodiversity Index has already gathered, analyzed, and reported on biodiversity indicators. These biodiversity frameworks and efforts, ranging from local to global, can provide an important point for metric or indicator comparison. Global efforts like the CBD, for example, have also led to the development of indicators generalizable across ecosystems (Turak et al., 2017). These indicators are known as the essential biodiversity variables (EBVs), a minimum set of state variables that capture the multiple dimensions and biodiversity and inform public, managers, and scientist on biodiversity change. They are categorized into genetic composition, species populations, species traits, community composition, ecosystem structure, and ecosystem function (Pereira et al., 2013). The comprehensive nature of EBVs provide a point of comparison to understand axis of biodiversity that are lacking and the unique constraints green infrastructure practitioners may face in quantifying biodiversity benefits. I found that, generally, the experts surveyed in this study broadly captured most EBVs but have some of the same weaknesses identified by assessments of national reports to the CBD, specifically a lack or scarcity of EBVs accounting for genetic composition and species traits (Bubb et al., 2011).

Genetic diversity was explicitly mentioned in the rationale for enhancing connectivity and was captured in the objective for supporting metapopulations, an objective that was dropped due to low scores and expert rationale that noted the challenges with this scale of study. Discussions of species traits were limited to the rationale for other goals (e.g. habitat complexity) but there is no objective to capture this essential variable. This pattern is likely due to the practicality of these measurements. Most citizen science programs do not measure these dimensions of biodiversity (Chandler et al., 2017), some variables require technical expertise, and there is a cost prohibitive nature of some measures, particularly since non-water resource monitoring is largely unfunded (*Urban Orchard: Measuring the Multi-Benefits of Green Infrastructure*, 2019). However, the rapid evolution of eDNA approaches in aquatic environments, may in the least, soon provide a more cost-effective solution for inclusion of genetic diversity in biodiversity frameworks (Harrison et al., 2019).

Measures of community composition were also lacking from the metrics framework so as to capture the stabilizing effect of common species. This type of monitoring is feasible given the small parcel sizes of most urban green infrastructure projects and important given that loss of common species resulting in the diminution of ecosystem functioning (Gaston & Fuller, 2008). Meanwhile, the green infrastructure biodiversity framework explicitly capture some threats to biodiversity, such as pollution, habitat loss, climate change and invasion, but did not have goals that would explicitly mitigate impacts of habitat change, overexploitation, and climate change. This was likely limited due to the project specific focus and acknowledgement that many urban landscapes, and the biodiversity therein, have already been exposed and irreversibly shaped by these biodiversity threats.

The metric categories also capture many themes emphasized by other frameworks for sustainability, biodiversity, or human health and well-being including hydrological regulation, improvement of water quality, and enhancement of natural functioning of rivers. Frameworks with overlapping themes are summarized in Table 27. Briefly, the benefits of green infrastructure broadly align with several sustainable development goals including: "ensuring availability and sustainable management of water and sanitation", "protect and restore water related ecosystems...", "build resilient infrastructure, promote inclusive and sustainable industrialization and foster innovation", and "make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and

sustainable (United Nations, 2015)." While experts expressed pause in integrating human objectives into a green infrastructure biodiversity framework, objectives that focus on people have also been integrated into other biodiversity frameworks. The City of Los Angeles' Biodiversity Index, for example, has index themes that emphasize access, education, governance and community action (City of LA, 2020). The overlap in themes between these different and distinct frameworks is encouraging in that it emphasizes the truly multi-benefit nature of green infrastructure projects and alignment of expert priorities with more well-resourced efforts The objectives that are not aligned with pre-existing efforts, such training workers in maintenance and many of the biotic integrity objectives, but whose importance is otherwise supported by the majority of experts and the academic literature speak to the unique nature of green infrastructure, regional priorities, and the unique connection of green infrastructure to many aspects of stream ecology.

Table 27 Efforts with themes or objectives that overlap with the green infrastructure biodiversity framework. The bullet points are color coordinated so that each goal, indicator, or theme of other efforts and it's reference correspond.

Objective	Overlap	Source
Increase permeability of urban areas	Hydrological regulation     Soil Improvements-increased permeability	•(Pakzad and Osmond, 2016). * (Ely and Pitman, 2014)
Enhance water quality leaving urban surfaces in order to enhance downstream conditions	Hydrological regulation and water cycle modification     Aichi Target 8: Excess nutrients brought to levels that are not detrimental to ecosystem function and biodiversity     Treat water through nature based solutions that provide habitat.	<ul> <li>(Pakzad and Osmond, 2016) «(UNEP/CBD/COP, 2011).</li> <li>Natural and Working Lands Climate Smart Strategy</li> </ul>
Provide suitable habitat for cold water species	Restore rivers and floodplains to facilitate natural     function	Natural and Working Lands Climate Smart Strategy
Improve quality of habitat for native taxa through native plant selection	Assesses habitat quality of urban landscapes	• (LASAN, 2020)
Increase tree canopy cover to benefit urban wildlife and people	Climate and microclimatic regulation through evapotranspiration, shading, and wind modification to human health     Increase and maintain urban tree canopy	(Pazkad and Osmand, 2016).     Natural and Working Lands Climate Smart Strategy
Support ecosystem functions, particularly those that sequester or degrade contaminants and support healthy trophic structures	Waste decomposition and nutrient cycling	(Pazkad and Osmand, 2016) adapted from Ely and Pitman, 2014.
Minimize opportunities for invasive species to propogate	<ul> <li>Aichi Target 9: By 2020, invasive alien species and pathways are identified and prioritized, priority species are controlled or eradicated, and measures are in place to manage pathways to prevent their introduction and establishment.</li> <li>Goal 1.3b Assess presence and spread of invasive species and 3.2c Assess management activities to inventory, control, and manage invasive species.</li> <li>Target 15.8 to introduce measures and prevent introduction and significantly reduce the impact of alien species on land and water consystems and control or eradicate priority species.</li> </ul>	• (UNEP/CBD/COP, 2011) • (LASAN, 2020) • SDG
Increase connectivity and permeability between areas of high habitat quality using green infrastructure as stepping stones Endeavor to create connectivity between green infrastructure project (by their provinity to	<ul> <li>Aichi Target 5: "The rate of habitat loss, including forests, is at least halved, and where feasible brought close to zero, and degradation and fragmentation is significantly reduced." and sub- indicaators related to habitat connectivity (UNEP/CBD/COP, 2011).</li> <li>Goal 1.1d and 1.1e Assess connectivity of natural and urban landscapes</li> </ul>	• (UNEP/CBD/COP, 2011) • (LASAN, 2020)
projects (by their proximity to each other) to allow resilience for species living there, population growth, and greater likelihood of population establishment		
Expand educational access and appreciation of native habitats to local communities	Provision of outdoor sites for education and research     Aichi Target 1: "People are aware of the value of biodiversity and the steps they can take to conserve and use it sustainably.     God 2.2a Assesses exposure of students to biodiversity topics by looking at school curriculum, off campus visits, and campus garden areas.     * Public education as a benefit of green infrastructure and best management practices	• (Pazkad and Osmand, 2016) • (UNEP/CBD/COP, 2011) • (LASAN, 2020) • (CNT, 2010)
Improve access to nature by restoring empty lots, preserving and acquiring open space, and vegetating municipally owned facilities/parcels.	<ul> <li>Integrate climate solutions in community infrastructure investments and aquire land acquisition.</li> </ul>	Natural and Working Lands Climate Smart Strategy
Support local citizen science and research	<ul> <li>Goal 2.3a has an indicator for community scientist's engagement on iNaturalist annually.</li> </ul>	• (LASAN, 2020)

## 4.5 References

- Baggett, L. P., Powers, S. P., Brumbaugh, R. D., Coen, L. D., DeAngelis, B. M., Greene, J. K.,
  Hancock, B. T., Morlock, S. M., Allen, B. L., Breitburg, D. L., Bushek, D., Grabowski, J.
  H., Grizzle, R. E., Grosholz, E. D., Peyre, M. K. L., Luckenbach, M. W., McGraw, K. A.,
  Piehler, M. F., Westby, S. R., & Ermgassen, P. S. E. zu. (2015). Guidelines for evaluating
  performance of oyster habitat restoration. *Restoration Ecology*, 23(6), 737–745.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/rec.12262
- Bates, A. J., Sadler, J. P., Grundy, D., Lowe, N., Davis, G., Baker, D., Bridge, M., Freestone, R., Gardner, D., Gibson, C., Hemming, R., Howarth, S., Orridge, S., Shaw, M., Tams, T., & Young, H. (2014). Garden and Landscape-Scale Correlates of Moths of Differing Conservation Status: Significant Effects of Urbanization and Habitat Diversity. *PLOS ONE*, 9(1), e86925. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0086925
- Beatty, P., & Herrmann, D. (2002). To answer or not to answer: Decision processes related to survey item nonresponse. *Survey Nonresponse*, 71–85.
- Beninde, J., Feldmeier, S., Werner, M., Peroverde, D., Schulte, U., Hochkirch, A., & Veith, M. (2016). Cityscape genetics: Structural vs. functional connectivity of an urban lizard population. *Molecular Ecology*, 25(20), 4984–5000. https://doi.org/10.1111/mec.13810
- Beninde, J., Veith, M., & Hochkirch, A. (2015). Biodiversity in cities needs space: A metaanalysis of factors determining intra-urban biodiversity variation. *Ecology Letters*, 18, 581–592.

- Bernhardt, E. S., Palmer, M. A., Allan, J. D., Alexander, G., Barnas, K., Brooks, S., Carr, J., Clayton, S., Dahm, C., & Follstad-Shah, J. (2005). *Synthesizing US river restoration efforts*. American Association for the Advancement of Science.
- Bilton, D. T., Freeland, J. R., & Okamura, B. (2001). Dispersal in Freshwater Invertebrates. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 32, 159–181.
- Bird, T. J., Bates, A. E., Lefcheck, J. S., Hill, N. A., Thomson, R. J., Edgar, G. J., Stuart-Smith, R. D., Wotherspoon, S., Krkosek, M., Stuart-Smith, J. F., Pecl, G. T., Barrett, N., & Frusher, S. (2014). Statistical solutions for error and bias in global citizen science datasets. *Biological Conservation*, *173*, 144–154. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2013.07.037
- Bishop, C. A., Struger, J., Barton, D. R., Shirose, L. J., Dunn, L., Lang, A. L., & Sheperd, D. (2000). Contamination and wildlife communities in stormwater detention ponds in Guelph and the Greater Toronto Area, Ontario, 1997 and 1998. Part 1. Wildlife communities. *Water Quality Research Journal of Canada*, 35(3), 399–435.
- Bolund, P., & Hunhammar, S. (1999). Ecosystem services in urban areas. *Ecological Economics*, 29, 293–301.
- Bonnington, C., Gaston, K. J., & Evans, K. L. (2015). Ecological traps and behavioural adjustments of urban songbirds to fine-scale spatial variation in predator activity. *Animal Conservation*, 18(6), 529–538. https://doi.org/10.1111/acv.12206
- Booth, D. B. (2005). Challenges and prospects for restoring urban streams: A perspective from the Pacific Northwest of North America. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 24(3), 724–737. https://doi.org/10.1899/04-025.1

- Booth, D. B., Karr, J. R., Schauman, S., Konrad, C. P., Morley, S. A., Larson, M. G., & Burges,
  S. J. (2004). Reviving urban streams: Land use, hydrology, biology, and human behavior.
  JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 40(5), 1351–1364.
- Borysiak, J., Mizgajski, A., & Speak, A. (2017). Floral biodiversity of allotment gardens and its contribution to urban green infrastructure. *Urban Ecosystems*, 20(2), 323–335. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11252-016-0595-4
- Bourrée, F., Michel, P., & Salmi, L. R. (2008). Consensus methods: Review of original methods and their main alternatives used in public health. *Revue D'Epidemiologie et De Sante Publique*, 56(6), 415–423. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respe.2008.09.006
- Brand, A. B., & Snodgrass, J. W. (2010). Value of artificial habitats for amphibian reproduction in altered landscapes. *Conservation Biology*, 24(1), 295–301.
- Brown, C., & Grant, M. (2005). Biodiversity and Human Health: What Role for Nature in Healthy Urban Planning? *Built Environment*, 31(4), 326–338. https://doi.org/10.2148/benv.2005.31.4.326
- Bubb, P., Chenery, A., Herkenrath, P., Kapos, V., Mapendembe, A., Stanwell, D., & Walpole,
   M. (2011). NATIONAL INDICATORS, MONITORING AND REPORTING FOR THE STRATEGIC PLAN FOR BIODIVERSITY 2011-2020. 99.
- Burns, M. J., Fletcher, T. D., Walsh, C. J., Ladson, A. R., & Hatt, B. E. (2012). Hydrologic shortcomings of conventional urban stormwater management and opportunities for reform. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 105(3), 230–240. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2011.12.012

- Chandler, M., See, L., Copas, K., Bonde, A. M. Z., López, B. C., Danielsen, F., Legind, J. K., Masinde, S., Miller-Rushing, A. J., Newman, G., Rosemartin, A., & Turak, E. (2017).
  Contribution of citizen science towards international biodiversity monitoring. *Biological Conservation*, 213, 280–294. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.09.004
- Cincotta, R. P., Wisnewski, J., & Engelman, R. (2000). Human population in the biodiversity hotspots. *Nature*, 404(6781), 990–992.

City of LA, L. C. S. (2020). 2020 Biodiversity Report. City of Los Angeles. https://www.lacitysan.org/cs/groups/public/documents/document/y250/mduy/~edisp/cnt0 52553.pdf?utm\_source=Biodiversity&utm\_campaign=ec983b301b-EMAIL\_CAMPAIGN\_2018\_06\_19\_10\_30\_COPY\_01&utm\_medium=email&utm\_term =0\_152ba8304f-ec983b301b-106473861

CNRA. (2019). Green Infrastructure Program: Proposition 68 [Final Grant Guidelines].

- CNT. (2010). The Value of Green Infrastructure. Center for Neighborhood Technology. https://www.cnt.org/sites/default/files/publications/CNT\_Value-of-Green-Infrastructure.pdf
- Cockerill, K., Anderson Jr., W. P., Harris, F. C., & Straka, K. (2017). Hot, Salty Water: A Confluence of Issues in Managing Stormwater Runoff for Urban Streams. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 53(3), 707–724. https://doi.org/10.1111/1752-1688.12528
- Convertino, M., Baker, K. M., Vogel, J. T., Lu, C., Suedel, B., & Linkov, I. (2013). Multicriteria decision analysis to select metrics for design and monitoring of sustainable

ecosystem restorations. *Ecological Indicators*, 26, 76–86. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2012.10.005

Cooper, C., Dickinson, J., Phillips, T., & Bonney, R. (2007). Citizen Science as a Tool for Conservation in Residential Ecosystems. *Ecology and Society*, 12(2). https://doi.org/10.5751/ES-02197-120211

Costanza, R., & Limburg, K. (n.d.). IThe value of the world's ecosystem. 8.

- EEA. (2007). Halting the loss of biodiveersity by 2010: A proposal for a first set of indicators to monitor progress in Europe [Technical Report]. https://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/technical\_report\_2007\_11
- Epps, C. W., Palsbøll, P. J., Wehausen, J. D., Roderick, G. K., Ramey II, R. R., & McCullough, D. R. (2005). Highways block gene flow and cause a rapid decline in genetic diversity of desert bighorn sheep. *Ecology Letters*, 8(10), 1029–1038. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1461-0248.2005.00804.x

Escobedo, F. J., Giannico, V., Jim, C. Y., Sanesi, G., & Lafortezza, R. (2019). Urban forests, ecosystem services, green infrastructure and nature-based solutions: Nexus or evolving metaphors? Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 37, 3–12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2018.02.011

- Eycott, A. E., Marzano, M., & Watts, K. (2011). Filling evidence gaps with expert opinion: The use of Delphi analysis in least-cost modelling of functional connectivity. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 103(3–4), 400–409. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2011.08.014
- Fournier, A. M., Sullivan, A. R., Bump, J. K., Perkins, M., Shieldcastle, M. C., & King, S. L. (2017). Combining citizen science species distribution models and stable isotopes reveals

migratory connectivity in the secretive V irginia rail. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 54(2), 618–627.

- Fowler, F. (2009). *Survey Research Methods (4th ed.)*. SAGE Publications, Inc. https://doi.org/10.4135/9781452230184
- Gaertner, M., Larson, B. M. H., Irlich, U. M., Holmes, P. M., Stafford, L., van Wilgen, B. W., & Richardson, D. M. (2016). Managing invasive species in cities: A framework from Cape Town, South Africa. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 151, 1–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.landurbplan.2016.03.010
- Gaston, K. J., & Fuller, R. A. (2008). Commonness, population depletion and conservation biology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 23(1), 14–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2007.11.001
- Ghafari, S., Kaviani, B., Sedaghathoor, S., & Allahyari, M. S. (2020). Ecological potentials of trees, shrubs and hedge species for urban green spaces by multi criteria decision making. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 55, 126824.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2020.126824

- Gill, S. E., Handley, J. F., Ennos, A. R., & Pauleit, S. (2007). Adapting cities for climate change: The role of the green infrastructure. *Built Environment*, *33*(1), 115–133.
- Gobster, P. H. (1995). Aldo Leopold's" Ecological Esthetic": Integrating Esthetic and Biodiversity Values. *Journal of Forestry*, 93(2), 6–10.
- Gobster, P. H., Nassauer, J. I., Daniel, T. C., & Fry, G. (2007). The shared landscape: What does aesthetics have to do with ecology? *Landscape Ecology*, 22(7), 959–972. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10980-007-9110-x

- Goddard, M. A., Dougill, A. J., & Benton, T. G. (2010). Scaling up from gardens: Biodiversity conservation in urban environments. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 25(2), 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tree.2009.07.016
- Goodman, D. (1975). The Theory of Diversity-Stability Relationships in Ecology. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, 50(3), 237–266.
- Gordon, D. R. (1998). Effects of Invasive, Non-Indigenous Plant Species on Ecosystem Processes: Lessons from Florida. *Ecological Applications*, 8(4), 975–989. https://doi.org/10.1890/1051-0761(1998)008[0975:EOINIP]2.0.CO;2
- Grabowski, Z., McPhearson, T., Matsler, M., Groffman, P., & Pickett, S. T. A. (2022). What is green infrastructure? A study of definitions in US city planning. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.2445
- Green, J. (2010, May 20). Recreating Wildlife Habitat in Cities. *THE DIRT*. https://dirt.asla.org/2010/05/20/restoring-habitat-in-cities-faced-with-climate-change/
- Grimm, N. B., Faeth, S. H., Golubiewski, N. E., Redman, C. L., Wu, J., Bai, X., & Briggs, J. M. (2008). Global change and the ecology of cities. *Science*, *319*(5864), 756–760.
- Haddad, N. M., & Tewksbury, J. J. (2005). Low-Quality Habitat Corridors as Movement Conduits for Two Butterfly Species. *Ecological Applications*, 15(1), 250–257. https://doi.org/10.1890/03-5327
- Harrison, J. B., Sunday, J. M., & Rogers, S. M. (2019). Predicting the fate of eDNA in the environment and implications for studying biodiversity. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 286(1915), 20191409. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.2019.1409

- Hejda, M., Pyšek, P., & Jarošík, V. (2009). Impact of invasive plants on the species richness, diversity and composition of invaded communities. *Journal of Ecology*, 97(3), 393–403. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2745.2009.01480.x
- Heneghan, L., Umek, L., Bernau, B., Grady, K., Iatropulos, J., Jabon, D., & Workman, M.
  (2009). Ecological research can augment restoration practice in urban areas degraded by invasive species—Examples from Chicago Wilderness. *Urban Ecosystems*, 12(1), 63–77. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11252-008-0057-8
- Hope, D., Gries, C., Zhu, W., Fagan, W. F., Redman, C. L., Grimm, N. B., Nelson, A. L., Martin,
  C., & Kinzig, A. (2003). Socioeconomics drive urban plant diversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 100(15), 8788–8792.
- Humphrey-Murto, S., Varpio, L., Gonsalves, C., & Wood, T. J. (2017). Using consensus group methods such as Delphi and Nominal Group in medical education research. *Medical Teacher*, 39(1), 14–19.
- Ignatieva, M. & Manaaki Whenua. (2008). How to put nature into our neighbourhoods: Application of low impact urban design and development (LIUDD) principles, with a biodiversity focus, for New Zealand developers and homeowners. Manaaki Whenua -Landcare Research New Zealand.
- James, W. R., Lesser, J. S., Litvin, S. Y., & Nelson, J. A. (2020). Assessment of food web recovery following restoration using resource niche metrics. *Science of The Total Environment*, 711, 134801. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.134801

- Kinzig, A. P., Warren, P., Martin, C., Hope, D., & Katti, M. (2005). The Effects of Human Socioeconomic Status and Cultural Characteristics on Urban Patterns of Biodiversity. *Ecology and Society*, 10(1). https://www.jstor.org/stable/26267712
- Kissling, W. D., Hardisty, A., García, E. A., Santamaria, M., De Leo, F., Pesole, G., Freyhof, J., Manset, D., Wissel, S., Konijn, J., & Los, W. (2015). Towards global interoperability for supporting biodiversity research on essential biodiversity variables (EBVs). *Biodiversity*, *16*(2–3), 99–107. https://doi.org/10.1080/14888386.2015.1068709
- Kocher, S. D., Thompson, L. C., & Harris, R. R. (2008). Living among the Fish: A Guide to Conservation of Fish Habitat in the Developed Landscape. University of California, Agriculture and Natural Resources. https://doi.org/10.3733/ucanr.8279
- LaPoint, S., Balkenhol, N., Hale, J., Sadler, J., & van der Ree, R. (2015). Ecological connectivity research in urban areas. *Functional Ecology*, 29(7), 868–878. https://doi.org/10.1111/1365-2435.12489
- Lepczyk, C. A., Aronson, M. F. J., Evans, K. L., Goddard, M. A., Lerman, S. B., & MacIvor, J. S. (2017). Biodiversity in the City: Fundamental Questions for Understanding the Ecology of Urban Green Spaces for Biodiversity Conservation. *BioScience*, 67(9), 799–807. https://doi.org/10.1093/biosci/bix079
- Leps, M., Sundermann, A., Tonkin, J. D., Lorenz, A. W., & Haase, P. (2016). Time is no healer: Increasing restoration age does not lead to improved benthic invertebrate communities in restored river reaches. *Science of The Total Environment*, 557–558, 722–732. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.03.120

- Levin, L. A., & Mehring, A. S. (2015). Optimization of bioretention systems through application of ecological theory: Application of ecological theory to bioretention systems. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Water*, 2(3), 259–270. https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1072
- Link, W. A., & Sauer, J. R. (1999). Controlling for varying effort in count surveys: An analysis of Christmas Bird Count data. *Journal of Agricultural, Biological, and Environmental Statistics*, 116–125.
- Lovell, R., Wheeler, B. W., Higgins, S. L., Irvine, K. N., & Depledge, M. H. (2014). A systematic review of the health and well-being benefits of biodiverse environments. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health, Part B*, 17(1), 1–20.
- Luckenbach, M. W. (2011). Restoration Goals, Quantitative Metrics and Assessment Protocols. 32.
- Mann, C. C., & Plummer, M. L. (1995). Are wildlife corridors the right path? *Science*, 270(5241), 1428.
- Mathey, J., & Rink, D. (2010). Urban Wastelands–A Chance for Biodiversity in Cities?
  Ecological Aspects, Social Perceptions and Acceptance of Wilderness by Residents.
  Urban Biodiversity and Design; Müller, N., Werner, P., Kelcey, JG, Eds, 406–424.
- McCann, K. S. (2000). The diversity–stability debate. *Nature*, 405(6783), 228–233. https://doi.org/10.1038/35012234
- McKay, S. K., Linkov, I., Fischenich, J. C., Miller, S. J., & Valverde, L. J. (2012). *Ecosystem Restoration Objectives and Metrics*. 19.
- Mech, S. G., & Hallett, J. G. (2001). Evaluating the Effectiveness of Corridors: A Genetic Approach. *Conservation Biology*, *15*(2), 467–474.

- Michels, E., Cottenie, K., Neys, L., De Gelas, K., Coppin, P., & De Meester, L. (2001).
  Geographical and genetic distances among zooplankton populations in a set of interconnected ponds: A plea for using GIS modelling of the effective geographical distance. *Molecular Ecology*, *10*(8), 1929–1938.
- Mika, K., Gallo, E., Read, L., Edgley, R., Truong, K., Hogue, T., Pincetl, S., & Gold, M. (2017). LA Sustainable Water Project: Los Angeles River Watershed. https://escholarship.org/uc/item/42m433ps

Millenium Ecosystem Assessment. (2005). Ecosystems and human well-being: Wetland and water. Synthesis. Available Online: Http://Www. Millenniumassessment. Org/Proxy/Document, 358.

http://millenniumassessment.org/documents/MA\_wetlands%26water-Chinese.pdf

- Milligan, G. W., & Cooper, M. C. (1988). A study of standardization of variables in cluster analysis. *Journal of Classification*, 5(2), 181–204. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF01897163
- Mukherjee, N., Huge, J., Sutherland, W. J., McNeill, J., Van Opstal, M., Dahdouh-Guebas, F., &
  Koedam, N. (2015). The Delphi technique in ecology and biological conservation:
  Applications and guidelines. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 6(9), 1097–1109.
- Murdoch, W. W. (1975). Diversity, Complexity, Stability and Pest Control. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, *12*(3), 795–807. JSTOR. https://doi.org/10.2307/2402091
- Murphy, M. K., Black, N. A., Lamping, D. L., McKee, C. M., Sanderson, C. F., Askham, J., & Marteau, T. (1998). Consensus development methods, and their use in clinical guideline development. *Health Technology Assessment (Winchester, England)*, 2(3), i–iv, 1–88.

Nassauer, J. I., Kosek, S. E., & Corry, R. C. (2001). Meeting Public Expectations with Ecological Innovation in Riparian Landscapes1. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 37(6), 1439–1443. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2001.tb03650.x

National Academies of Sciences. (2017). *Green Stormwater Infrastructure- Volume 1: Primer*. Natitional Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine. https://www.google.com/search?q=green+infrastructure+national+academy+of+sciences &oq=green+infrastructure%2C+national+academy+&aqs=chrome.1.69i57j33i160j33i29 9l2.7272j0j7&sourceid=chrome&ie=UTF-8

Natural History Museum. (n.d.). *Community Science*. Retrieved February 14, 2022, from https://nhm.org/community-science-nhm

Navarro, L. M., Fernández, N., Guerra, C., Guralnick, R., Kissling, W. D., Londoño, M. C.,
Muller-Karger, F., Turak, E., Balvanera, P., Costello, M. J., Delavaud, A., El Serafy, G.,
Ferrier, S., Geijzendorffer, I., Geller, G. N., Jetz, W., Kim, E.-S., Kim, H., Martin, C. S.,
... Pereira, H. M. (2017). Monitoring biodiversity change through effective global
coordination. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 29, 158–169.
https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2018.02.005

- Neeson, T. M., Smith, S. D. P., Allan, J. D., & McIntyre, P. B. (2016). Prioritizing ecological restoration among sites in multi-stressor landscapes. *Ecological Applications*, 26(6), 1785–1796. https://doi.org/10.1890/15-0948.1
- Executive Order N-82-20, no. Executive Order N-82-20, California Governor (2020). https://www.gov.ca.gov/2020/10/07/governor-newsom-launches-innovative-strategies-to-

use-california-land-to-fight-climate-change-conserve-biodiversity-and-boost-climateresilience/

- NOAA. (2021, December 20). Ocean Indicators Summary for 2019 / NOAA Fisheries (West Coast). NOAA. https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/west-coast/science-data/ocean-indicatorssummary-2019
- Palta, M. M., Grimm, N. B., & Groffman, P. M. (2017). "Accidental" urban wetlands: Ecosystem functions in unexpected places. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 15(5), 248–256. https://doi.org/10.1002/fee.1494
- Pennino, M. J., McDonald, R. I., & Jaffe, P. R. (2016). Watershed-scale impacts of stormwater green infrastructure on hydrology, nutrient fluxes, and combined sewer overflows in the mid-Atlantic region. *Science of The Total Environment*, 565, 1044–1053. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2016.05.101
- Pereira, H. M., Ferrier, S., Walters, M., Geller, G. N., Jongman, R. H. G., Scholes, R. J., Bruford, M. W., Brummitt, N., Butchart, S. H. M., Cardoso, A. C., Coops, N. C., Dulloo, E., Faith, D. P., Freyhof, J., Gregory, R. D., Heip, C., Höft, R., Hurtt, G., Jetz, W., ... Wegmann, M. (2013). Essential Biodiversity Variables. *Science*, *339*(6117), 277–278. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1229931
- Powell, C. (2003). The Delphi technique: Myths and realities. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *41*(4), 376–382.
- Proença, V., Martin, L. J., Pereira, H. M., Fernandez, M., McRae, L., Belnap, J., Böhm, M., Brummitt, N., García-Moreno, J., Gregory, R. D., Honrado, J. P., Jürgens, N., Opige, M., Schmeller, D. S., Tiago, P., & van Swaay, C. A. M. (2017). Global biodiversity

monitoring: From data sources to Essential Biodiversity Variables. *Biological Conservation*, 213, 256–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.07.014

- Raymond, C. M., Frantzeskaki, N., Kabisch, N., Berry, P., Breil, M., Nita, M. R., Geneletti, D.,
  & Calfapietra, C. (2017). A framework for assessing and implementing the co-benefits of nature-based solutions in urban areas. *Environmental Science & Policy*, 77, 15–24.
- Resasco, J., Haddad, N. M., Orrock, J. L., Shoemaker, D., Brudvig, L. A., Damschen, E. I., Tewksbury, J. J., & Levey, D. J. (2014). Landscape corridors can increase invasion by an exotic species and reduce diversity of native species. *Ecology*, 95(8), 2033–2039. https://doi.org/10.1890/14-0169.1
- Robertson, B. A., & Hutto, R. L. (2006). A Framework for Understanding Ecological Traps and an Evaluation of Existing Evidence. *Ecology*, 87(5), 1075–1085. JSTOR.
- Rodrigues, A. S., Andelman, S. J., Bakarr, M. I., Boitani, L., Brooks, T. M., Cowling, R. M.,
  Fishpool, L. D., da Fonseca, G. A., Gaston, K. J., & Hoffmann, M. (2004). Effectiveness of the global protected area network in representing species diversity. *Nature*, 428(6983), 640.
- Roff, D. (1977). Dispersal in dipterans: Its costs and consequences. *The Journal of Animal Ecology*, 443–456.
- Ryan, G. W., & Bernard, H. R. (n.d.). Techniques to Identify Themes in Qualitative Data. 15.
- Sandifer, P. A., Sutton-Grier, A. E., & Ward, B. P. (2015). Exploring connections among nature, biodiversity, ecosystem services, and human health and well-being: Opportunities to enhance health and biodiversity conservation. *Ecosystem Services*, 12, 1–15.

- SCCWRP. (n.d.). *Regional Monitoring*. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project. Retrieved November 27, 2021, from https://www.sccwrp.org/about/researchareas/regional-monitoring/
- SCCWRP. (2021, January 29). Regional monitoring network being built to evaluate BMP performance. Southern California Coastal Water Research Project. https://www.sccwrp.org/news/regional-monitoring-network-being-built-to-evaluate-bmpperformance/
- Scher, O., & Thièry, A. (2005). Odonata, Amphibia and environmental characteristics in motorway stormwater retention ponds (Southern France). *Hydrobiologia*, 551(1), 237– 251.
- Schucany, W. R., & Frawley, W. H. (1973). A rank test for two group concordance. *Psychometrika*, 38(2), 249–258. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF02291117
- SER. (2004). The SER International Primer on Ecological Restoration. Society for Ecological Restoration International Science and Policy Working Group. https://www.ctahr.hawaii.edu/littonc/PDFs/682\_SERPrimer.pdf
- Simon, J. A., Snodgrass, J. W., Casey, R. E., & Sparling, D. W. (2009). Spatial correlates of amphibian use of constructed wetlands in an urban landscape. *Landscape Ecology*, 24(3), 361–373.
- Sinead, K., Felicity, H., & Hugh, M. (2011). Analysing Data from a Delphi and Reporting Results. In *The Delphi Technique in Nursing and Health Research* (pp. 84–95). John Wiley & Sons, Ltd. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781444392029.ch6

- Singh, J. S. (2002). The biodiversity crisis: A multifaceted review. *Current Science*, 82(6), 638–647.
- Taylor, J. G., & Ryder, S. D. (2003). Use of the Delphi Method in Resolving Complex Water Resources Issues1. JAWRA Journal of the American Water Resources Association, 39(1), 183–189. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1752-1688.2003.tb01570.x
- Taylor, P. D., Fahrig, L., Henein, K., & Merriam, G. (1993). Connectivity is a vital element of landscape structure. *Oikos*, 571–573.
- Tetra tech. (n.d.). Stormwater Best Management Practices in an Ultra-Urban Setting: Selection and Monitoring [U.S.Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration]. Environmental Review Toolkit.

https://www.environment.fhwa.dot.gov/Env\_topics/water/ultraurban\_bmp\_rpt/index.aspx

- Theodore Payne Foundation. (n.d.). *California Native Plant Landscaper Certificate Program*. Retrieved February 13, 2022, from https://theodorepayne.org/learn/landscapercertification/
- Tillinghast, E. D., Hunt, W. F., Jennings, G. D., & D'Arconte, P. (2012). Increasing Stream Geomorphic Stability Using Storm Water Control Measures in a Densely Urbanized Watershed. *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*, *17*(12), 1381–1388. https://doi.org/10.1061/(ASCE)HE.1943-5584.0000577
- Tittensor, D. P., Walpole, M., Hill, S. L. L., Boyce, D. G., Britten, G. L., Burgess, N. D.,
  Butchart, S. H. M., Leadley, P. W., Regan, E. C., Alkemade, R., Baumung, R., Bellard,
  C., Bouwman, L., Bowles-Newark, N. J., Chenery, A. M., Cheung, W. W. L.,
  Christensen, V., Cooper, H. D., Crowther, A. R., ... Ye, Y. (2014). A mid-term analysis

of progress toward international biodiversity targets. *Science*, *346*(6206), 241–244. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1257484

- Tremblay, M. A., & St. Clair, C. C. (2011). Permeability of a heterogeneous urban landscape to the movements of forest songbirds. *Journal of Applied Ecology*, 48(3), 679–688. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2664.2011.01978.x
- Turak, E., Brazill-Boast, J., Cooney, T., Drielsma, M., DelaCruz, J., Dunkerley, G., Fernandez, M., Ferrier, S., Gill, M., Jones, H., Koen, T., Leys, J., McGeoch, M., Mihoub, J.-B., Scanes, P., Schmeller, D., & Williams, K. (2017). Using the essential biodiversity variables framework to measure biodiversity change at national scale. *Biological Conservation*, 213, 264–271. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.08.019
- Turpie, J. K. (2003). The existence value of biodiversity in South Africa: How interest, experience, knowledge, income and perceived level of threat influence local willingness to pay. *Ecological Economics*, 46(2), 199–216. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0921-8009(03)00122-8
- Tzoulas, K., Korpela, K., Venn, S., Yli-Pelkonen, V., Kaźmierczak, A., Niemela, J., & James, P.
  (2007). Promoting ecosystem and human health in urban areas using Green
  Infrastructure: A literature review. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 81(3), 167–178.
- UN. (2014). World Urbanization Prospects. United Nations. world-urbanization-prospects-2014.html
- UN Environment Programme. (2020, September 18). *Aichi Biodiversity Targets*. Convention on Biological Diversity; Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. https://www.cbd.int/sp/targets/
- UNEP/CBD/COP. (2011). Ad hoc technical expert group meeting on indicators for the strategic plan for biodiversity 2011-2020 (Convention on Biological Diversity). https://www.cbd.int/doc/meetings/ind/ahteg-sp-ind-01/official/ahteg-sp-ind-01-02-en.pdf
- United Nations. (2015). Transforming our world: The 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development | Department of Economic and Social Affairs. https://sdgs.un.org/2030agenda
- Urban Orchard: Measuring the Multi-Benefits of Green Infrastructure. (2019). Trust for Public Land.
- US EPA, O. (2015, September 30). *What is Green Infrastructure?* [Overviews and Factsheets]. https://www.epa.gov/green-infrastructure/what-green-infrastructure
- van der Heijden, M. G. A., Klironomos, J. N., Ursic, M., Moutoglis, P., Streitwolf-Engel, R.,
  Boller, T., Wiemken, A., & Sanders, I. R. (1998). Mycorrhizal fungal diversity
  determines plant biodiversity, ecosystem variability and productivity. *Nature*, *396*(6706),
  69–72. https://doi.org/10.1038/23932
- van Heezik, Y., Freeman, C., Porter, S., & Dickinson, K. J. M. (2013). Garden Size, Householder Knowledge, and Socio-Economic Status Influence Plant and Bird Diversity at the Scale of Individual Gardens. *Ecosystems*, 16(8), 1442–1454. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10021-013-9694-8
- Vergnes, A., Viol, I. L., & Clergeau, P. (2012). Green corridors in urban landscapes affect the arthropod communities of domestic gardens. *Biological Conservation*, 145(1), 171–178. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2011.11.002

- Viera, A. J., & Garrett, J. M. (2005). Understanding Interobserver Agreement: The Kappa Statistic. *Family Medicine*, 4.
- Vietz, G. J., Sammonds, M. J., Walsh, C. J., Fletcher, T. D., Rutherfurd, I. D., & Stewardson, M. J. (2014). Ecologically relevant geomorphic attributes of streams are impaired by even low levels of watershed effective imperviousness. *Geomorphology*, 206, 67–78. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomorph.2013.09.019
- Vietz, G. J., Walsh, C. J., & Fletcher, T. D. (2016). Urban hydrogeomorphology and the urban stream syndrome: Treating the symptoms and causes of geomorphic change. *Progress in Physical Geography: Earth and Environment*, 40(3), 480–492.
  https://doi.org/10.1177/0309133315605048
- Wall, D. H., Nielsen, U. N., & Six, J. (2015). Soil biodiversity and human health. *Nature*, 528(7580), 69–76. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature15744
- Walsh, C. J., Fletcher, T. D., & Ladson, A. R. (2005). Stream restoration in urban catchments through redesigning stormwater systems: Looking to the catchment to save the stream. *Journal of the North American Benthological Society*, 24(3), 690–705.
- Whiteway, S. L., Biron, P. M., Zimmermann, A., Venter, O., & Grant, J. W. A. (2010). Do instream restoration structures enhance salmonid abundance? A meta-analysis. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 67(5), 831–841. https://doi.org/10.1139/F10-021
- Wintle, B. A., Kujala, H., Whitehead, A., Cameron, A., Veloz, S., Kukkala, A., Moilanen, A., Gordon, A., Lentini, P. E., Cadenhead, N. C. R., & Bekessy, S. A. (2019). Global synthesis of conservation studies reveals the importance of small habitat patches for

biodiversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *116*(3), 909–914. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1813051115

- Wu, J. S., Holman, R. E., & Dorney, J. R. (1996). Systematic evaluation of pollutant removal by urban wet detention ponds. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 122(11), 983–988.
- Yang, B., & Li, S. (2013). Green infrastructure design for stormwater runoff and water quality:
  Empirical evidence from large watershed-scale community developments. *Water*, 5(4), 2038–2057.

## 5 Conclusion

There are many challenges to enhancing the health of our urban streams and the ecosystem services they provide. For one, the information to improve revitalization planning is often lacking because resources are limited, timelines short, and previous revitalization projects have not implemented systematic approaches for measuring and reporting benefits, costs, and whether implemented projects fulfill revitalization goals in a way that can garner lessons learned and improve future efforts and designs. My dissertation was motivated by revitalization efforts along the Los Angeles and other Southern Californian rivers and attempted to address some of those constraints, specifically the need to understand species and human relationships with the environment so as to better inform goal setting as well as the need to better understand urban biodiversity and capture project success toward habitat goals. The general lack of data to inform goal setting makes the use of publicly available or publicly collected data appealing. In my research, I developed a framework for quantifying the habitat benefits of river adjacent green infrastructure projects that incorporates many essential biodiversity variables (Proenca et al., 2017). However, this framework lacks consensus among experts after multiple rounds and reveals the difficulty in identifying goals that apply to all contexts, are feasible to measure, and which all projects can meet. I also made use of data collected by community members (through FlickR) and citizen scientists (through eBird) to better understand species and human relationships with the environment, each with varying degrees of success. The use of FlickR data was useful in identifying CES types along the river, understanding CES intensity, and revealed that CES along the River is best predicted by increased access, the presence of historic bridges, and high levels of flow. The eBird data and catchment scale predictors did not help in identifying species environmental relationships. However, this work helped highlight unsettled aspects of model evaluation, inherent difficulties in applying SDMs in urban areas, and the challenges associated with the use of unstructured and bias data.

The challenge with studying rivers is how dynamic river systems can be, given their connection to terrestrial ecosystems and the variability in the scale and intensity of disturbance. Incorporating the preferences and activities of people that visit and live near the River and of the decision making institutions that control the River further adds to the complexity in studying river systems. Globally population density and income predict recreational patterns (van Zanten et al., 2016). This type of data is largely summarized at the census tract scale and was incorporated in my CES model. However, people can impact species distributions in a way that would be poorly accounted for if analysis purely focused on the physical features like buildings, roads, or tree canopy. Failing to include people in biodiversity research, including species distributions models, would thus miss opportunities for improved species management and understanding. Research has already linked economics and cultural background to biodiversity at the neighborhood scale (Kinzig et al., 2005). For example, Rodriguez-Pastor et al. (2012) found that the distributions of invasive monk parakeets were linked to populations over the age of 65, which were likely feeding the parakeets. My species distribution model made use of the census tract scale, for the CES model, and the catchment scale, for eBird. However, it is important to recognize that the finer scales, sometimes as fine as a few meters (Gottschalk et al., 2011), that have been suggested for species distribution models would make it difficult to include people in urban ecological research and may further make the case for a hierarchy of scales (Gottschalk et al., 2011; Menke et al., 2009), which can include a neighborhood scale.

Furthermore, the institutions that have led the development of revitalization plans along the Los Angeles River add to that dynamism since they will create new environments for people and wildlife species. These plans generally relay a set of goals or visions with project design template for those opportunity areas (LADPW, 2021; Santa Monica Mountains Conservancy, 2021; The Lower Los Angeles River Revitalization Plan, 2017). The language is somewhat consistent across plans and call attention to equity in access and park space, clean water, healthy ecosystems, and, in some plans, safety. The goals and strategies described by recently completed Los Angeles River plans, once implemented, will effectively create or expand habitat, connections communities have to nature or the River (like trails and bridges), and make the River a multibenefit "flood control channel" (LADPW, 2021). Project elements along the River's right-ofway include multi-use paths, stormwater infrastructure, increased tree canopy cover, wildlife habitat, and parks and gardens (LADPW, 2021; Santa Monica Mountains Conservancy, 2021). The projects consistent with these goals will likely host more people and, potentially, more species along the River given the focus on healthy ecosystems. The River should be a living laboratory, one of the goals of the Los Angeles River Masterplan, but one that also documents and learns from failures. As projects are completed, a living laboratory approach will help us understand the evolving nature of CES, species distributions, and how they both respond to the creation of novel environments. Until project implementation ramps up, there are lessons learned from my own work that would be useful for project practitioners.

The findings of the CES work described above, which revealed that historic bridges, flow, and access are important predictors of CES suitability, are in many ways encouraging to planners. Planning efforts have acknowledged the impossibility, under current storm flow scenarios, of naturalizing many sections of the River. Maintaining flood protection is the main goal of River revitalization (LADPW, 2021). Since the River is hemmed in along much of its course by adjacent development, there is no room for the river to expand during storm events. The lack of space for the channel to migrate means that naturalizing some sections of the River is likely precluded due to increased flooding risks. Some of these sections already have high CES intensity, even though they consist largely of imposing concrete structures that cannot be naturalized due to flood risks. Supporting CES in cities is a worthwhile goal for planners since the benefits of CES would be allocated to a high density of beneficiaries compared to natural areas (Thorp et al., 2010) and benefits may include social cohesion, (Kuo et al., 1998), increased perception of quality of life and health (Maas et al., 2006; Stigsdotter et al., 2010) that together may increase the visibility and appreciation of investments in communities that have experience considerable underinvestment. Based on my research findings, I recommend planners and designers enhance River access, highlight the River's historic bridges, or, potentially, create heritage features along the River that create a unique sense of place. Flow is also an important predictor of CES, but clearly more important to some activities than others based on expert input. The large storm flows that draw people to the River will be unchanged by flow management scenarios that intend to recycle wastewater effluent. Aside from suggested expert targets for specific, in-channel activities, my CES study, which aggregated CES types, cannot inform flow management scenarios. However, many studies have documented the importance of water to CES suitability, irrespective of setting (Hale et al., 2019; van Zanten et al., 2016; White et al., 2010). As a result, designers and planners should recognize flows are important to sustaining

CES and design features should highlight the sounds and esthetics of flow, even if reduced from the flows of today.

In my research, I was guided by the assumption that species distribution models and citizen science data could inform habitat goals for revitalization efforts. However, after considerable investment in finding data, formatting and scaling data for use in Maxent, parameterizing the model, reducing the bias of occurrence data, and a deep dive into model evaluation approaches, I was not able to identify predictors that were important to species occurrence for urban and seminatural avian species. This suggest that the resource-limited practitioner may be better served by review of the ecological literature and discussions with fellow experts. It is important to note that previous studies have successfully used Maxent to guide restoration (ElsäBer et al., 2013; Gelviz-Gelvez et al., 2015; Guisan & Hofer, 2003). However, many aspects of urban environments may be ill-suited for Maxent. This includes the use of generalist species, which are most likely to make use of urban environments but tend to be poorly modeled by Maxent (Evangelista et al., 2008). Model assumptions of a Grinnelian niche, in which species occur where environments are suitable, may be ill-suited for areas with source/sinks dynamics, as has been found in urban areas (Marzluff, 2008; Waits et al., 2008). When species distribution models would greatly benefit a project, practitioners should consider targeted sampling that capture covariates that are under-sampled by citizen science efforts and the use of finer scaled predictors that may better predict habitat suitability for generalists species (McPherson et al., 2004; Yackulic et al., 2013). A next step for research exploring whether Maxent and citizen science data could inform urban river revitalization would be to attempt to understand species and habitat relationships at a finer scale, to rule out whether catchment scale predictors coarsened the habitat

features important to urban species. This approach would likely require the use of mixed approaches, Maxent, expert insight, or other presence only methods, to compared modeled predictions.

Citizen science data is an avenue by which to collect data of a coverage and resolution that would otherwise be cost prohibitive for scientists. Global biodiversity efforts like the Convention for Biological Diversity have really focused on how to facilitate and support the collection of biodiversity data by citizen scientists. These efforts have focused on increasing data quality by standardizing methods and supporting the capacity building that strengthens data collection efforts (Navarro et al., 2017; Proença et al., 2017). Green infrastructure experts made the case for citizen scientists to collect data that is currently unfunded (state monitoring dollars are largely oriented toward capturing water quality and quantity). My own research has revealed the power of community collected data in understanding CES intensity, identifying CES types, but also the difficulties of using such data, particularly correcting for bias and ensuring that sampling fully captures environmental covariates. In my own work, biased eBird data inflated AUC values and model significance. However, a targeted null model has been proposed as a strategy to account and correct for bias but did not sufficiently correct for bias based on comparisons to the target background model results (Raes & ter Steege, 2007). Background data is important for characterizing the full range of environmental predictors and will inflate a model's predictive performance, particularly when the background differs from occurrence locales (Phillips et al., 2009). Citizen science data will be most useful if it is guided to ensure collected data is comparable, of good quality, and at locales that capture covariates that have not yet been well sampled. The identification of the target species that are amenable to monitoring, because of ease

of identification, and to ensure that species that are common are not ignored due to bias for rare species is an effort that is worthwhile and that platforms like eBird are already working to address (Sullivan et al., 2009). The educational opportunities that citizen science presents are promising but also unlikely to be fully realized on their own without purposeful engagement and mentorship (Krasny & Tidball, 2017). Given the challenges of using citizen science data, methods that make use of this data will likely require a mixed approach that facilitate comparison to ground-truthed data. For example, the use of multiple models whose results can be compared, data that triangulates model findings, such as was done for CES with recreational experts, so as to check model results against expert input or data that was collected using a structured approach.

The habitat metrics framework that was developed by biodiversity experts is a useful and foundational product for better capturing the habitat benefits of river-adjacent green infrastructure. While there was no consensus as to included goals and objectives, it is clear that successive rounds of surveying would not have resulted in expert consensus, given that feedback and each additional round never moved the group of experts any closer to agreement. The sources of these disagreements, which were related to feasibility and likelihood of success, can likely only be remedied with real data and experience, since habitat benefits have not yet been widely measured in green infrastructure projects. Since many ecological goals can be monitored using a multitude of metrics, refining of metrics is the next worthwhile step since expert fatigue did not allow for metrics, and the feasibility of their implementation, to be queried using a Delphi method. Standardizing metrics can support comparison between projects and accommodate the constraints managers may face in completing those measurements. The living

laboratory approach, described by the Los Angeles River Master Plan (LADPW, 2021), will require monitoring to understand the contribution river-adjacent green infrastructure will have on ecosystem goals. This monitoring will better inform future projects, support the quantification of revitalization benefits, and can be facilitated by the metrics framework developed by biodiversity experts.

Climate change is and will change the ecology, flow, and resulting use of Southern California's streams and rivers (Buckley & Foushee, 2012; Filipe et al., 2013; Qin et al., 2021). It is critical to understand how weather extremes will shape human and species use of the landscape so as to inform adaptation efforts. The lack of temperature data at appropriate resolutions prevented its inclusion into both Maxent modeling efforts. However, many studies have highlighted the impact of temperature on human activity, in particular shifts in timing of visits and distribution, (Buckley & Foushee, 2012; Qin et al., 2021) and on species distributions as many species move northward in response to higher temperatures (Loarie et al., 2008). Studies have highlighted climate change refugia as a species adaptation strategy to climate change and the potential for nature based solutions, like green infrastructure, to serve to modulate climate impacts in cities (Hobbie & Grimm, 2020; Morelli et al., 2016). While vegetation and tree canopy are known to moderate temperature and were included in both Maxent models, neither predictor was important contributor to Maxent model performance. However, using existing FlickR data, there is the opportunity to explicitly analyze diurnal patterns in summer posts by separating midday posts, FlickR posts are time stamped, and analyze resulting shifts in predictors of CES occurrence. This approach is, of course, imperfect but a potential proxy for use of the River in warming conditions since temperature data is only available at the 1km scale and

weather stations are too distributed to make use of existing data sources. As seasonal temperatures continue to reach new extremes, it is important to understand how use and species distributions may be shaped by a changing climate so as to inform the design or placement of refugia, for both people and wildlife.

## 5.1 References

- Buckley, L. B., & Foushee, M. S. (2012). Footprints of climate change in US national park visitation. *International Journal of Biometeorology*, 56(6), 1173–1177. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-011-0508-4
- ElsäBer, B., Fariñas-Franco, J. M., Wilson, C. D., Kregting, L., & Roberts, D. (2013).
  Identifying optimal sites for natural recovery and restoration of impacted biogenic habitats in a special area of conservation using hydrodynamic and habitat suitability modelling. *Journal of Sea Research*, 77, 11–21.
- Evangelista, P. H., Kumar, S., Stohlgren, T. J., Jarnevich, C. S., Crall, A. W., Norman III, J. B.,
  & Barnett, D. T. (2008). Modelling invasion for a habitat generalist and a specialist plant
  species. *Diversity and Distributions*, *14*(5), 808–817. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1472-4642.2008.00486.x
- Filipe, A. F., Lawrence, J. E., & Bonada, N. (2013). Vulnerability of stream biota to climate change in mediterranean climate regions: A synthesis of ecological responses and conservation challenges. *Hydrobiologia*, 719(1), 331–351.
- Gelviz-Gelvez, S. M., Pavón, N. P., Illoldi-Rangel, P., & Ballesteros-Barrera, C. (2015).
   Ecological niche modeling under climate change to select shrubs for ecological restoration in Central Mexico. *Ecological Engineering*, 74, 302–309.
- Gottschalk, T. K., Aue, B., Hotes, S., & Ekschmitt, K. (2011). Influence of grain size on species– habitat models. *Ecological Modelling*, 222(18), 3403–3412. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2011.07.008

- Guisan, A., & Hofer, U. (2003). Predicting reptile distributions at the mesoscale: Relation to climate and topography. *Journal of Biogeography*, 30(8), 1233–1243. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1365-2699.2003.00914.x
- Hale, R. L., Cook, E. M., & Beltrán, B. J. (2019). Cultural ecosystem services provided by rivers across diverse social-ecological landscapes: A social media analysis. *Ecological Indicators*, 107, 105580. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecolind.2019.105580
- Hobbie, S. E., & Grimm, N. B. (2020). Nature-based approaches to managing climate change impacts in cities. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences*, 375(1794), 20190124. https://doi.org/10.1098/rstb.2019.0124
- Kinzig, A. P., Warren, P., Martin, C., Hope, D., & Katti, M. (2005). The Effects of Human Socioeconomic Status and Cultural Characteristics on Urban Patterns of Biodiversity. *Ecology and Society*, 10(1). https://www.jstor.org/stable/26267712
- Krasny, M. E., & Tidball, K. G. (2017). Community gardens as contexts for science, stewardship, and civic action learning. *Urban Horticulture: Ecology, Landscape, and Agriculture*, 267.
- LADPW. (2021). Los Angeles River Master Plan. Los Angeles County Department of Public Works. https://www.larivermasterplan.org/larmp\_document
- Loarie, S. R., Carter, B. E., Hayhoe, K., McMahon, S., Moe, R., Knight, C. A., & Ackerly, D. D.
  (2008). Climate Change and the Future of California's Endemic Flora. *PLOS ONE*, *3*(6),
  e2502. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0002502
- Marzluff, J. M. (2008). Island Biogeography for an Urbanizing World How Extinction and Colonization May Determine Biological Diversity in Human-Dominated Landscapes. In

J. M. Marzluff, E. Shulenberger, W. Endlicher, M. Alberti, G. Bradley, C. Ryan, U. Simon, & C. ZumBrunnen (Eds.), *Urban Ecology* (pp. 355–371). Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-0-387-73412-5\_23

- McPHERSON, J. M., Jetz, W., & Rogers, D. J. (2004). The effects of species' range sizes on the accuracy of distribution models: Ecological phenomenon or statistical artefact? *Journal* of Applied Ecology, 41(5), 811–823. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.0021-8901.2004.00943.x
- Menke, S. B., Holway, D. A., Fisher, R. N., & Jetz, W. (2009). Characterizing and predicting species distributions across environments and scales: Argentine ant occurrences in the eye of the beholder. *Global Ecology and Biogeography*, 18(1), 50–63. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1466-8238.2008.00420.x
- Morelli, T. L., Daly, C., Dobrowski, S. Z., Dulen, D. M., Ebersole, J. L., Jackson, S. T.,
  Lundquist, J. D., Millar, C. I., Maher, S. P., Monahan, W. B., Nydick, K. R., Redmond,
  K. T., Sawyer, S. C., Stock, S., & Beissinger, S. R. (2016). Managing Climate Change
  Refugia for Climate Adaptation. *PLOS ONE*, *11*(8), e0159909.
  https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0159909
- Navarro, L. M., Fernández, N., Guerra, C., Guralnick, R., Kissling, W. D., Londoño, M. C.,
  Muller-Karger, F., Turak, E., Balvanera, P., Costello, M. J., Delavaud, A., El Serafy, G.,
  Ferrier, S., Geijzendorffer, I., Geller, G. N., Jetz, W., Kim, E.-S., Kim, H., Martin, C. S.,
  ... Pereira, H. M. (2017). Monitoring biodiversity change through effective global
  coordination. *Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability*, 29, 158–169.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2018.02.005

- Phillips, S. J., Dudik, M., Elith, J., Graham, C. H., Lehmann, A., Leathwick, J., & Ferrier, S.
  (2009). Sample Selection Bias and Presence-Only Distribution Models: Implications for Background and Pseudo-Absence Data. *Ecological Applications*, 19(1), 181–197.
  JSTOR.
- Proença, V., Martin, L. J., Pereira, H. M., Fernandez, M., McRae, L., Belnap, J., Böhm, M.,
  Brummitt, N., García-Moreno, J., Gregory, R. D., Honrado, J. P., Jürgens, N., Opige, M.,
  Schmeller, D. S., Tiago, P., & van Swaay, C. A. M. (2017). Global biodiversity
  monitoring: From data sources to Essential Biodiversity Variables. *Biological Conservation*, 213, 256–263. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2016.07.014
- Qin, H., Cheng, X., Han, G., Wang, Y., Deng, J., & Yang, Y. (2021). How thermal conditions affect the spatial-temporal distribution of visitors in urban parks: A case study in Chongqing, China. Urban Forestry & Urban Greening, 66, 127393. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ufug.2021.127393
- Raes, N., & ter Steege, H. (2007). A Null-Model for Significance Testing of Presence-Only Species Distribution Models. *Ecography*, 30(5), 727–736.
- Rodríguez-Pastor, R., Senar, J. C., Ortega, A., Faus, J., Uribe, F., & Montalvo, T. (2012).
  Distribution patterns of invasive Monk parakeets(Myiopsitta monachus) in an urban habitat. *Animal Biodiversity and Conservation*, 35(1), 107–117.
- Santa Monica Mountains Conservancy. (2021). Upper Los Angeles River and Tributaries Revitalization Plan. https://www.upperlariver.org/

Sullivan, B. L., Wood, C. L., Iliff, M. J., Bonney, R. E., Fink, D., & Kelling, S. (2009). eBird: A citizen-based bird observation network in the biological sciences. *Biological Conservation*, 142(10), 2282–2292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biocon.2009.05.006

The Lower Los Angeles River Revitalization Plan. (2017).

- van Zanten, B. T., Van Berkel, D. B., Meentemeyer, R. K., Smith, J. W., Tieskens, K. F., & Verburg, P. H. (2016). Continental-scale quantification of landscape values using social media data. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(46), 12974–12979. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1614158113
- Waits, E. R., Bagley, M. J., Blum, M. J., Mccormick, F. H., & Lazorchak, J. M. (2008). Source– sink dynamics sustain central stonerollers (Campostoma anomalum) in a heavily urbanized catchment. *Freshwater Biology*, 53(10), 2061–2075. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2427.2008.02030.x
- White, M., Smith, A., Humphryes, K., Pahl, S., Snelling, D., & Depledge, M. (2010). Blue space: The importance of water for preference, affect, and restorativeness ratings of natural and built scenes. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 30(4), 482–493.
- Yackulic, C. B., Chandler, R., Zipkin, E. F., Royle, J. A., Nichols, J. D., Campbell Grant, E. H.,
  & Veran, S. (2013). Presence-only modelling using MAXENT: When can we trust the inferences? *Methods in Ecology and Evolution*, 4(3), 236–243.
  https://doi.org/10.1111/2041-210x.12004